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Paper Merchanting is Inapa´s 
core business. Being among the 
largest paper merchants in Europe 
has leading positions in its key 
markets.
 
With a million tons sold, offers a 
portfolio with more 12 000 paper 
sku´s to its more than 65,000 
customers. Provides technical 
advice to ensure the objectives 
of their production and ensures 

deliveries in 24 hours in any of its 
eight European countries, from its 28 
warehouses and logistics platforms. 
For this, Inapa is a major player in 
paper distribution in Europe.

pApER 
MERCHAnTinG
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The combination of a worsening macro-
economic environment and worsening 
market conditions made 2009 one of the 
most difficult operating contexts in Inapa’s 
45 years of activity.

In spite of these difficulties, however, Inapa 
finished the year 2009 with a significant 
success, shown in its improved commercial 
performance versus the market, the increase 
of its gross profit margin together with the 
growth of earnings before taxes from 1.5 
million euros to 4.9 million euros and of 
the Net Profit to 2.2 million euros. Worth 
mention also the reduction of its net debt by 
53.5 million euros.

In view of the reduction in demand and of 
the pressure that was felt on prices in several 
markets, a set of structural adjustments were 
implemented, which had positive results 
but increased restructuring costs by 2.5  
million euros.

The present business year marks the end of 
a strategic re-positioning cycle for Inapa 
which began in 2007, both on the level of 
the markets coverage and on the capital 
market level, following three major vectors 
identified in the Inapa 2010 Strategic Plan: 
leadership focus, superior performance, and 
capital employed profitability.

8.000
5.000

“Earnings Before 
Taxes (EBT) 

increased 1.5 M€ to 
4.9 M€ and net debt 
reduced by 53.5M€”

José Félix Morgado
Chairman of Executive Committee

MESSAgE
fROM ThE 

CEO

 ‘01

Given the strategic goals set at the time, I 
am pleased to highlight the success had in 
creating value and reinforcing its sustainability 
in the medium and long-term, which were 
the objectives underlying the plan.
 
Effectively, on the level of leadership focus, 
the company shut down its operations in 
Italy in 2007, and consolidated its position 
in strategic markets through the acquisition 
of 33.3% of the capital of Inapa Switzerland 
in 2008 and of the total capital of VERPA 
in France in 2009, and by means of 
the company’s organic growth. These 
adjustments allowed it to recover its position 
on the French and Belgian markets, where 
it occupies a leadership position among 
paper distributors, in the paper distribution 
and office supplies segments.

The performance demonstrated over the past 
three years, showed significant progress all the 
more relevant as there was in a very unfavorable 
difficult economic environment. A focus on 
sales profitability and the improvement of the 
sales mix contributed to this development. In 
this respect, we must furthermore point out that 
the introduction of an innovative concept of 
offering customers the products, in addition to 
paper, allow meet their basic needs. It was the 
implementation of this plan that supports the 
growth of the gross margin of 16.7% in 2006 
to 18.2% in 2009. 
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Improving the efficiency reinforced the positive 
development of our operating performance, 
based on centralisation at the group level 
of the non-critical operations, rationalisation 
of the business support structure, revision of 
business procedures and models, logistical 
reorganisation and review of policies and 
procedures at the level of systems and 
communications in order to prepare the 
Group for a greater degree of integration in 
the medium term.

These activities are reflected in the EBIT margin 
which improved from 1.1% in 2006 to 3.15 % 
in 2008, and the maintenance of competitive 
levels compared to the sector in 2009 despite 
the difficult operating conditions.

On the third pillar, the profitability of capital 
employed, a detailed assets rationalisation 
plan was implemented through divestment of 
non-strategic assets and property. The asset 
sales plan was was not yet complete due to 
changes in market condition that not allowed 
obtaining favorable terms of sale for Inapa. 
At the same time have been implemented 
a set of actions that led to the substantial 
reduction in inventory and working capital 
which, together with the cash flow generated 
by the operations, allowed for a 53.5 million 
euro reduction in the debt for 2009.

Regarding investments have been set strict 
criteria based on the minimum return on 
capital employed. In the paper already 
mentioned the acquisitions in Switzerland 
and France with a significant contribution to 
the improvement of profitability. In terms of 
priorities, the development of complementary 
businesses absorbed the largest share 
of investment through acquisitions in 
visual communication and packaging 
businesses, critical vectors for growth and  
improved profitability.

In addition to these three repositioning 
vectors, I must mention the efforts made in 
terms of quality, environmental management 
and social responsibility.

Regarding quality, Inapa has made 
a significant investment in acquiring 
environmental certification for its subsidiaries 
over the past three years.  In this previous 
year not only Papier Union and Inapa 
France but Inapa Spain had completed the 
certification process. INAPA Portugal is in 

the final phase of their ISO 9001 quality 
certification and ISO 14001 environmental 
certification processes.

The economic improvements were accompa-
nied by activities in the area of sustainability.  
A strict compliance with environmental 
standards in matters of transport, the use of 
renewable energies and the elaboration of 
a carbon measurement in its most significant 
operations -- namely in Germany and 
France -- stand out immediately, aside from 
the waste treatment initiatives the company 
has carried out among its clients and  
developed in partnership.

Because we believe that small gestures can 
make a big difference and can improve 
one’s life path , Inapa has supported a set 
of initiatives and projects in the areas of 
social integration and education.
In summary, in the present mandate Inapa 

was able to reassert its relevance r in the 
European merchanting market, positioning 
itself as a fully integrated service provider 
on the paper distribution and packaging 
solutions market. 

 Along with the strategic and cultural 
changes operated in this term, I must also 
mention the achievement of the goals 
we set ourselves in 2007 regarding the 
adoption of best practices in governance 
and relationship with the market. In fact, the 
General Assembly approved in May 2007 
a new model of corporate governance 

which positive experience was to prove the 
appropriateness of the proposal and the 
decision taken. 

This trajectory justified this last year’s 
publication of our Code of Conduct, which 
aggregate the principles for Inapa’s activity 
vis-à-vis its employees, suppliers, and clients.

The market communications policy, based 
on principles of transparency and accuracy, 
is a cornerstone of the change in Inapa’s 
corporate culture over these three years, 
allowing it to improve on the credibility and 
status it received with its recent integration 
into the PSI20, a blue-chip index of  
Euronext Lisbon. 

The results achieved, shaped by Inapa’s 
culture of excellence and success, despite the 
uncertainties still latent in the macroeconomic 
framework, let me to anticipate a progressively 

improved profitability for our capital 
allocated generated not only by ongoing 
activities, but also for  the opportunities of 
consolidation in the sector and growth in 
strategic businesses. 
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS’ 

REPORT

The Inapa Group controls the 
source of the raw materials used 
to produce the paper it supplies. It 
deals with certified suppliers that 
use wood sourced from sustainable 
forests, namely European forests.

This choice is the result of the 
environmentally sustainable policies 
being pursued by both Inapa 
and its customers, as customers 
themselves become increasingly 

aware of the social value of using 
only certified products.

Suppliers earn the right to use the 
FSC and PEFC logos and certificates 
of compliance by going through the 
certification processes conducted 
by independent entities.

PAPER 
MERCHANTING
PAPER AND
ENVIRONMENTAL 
CERTIFICATIONS
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Net total assets (€m)
Net debt (including securitisation) (€m)
Equity (€m)

Turnover (‘000 tons)
Turnover (€m)
Gross profit (€m)
Gross margin (%)
Operating costs (€m)
Re-Ebitda (M€)
Non-recurrent restructuring costs (€m)
EBIT (€m) (excluding impairment)
Financial Function (€m)
Net Profit (€m)

Working capital (days)

Earnings per share (€)
Dividends (€)
Closing price (€)
Trading volume (share millions)
Market capitalisation (€m)

Average paper price (€/ton)
Stock/Indent ratio
Cost-to-income (€/ton)

Re-EBITDA margin (%)
EBIT margin (%)
Roce (%)

786,3
588,1
45,3

1075,5
1072,7
179,4

17,3
165,8
29,5
10,5
12,2
28,5
-53,4

83

-1,78
0

2,68
8,1

80,4

974
50%

162,8

2,75%
1,14%

8,40%

     2009           2008           2007            2006

855,6
465

148,1

1027,4
1050,2

184
17,5

159,2
41,3

8
26,9
35,8
-10,4

79

-0,07
0

0,92
59,9
138

997
50%

158,9

3,39%
2,56%
11,11%

MAIN BUSINESS 
INDICATORS

GLOSSARY:
Net debt:
Long- and medium-term loans + Short-term 
loans + Fixed asset suppliers+Financing 
associated to financial assets - Cash and 
demand balances

Working capital:
(Client receivables + Stocks - Suppliers)  / 
Turnover 365

Market capitalisation:
No. of shares x share price

Stock/indent  ratio:
Warehouse sales (tons) / Total turnover (tons)

Cost-to-income :
(Operating costs + Provisions) / Tonnage sold

Re-EBITDA margin:   
Re-EBITDA/ Total turnover

EBIT margin:
EBIT / Total turnover

ROCE:
(EBIT + Depreciation + Amortisation + Non-
recurrent restructuring costs) / (Tangible fixed 
assets + Non-current investment + Working 
capital)
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PROFLE
Inapa IPG is the Inapa Group’s holding company, having born on November 24th, 1965 as 
a writing and printing paper producer.

During the ‘90s, and following the sale of its Paper Mill, Inapa focussed on paper merchanting 
to become a leading player in European market.

At present, Inapa is presented in eight European countries –Germany, France, Switzerland, 
Portugal, Spain, Belgium, Luxemburg, and United Kingdom – and has been operating in 
Angola since 2009, this being its first venture outside Europe.

By following a concerted development strategy that was strongly geared by acquisitions from 
1998 to 2000, Inapa has managed to become a leading paper merchant in the European 
market, being ranked among the top five European paper merchants. With 93% of its turnover 
in countries other than Portugal with particular emphasis on Germany and France, which, as 
the Group’s leading markets, jointly account for about 80% of consolidated annual turnover.

In the paper merchanting sector, Inapa is the only European paper merchant listed on a stock 
exchange, having been selected as one of the companies included in Euronext Lisbon’s main 
stock market index – the PSI20 Index, which includes the top 20 companies of Portugal’s 
equity market in terms of trading volume – effective as of March 2010.

With 1,484 employees, the Group’s core business is supplying paper to the graphics and 
manufacturing industries, publishers, companies, and offices. Complementary business 
segments –sales of packaging supplies and packaging solutions, visual communication 
products, graphic and office consumables, and logistics services – are areas where Inapa 
has managed to introduce an innovative approach and provide its customers with the means 
to meet their needs.

The strategy implemented, together with a broad range of products and services that serve its 
objective to become a one-stop shop, allows Inapa to position itself as a service provider of 
printing and packaging products and services for all its customers.

INAPA AROUND
THE WORLD

Operating in eight European countries, 
with particular focus on Germany, France, 
Switzerland, Portugal, and Spain, and since 
2009, in Angola, the Group provides a 
client base of over 70 thousand customers 
distributed among its various business 
segments with a product portfolio that 
comprises over 12,000 paper items, 16,000 
office supplies items, 4,000 packaging 
supply items, and a full range of visual 
communication materials and graphics 
consumables.

With over 300 delivery trucks on the road 

“Our mission is 
to create value by 
meeting the needs 
of our customers in 
terms of products 
and services”

daily out of over 180 thousand square 
metres of warehouse facilities, comprising 
28 warehouses and logistics platforms, 
the Inapa Group delivers approximately 
900 thousand tons of paper a year to its 
customers.

Germany is the Group’s leading market, 
accounting for about 55% of consolidated 
turnover, with local subsidiary Papier Union 
accounting for an 18% share of the German 
market.

France is the Group’s second largest market, 
accounting for 24% of turnover. Inapa 
France serves 17 thousand customers and 
offers 6,500 paper items and is competing 
to become that market’s second largest 

supplier. In addition, Inapa France controls 
the Group’s holdings in Inapa Belgium and 
Inapa Luxemburg, which operate in the 
BeLux area.

Inapa Switzerland, with 18% market share, 
and Inapa Spain – one the top three paper 
suppliers in Spain – jointly account for about 
12% of the Group’s turnover.

In Portugal, through the subsidiary Inapa 
Portugal, the Group ranks as the country’s 
leading supplier with close to 54% market 
share.

In all the markets where it is presented, Inapa 
follows policies that are geared to develop 
and train its local staff in a manner that 
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Germany  - Ranked #3rd

Switzerland  - Ranked #3rd

Spain  - Ranked #3rd

caters to the particular needs of each specific 
country. That policy has enabled its local 
teams to acquire in-depth understanding of 
the specific needs of their customers and to 
thereby become able to promptly address 
the ever-changing demands and specificities 
of the markets they serve.

The strategic guidelines, which was put 
into place in 2007 in its Inapa 2010 Plan, 
is to strengthen the Group’s competitive 
position in the markets where it ranks as 
a leading supplier by focusing the bulk 
of its financial, human, and management 
resources in those markets without 
neglecting occasional high-yielding 
opportunities that may arise, for example, 
potential consolidation opportunities or its 

0,7%2,8%

55%
20%

6,7%

9%

Germany

France

Portugal

Switzerland

Spain

Belgium & Lux.

Other 
countries

NO. OF EMPLOYEES PER COUNTRY

5,8%

United Kingdom

Belgium & Luxemburg 

Portugal - Ranked #1st
France - Ranked #3rd

Angola

entry into the Angolan market in 2009.

Inapa was the first paper merchanting group 
of international standing to invest in Angola, 
an economy that is growing at a remarkably 
strong pace.

At this stage of its approach to the African 
continent, Inapa is offering its Angolan 
customers a full range of writing and printing 
paper together with levels of service that 
are in line with the service it provides to the 
European markets where it operates.

MARkET COVERAGE
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business segment features multiple synergies 
with paper merchanting and offers strong 
cross-selling potential with regard to both the 
graphics industry and office customers.

The European packaging supplies market is 
of considerable size albeit quite fragmented, 
with general suppliers and specialised 
suppliers operating side by side with a focus 
on one or on a limited number of types of 
packaging supplies. Economic globalisation 
– both with regard to specialisation and 
geographic concentration of production 
and to changes in consumer behaviour and 
increasing on-line sales, in particular – has 
brought about a very significant increase in 
the need to package products of all sorts 
safely, quickly, and in a versatile manner, 
leading to expectations of sustained 
medium- to long-term growth in consumption 
of packaging supplies.

Furthermore, packaging is often the first 
point of contact between a customer and 
a supplier and, therefore, companies should 
continue to invest in this area or should even 
increase those investments, boosting the 
potential of this segment.
In addition to providing packaging supplies, 
Inapa has been developing unique 
packaging technologies and concepts, 
allowing its customers not only have the 
opportunity to design their own packaging 
but may also take advantage of packaging 
services if they so desire.

The Group expects that packaging supplies 
and sales of packaging solutions will increase 
their share in consolidated turnover going 
forward, not only thanks to an extension of 
this business segment into other countries 
where the Group operates but also based 
the existing units’ organic growth.

BUSINESS
SEGMENTS
_paper merchanting
In Europe, the paper merchanting sector 
distributes about 10 million tons of paper 
valued at 10 thousand million Euros and 
employs over 25 thousand people.

Delivering about 900 thousand tons of paper 
a year and with turnover of 940 million 
Euros, the Inapa Group’s market share reach 
around 19% in the group of countries where 
it operates and is currently one of the largest 
paper merchants in Europe.

To meet the needs of more than 65 thousand 
customers distributed among the 9 countries 
where it operates, Inapa provides a product 
portfolio that comprises over 12 thousand 
paper items.

In order to address the ever-growing 
complexity of requirements in graphic 
industry, the Group provides its customers 
with specialised teams that are capable of 
providing them with expert technical advice 
on their production requirements, thereby 
ensuring that they meet their respective 
production objectives.

In addition to its product range and technical 
support services, Inapa guarantees a 24-
hour delivery service anywhere within the 
countries where it operates, offering 12-hour 
delivery terms in the major urban centres of 
those countries. Such levels of service involve 
over 5,000 deliveries a day out of 28 
warehouse facilities and logistic platforms.

Paper merchanting accounts for nearly 95% 
of total turnover. Further consolidation of its 
leading position will remain the challenge in 
the future, grounded on its ability to provide 
a professional and fast response to market 
developments and to the ever-changing 
needs of its customers.

_packaging 
Distribution of packaging supplies is Inapa’s 
second major business segment. With 
turnover of around 29 million Euros distributed 
among Germany, France, and Portugal, this 

POR STOCk / INDENT

52%
STOCK

48%
INDENT

PER PRODUCT FAMILY

15%
OTHER PRODUCTS

5%
FINE+DIGITAL

25%
OFFICE

PAPER

38%
COATED 
PAPER  

17%
UNCOATED PAPER

_visual 
communication
The latest printing technology, innovative 
printing supplies, and novel concepts in 
communications have led to the emergence 
of a growing specialised market that offers 
attractive returns on capital invested.

Visual Communication Products is, at present, 
the graphics industry’s fastest growing 
business segment, with a product range 
that not only includes printing supplies but 
extends to consumables, printing hardware, 

graphics software, and relevant services.
Fast development in digital printing 
technology and the introduction of large 
format printers have led to the emergence of 
a new market for graphics applications.

With capacity to print 60-cm to 5-metre 
wide sheets, large format printers allow for 
a very broad range of printing applications 
on a wide range of materials.

Those developments allow for applications 



14.            ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS ‘09    Directors’ Report

ranging from outdoor advertising boards, to 
indoor advertising, to sign making, to prints 
for furniture or home appliances, to advertising 
covers for buildings and vehicles.

Offerings to customers include the supply 
of a full range of printing products and 
materials and printing consumables and 
extend to printing hardware and software, 
and relevant maintenance services (for 
hardware and software).

Given the potential of this market, together 
with significant correlation between this 
segment and other business segments that the 
Group already operates in, Inapa decided to 
extend its operations to this business segment 
in 2007, having already introduced it in 
Germany, France, and Portugal.

In the German market, through its Complott 
Papier Union subsidiary, Inapa currently 
ranks as the 5th largest market player.

This business segment has been adding a 
very satisfactory contribution to results and 
expectations are quite positive, both in terms 
of performance and organic growth in the 
markets where the Group already operates 
and in terms of further expansion to other 
countries where the Group is present.

_office supplies
Office papers accounts for around 25% of 
the Group’s total turnover.

Most customers in this business segment 
are other companies, offices, and public 
institutions that have particular requirements 
and have rather demanding levels of service.

In order to provide those customers with a 
single contact point and a one-stop-shop 
Inapa has introduced an office supplies 
division into a number of its markets.

To this effect, it entered into several business 
alliances with other major providers of 
office supplies with an aim to provide those 
customers with top-quality service on deliveries 
of a very broad range of office supplies.

At present, Inapa is engaged in selling 
office consumables in Germany, France, 

Switzerland, Spain, Portugal, and Belgium.
The future will certainly see further expansion 
and development in the markets where Inapa 
is present, which have appreciable growth 
potential, as well as an extension of this business 
model to other countries where it operates.

_graphic supplies
Given the relationships it maintains with 
its customers and the expert technical 
knowledge its staff possesses, the graphic 
suppliess business was a natural extension 
of its graphics paper merchanting business.

Under those circumstances, and being fully 
aware of its customers’ needs, the Group 
increasingly and more firmly asserts itself 
as a global supplier to the entire graphics 
industry as a means of assisting its clients in 
adding value to their own businesses, which 
is a core value in doing its business.

The levels of turnover and the market share it 
has already secured, along with its customers’ 
recognition of the value this approach has 
been adding to their businesses, gives a 
quite positive outlook for further growth in this 
segment is warranted, the more so because 
this is precisely the segment offering the 
greatest scope for benefiting from synergies 
with its paper merchanting business and 
where cross-selling opportunities have the 
greatest potential.

The Group’s portfolio, which it has been 
enhancing based on alliances with highly 
reputed brands, includes a very wide range of 
all types of consumables, from inks to cleaning 
products, to additives, to printing blankets, to 
plates, and varnishes, inter alia, translating 
into a rather comprehensive range of graphic 
supply offerings of exceeding quality.

When building its product portfolio, Inapa 
took due cognisance of environmental 
management imperatives, particularly inks, 
for instance employing only renewable 
vegetable raw materials for ink production.

_ logistics
As a service provider of printing and 
packaging supplies, Inapa has been 

developing a variety of solutions that are 
tailored to address the needs of its customers. 
In this sense, the logistics services is another 
value-adding feature that the Group is offering 
to the markets, thereby enabling customers to 
enhance their own competitiveness.

With approximately 300 trucks on the road 
on a daily basis and about as many staff 
dedicated, a total area of over 180,000 
square metres in warehouse facilities 

– which constitutes a unique offering as 
far as warehousing and delivery services 
are concerned – Inapa is in a position to 
share its logistics management services with 
its customers with consequent efficiency and 
productivity gains for them.

Many other companies compete in this area. 
Nevertheless, we believe that the Group’s 
experience in managing logistics and its 
in-depth knowledge of the paper industry 
combine to turn Inapa logistics services into 
a standard of reference to the graphics and 
manufacturing industries.

By taking advantage of Inapa’s logistics 
management, warehousing, and delivery 
capacities, its customers are, in turn, 
capable of operating at higher production 
rates, thereby enabling the achievement 
of noteworthy efficiency gains that can be 
transferred to customers who may wish to 
benefit from them.
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STATUTORY BODIES

Chair of the General Assembly of Shareholders
João Vieira de Almeida – Chairman
Sofia Barata – Secretary

Pursuant to a resolution of the General Assembly of Shareholders dated 31 May 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of Sub-
paragraph b) of Paragraph 1 of Article 278 of the CSC (Portugal’s Companies Act) as its administration and supervisory governance model, 
which comprises a Board of Directors, an Audit Committee, and a Chartered Accountant and Auditor.

THE COMPOSITION OF THE AFOREMENTIONED STATUTORY BODIES IS AS FOLLOWS:

Board of Directors

Chairman      
Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha | Age - 67 
Year of appointment - 1973

Vice-Chairman of the Board
Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira | Age - 57 
Year of appointment - 2002

Executive Committee of the Board 
of Directors

Chairman
José Manuel Félix Morgado | Age - 49   
Year of appointment - 2007

Member of the EC
Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen | Age - 59   
Year of appointment - 2007

Audit Committee

Chairman
Emídio de Jesus Maria | Age - 58 
Year of appointment - 2008

Member of the AC
Abílio Ramos Marques | Age - 60   
Year of appointment - 2007

Member of the AC
Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos | Age - 55 
Year of appointment - 2007

Chartered Accountant and Auditor

Appointed CA and Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados, SROC, Lda
Represented by Ricardo Filipe de Frias Pinheiro

Alternate CA
José Manuel Henriques Bernardo
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In conformance with the provisions of the 
corporate governance model adopted, 
and in broad terms, the following powers 
are attributed to the above mentioned 
corporate governance bodies:

The Board of Directors represents the 
Company and manages its business 
operations subject, in this instance, 
to the resolutions of shareholders and 
to instructions issued by the Audit 
Committee where applicable legislation 
or the provisions of the Company’s 
Articles of Association so dictate, as 
well as deliberates on the matters set 
out in the provisions of Sub-paragraphs 
a) to m) of Article 406 of the Companies 
Act, and:

Delegates the day-to-day management 
of the Company and any other powers 
it may deem fit to delegate on an 
Executive Committee of the Board by 
special resolution to the effect;

Delegates, subject to the limitations set 

out in applicable legislation, specific 
management powers on one or more 
of the Directors of the Company under 
limits which it shall of necessity define;

Makes decisions on whether to issue 
binding instructions to Subordinated 
Companies, in conformance to the 
provisions and subject to the limitations 
set out in applicable legislation;

Makes decisions on the plan and budget 
of the Company and its Subordinated 
Companies, under recommendation 
from the Executive Committee;

Makes investment or disinvestment 
decisions of relevance concerning 
and to be effected by Subordinated 
Companies;

Makes decisions on the acquisition 
and sale of majority or controlling 
shareholding interests as well as on 
transactions that are subject to special 
purchase and sale proceedings in 

compliance with the provisions of the 
Securities Market Code (“CodVM”);

Makes decisions on possible company 
splits, mergers, or dissolutions 
transactions by Subordinated 
Companies or companies where Inapa 
holds an interest;

Makes decisions on any matter that any 
of its Directors may submit to the Board 
for resolution.

In this regard, it is important to note that, 
per the adopted corporate governance 
model, Non-Executive Directors have a 
duty to monitor the performance of the 
Executive and Audit Committees, to air 
their views on matters that fall under the 
scope of duties of the Board where they sit 
or that may be submitted to it by either of 
the aforementioned Committees, and to 
act in an advisory role to the Company’s 
executive management, which role is of 

General Assembly of 
Shareholders

Remunerations 
Committee

Executive Committee

Board of Directors

José Félix Morgado 
(Chairman)

Arndt Klippgen

Vasco Quevedo Pessanha (Chairman of the Board)  
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Norton de Matos | Abílio Ramos Marques 
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the utmost relevance since it is based on 
an in-depth knowledge of the matters at 
hand while sufficiently distanced from 
the demands and constraints of daily 
management.

The performance of those duties by 
the members of the Board of Directors 
acting in a non-executive capacity 
has been relevant in ensuring that this 
governance model performs adequately, 
and, to date, no constraints have arisen 
on that account.

The Executive Committee of the Board 
of Directors is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Company 
and for the following additional duties:

Setting out plans for implementation of 
the Company’s and Group policies, 
objectives, and strategy for approval 
by the Board of Directors;

Setting out general guidelines 
concerning the Company’s internal 
organisation for approval by the Board 
of Directors;

Compiling operational budgets and 
medium- and long-term investment and 
development plans, for approval by the 
Board of Directors;

Approving contracts for the procurement 
of goods and services up to a limit 
of 500,000.00 Euros or less, per 
category of goods or services;

Negotiating and contracting short-
term bank finance agreements to fund 
the Company, subject to terms and 
conditions that most adequately suit the 
interests of the Company.

Negotiating bank finance agreements 
of a term longer than a year and a day to 
fund the Company and its subordinated 
companies and the issuing of corporate 
bonds and commercial paper programs, 
for which purpose a binding of the 
Company under any such transactions 
shall be made expressly conditional to a 
prior resolution of the Board of Directors 
to the effect;

Purchasing, selling, and pledging 
goods or assets accounted for as fixed 
assets of the Company in conformance 
with budgets approved by the Board 
of Directors;

Purchasing, selling, and pledging 
goods or assets accounted for as fixed 
assets of the Company not included 
in budgets approved by the Board 
of Directors up to a value of 1.5% 
percent of realised share capital per 
item and up to a limit of  5% of the 
aforementioned capital, per annum;

Renting or letting out any buildings or 
sectional title properties;

Purchasing, selling, or pledging shares 
in other companies, provided the 
transactions in question are included in 
the budget or in approved action plans 
not exceeding a limit of 5,000,000.00 
Euros per transaction, above which 
limit prior approval from the Board of 
Directors shall be required;

Entering into, amending, and terminating 
employment contracts and exercising 
powers of discipline over the staff;

Opening, transacting, and closing bank 
accounts;

Appointing duly mandated represen-
tatives of the Company.

The Audit Committee has the following 
duties:

Supervising the administration of the 
Company;

Ensuring due compliance with the Law 
and the provisions of the Articles of 
Association;

Verifying due compliance of the 
accounting books, records, and 
supporting documentation;

Verifying, as and when it may deem fit 
and in the manner it may find appropriate, 
cash balances and stocks of any type of 
goods or assets owned by the Company 

or held in lieu of security or in trust or 
under any other entitlement;

Verifying the accuracy of the financial 
statements;

Verifying whether the accounting 
policies and valuation criteria adopted 
by the Company are conducive to 
appropriately representing its assets 
and results;

Compiling an audit report on its audit 
and supervisory action and issuing an 
opinion on that report and accounts 
and proposals of the Board of directors, 
on an annual basis;

Convening a meeting of the General 
Assembly of Shareholders, should its 
Chairman fail to do so, having a duty 
to so act;

Auditing the efficacy of the risk 
management system, the internal control 
system, and the internal audit system;

Being the recipient of reports on 
irregularities which shareholders, 
employees or the Company, or other 
parties may submit;

Auditing the process of preparation 
and disclosure of financial statements;

Recommending to the General Assembly 
of Shareholders the appointment of a 
Chartered Accountant and Auditor;

Supervising the audit of the financial 
statements of the Company;

Supervising the Chartered Accountant 
and Auditor’s independence, namely 
with regard to provision of additional 
services;

Notifying the Office of the Public 
Prosecutor of any contraventions of 
the Law constituting a public crime of 
which it may have become aware;

Contracting for the provision of expert 
services in order to assist one or more 
of its members in the performance of 
their duties.



1�.            ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS ‘09    Directors’ Report

The Chartered Accountant and Auditor 
have the following duties:

Under the Law, verifying due compliance 
of the accounting books, records, and 
supporting documentation; verifying, 
as and when he or she may deem fit 
and in the manner he or she may find 
appropriate, cash balances and stocks 
of any type of goods or assets owned by 
the Company or held in lieu of security 
or in trust or under any other entitlement; 
verifying the accuracy of the financial 
statements; and verifying whether the 
accounting policies and valuation 
criteria adopted by the Company are 
conducive to correctly representing its 
assets and results.

GROUP HOLDING 
STRUCTURE

INAPA - INVESTIMENTOS PARTICIPAÇÕES E GESTÃO SA

Gestinapa 
SGPS, SA

Inapa Merchants
Holding, Ltd

Inapa Portugal Dis-
tribuição de Papel, SA

Inapa Distribuição 
Ibérica, SA

Inapa Deutschland,
GmbH Inapa France, SAS

100% 99,75% 100% 53% 100%

100%

Surpapel

25%

Papier Union, GmbH

95%

Inapa Suisse, SA

67,5%

Tavistock Paper Sales, Ltd

100%

Inapa Logistics
GmbH

Inapa
Viscom GmbH

PMF - Print Media 
Factoring, GmbH

Inapa Packaging, 
GmbH

100% 100% 100% 100%

Complott Papier Union
GmbH

100%

HTL - Verpackung, 
GmbH

100%

Hennessen & Potthoff, 
GmbH

100%

Inapa Belgique, SA

99,94%

Inapa Luxembourg, SA

97,81%

Logistipack, SAS

100%

47% 32,5%

Inapa Angola, SA

100%
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714
284
106
109
83
55
27
39
21
15
5

n.a.
4
3

24
1489

689
277
110
99
86
56
54
37
22
14
5
5
4
3

23
1484

 MAIN SHAREHOLDERS

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 200�, SHAREHOLDERS WITH QUALIFIED HOLDINGS IN CONFORMITY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 
16 OF THE CVM CODE WERE AS FOLLOWS:

Parpública - Participações Públicas SGPS,SA

Shares attributable to Millennium BCP   

(artª 20 do CVM) 

Banco Comercial Português, SA
Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP
Banco Millennium BCP Investimento,SA
Jorge Augusto Martins Fazendeiro
In own name 
Shares held by a person or entity
conforming to the provisions of Article 447

32,72%

18,26%

6,88%

11,01%

0,37%

2,06%

2,02%

0,03%

NO. OF SHARES                % CAPITAL         % VOTING RIGHTS

49.084.738

27.391.047

10.315.846

16.521.635

 553.566

3.083.851

3.033.851

50.000

32,72%

 6,88%

11,01%

0,37%

2,06%

2,02%

0,03%

Despite the large volume of shares traded 
during the course of 2009, which volume 
exceeded 349 million shares, an amount 
equal to 2.32 times the share capital of 
the Company, no new qualified holdings in 
conformance with the provisions of Article 
16 of the CVM Code were announced 
during the financial year and the position 
remained unchanged by its close.

With the exception of Cofihold SGPS, 
SA, all other shareholders with qualified 
holdings retained the interests they held as 
of 31 December 2008.

Total qualified holdings account for 53.04% of 
share capital, meaning a free-float of 46.96%.

HUMAN 
RESOURCES
In a year marked by a significant rise in 
the unemployment rates of most European 
countries, production stoppages, and layoffs 
in a variety of economic sectors, the Inapa 
Group strove to retain its staff, whose total 
number, despite some changes of note, 
remained practically unchanged over its last 
financial year.

As a matter of fact, the total number of 
employees of Group companies reached 
1,484 as of 31 December 2009, showing 
a marginal decrease from the 1,489 
employees at end of the previous financial 

Papier Union
Inapa France
Inapa Portugal
Inapa Switzerland
Inapa Spain
Hennessen & Potthoff
Complott Papier Union
Inapa Belgium
Carton Service
HTL
Inapa Luxembourg
Inapa Angola
Tavistock
PMF
IPG

709
342
122
118
87
29

66

14
7

n.a.
4
2

24
1524

     2009           2007           2008           2006

707
298
121
113
80
32

40

14
5

n.a.
4
2

21
1437

TRENDS IN THE DISTRIBUTION OF PERSONNEL PER GROUP COMPANY

year. However, the number of staff employed in the paper merchanting business reduced 
by 10.3% over the last three years although the reduction is basically offset by an increase 
from 43 to 146 in the number of staff members in the packaging supplies and visual 
communication products segments.

Very much in line with the distribution per business segment, 85% of personnel is allocated 
to the paper merchanting segment at the 5 main Inapa´s markets, which percentage nears 
the share of that business in consolidated turnover.

When analysed per country, and with reference to the Group’s total business, Germany 
accounts for 55% of the Group’s total staff members, much in line with the number it had 
already reached in 2008 and with its share of consolidated turnover.

France, the Group’s second largest market with a share of 24% of turnover, is similarly the 
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Group’s second largest employer with 299 staff members, accounting for 20% of total 
personnel.

Portugal, including the staff of the Group’s holding company, employs 133 staff members 
and accounts for about 9% of total staff.

Switzerland and Spain have, respectively, 99 and 86 staff members.

The remaining countries account for 51 staff members, equating to 3.5% of total Group 
personnel. When personnel is broken down per business segment, it is to be noted that 
paper merchanting accounts for 88%, the packaging supplies segment accounts for 6%, 
visual communication products for 4%, and services and the holding company jointly 
account for 2%, respectively, of the Group’s total personnel.

RISk FACTORS 

Paper merchanting is the core business of 
the Inapa Group and, as such, the Group 
acts as a conduit between upstream paper 
producers and downstream intermediate 
paper consumers (namely companies and 
paper manufacturing industries, such as 
printers, advertisers, media companies, and 
newspaper and book publishers, inter alia), 
modern distributors (large-scale suppliers 
and specialised retail chains), and end 
consumers (companies in the office segment 
and individuals).

Therefore, Inapa is subject to the risks inherent 
to the economic sector where it operates 
and especially to fluctuations in the price 
of paper, short-term imbalances between 
the demand and supply, trends in paper 
consumption patterns, and the performance 
of the economy in general.

In this context, the most relevant risks to which 
Inapa is exposed while conducting this 
business are associated with its capacity to pass 
changes in the purchase price of paper and in 
its operating costs on to customers via selling 
prices, particularly highlighting costs relative to 
logistics, warehousing, and transport.

Moreover, the paper merchanting business 
is sensitive to changes in the behavioural 
patterns of the demand for paper, mainly 
in segments such as advertising and the 
media, and to changes in the structure of 
paper distribution.

Balance between supply and demand is 
a function of a number of factors, among 
which trends in installed production capacity 
and the level of overall economic activity 
deserve to be highlighted.

Developments in the productive capacity of 
various geographical markets, trends in the 
demand for paper in emerging economies such 
as China and India and its impact on suppliers 
to those markets, the impact of exchange 
rate fluctuation on the competitiveness of the 
various markets, and a number of regulatory 
issues that affect the world paper trade are 
all factors which, either in combination or in 
isolation, may directly or indirectly impact the 
performance of the Company, its financial 
situation, and its earnings performance.

40%
MARKETING 

& SALES STAFF

27%
LOGISTICS/OTHER 

5% BOARD &
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

28%
TECHNICAL 
& OFFICE STAFF 

THE FOLLOWING TABLE ILLUSTRATES THE DISTRIBUTION OF PERSONNEL PER 
FUNCTIONAL AREA.

Given the Group’s commercial nature, marketing and sales is the most representative functional 
area with a share of about 40% of the total staff. Logistics and delivery services and the 
technical, administrative, and back-office areas account for similar shares of total personnel, 
employing, respectively 27% and 28% of the total staff.

Board Members and senior management account for around 5% of the Group’s total personnel.

In 2009, the distribution of the staff remained roughly unchanged when compared to 2008.
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Furthermore, the paper merchanting business 
has undergone structural changes in recent 
years, following a spate of mergers among 
paper suppliers, especially in Europe. 
Competitor moves may directly or indirectly 
impact the Company’s future strategic 
decisions and, therefore, on it’s positioning 
in each particular market and, consequently, 
on economic and financial returns and  
asset allocation.

Given the fact that Inapa conducts its business 
in eight European countries, and, since 
2009, in Angola as well, in conjunction 
with the fact that about 93% of its total 
turnover is sourced in foreign markets, the 
company is naturally exposed to risks arising 
as a result of the specific performance of 
the economies of the countries where it 
operates, notwithstanding the fact that the 
very nature of that exposure may equally 
constitute a risk-mitigating factor as a result 
of low likelihood that exactly the same 
economic performance pattern will occur in 
every one of those markets all at once.

Its currency risk exposure is limited but real 
on account of the fact that its aggregate 
turnover in currencies other than Euro (namely 
Sterling Pound and Swiss Franc) accounts for 
less than 8.2% of the Group’s total turnover.

As is the case with of any other company or 
group of companies, Inapa’s performance 
depends on its ability to retain its customer base.

In addition to serving quite a significant client 
base – of over 70,000 customers – that 

are widely distributed from a geographical 
perspective and to offering a wide range 
of competitive, top-quality products and 
appropriate levels of service, Inapa has 
been developing a customer loyalty program 
aimed at its traditional clientele through 
a comprehensive offer of products and 
services that complement its core business 
with a view to increasingly assert itself as a 
global paper provider.

A slowdown in economic growth rates or 
falling consumer and producer confidence 
indices may, in turn, lead to a slowdown 
or fall in the demand for paper, namely 
demand for writing and printing paper, 
thereby adversely affecting its operations, 
sales, earnings, and the overall financial 
standing of the Inapa Group.

The Inapa Group’s ability to successfully 
implement the strategy it devised is a function 
of its ability to retain, and if necessary hire, 
the most competent and adequately skilled 
staff to perform each duty.

Although the Inapa Group’s human resources 
policy strives to reach those objectives, it is 
not possible to guarantee that constraints 
may not arise in that regard.

The impact on local economies of a 
downturn in the world economy may make it 
difficult for customers of the Inapa Group to 
meet their obligations towards the Group.

Inapa awards supplemental retirement 
and subsistence pension benefits to the 
personnel of its Inapa France, Logistipack, 
Inapa Switzerland, Tavistock, and Papier 
Union affiliates, having duly accounted for 
the inherent expenses and costs associated 
with such benefits in accordance with the 
specifications of International Accounting 
Standard 19 (IAS 19).

The balance reported in the consolidated 
accounts under liabilities for pension 
benefits is based on preset assumptions on 
mortality rates, whereas the beneficiaries of 
the pension fund schemes in question may 
live longer than what such assumptions 
accounted for and, as such, may draw 
benefits from the pension fund in excess of 
the provisions for such benefits. Therefore, 
liabilities for pension benefits may have an 
adverse impact on cash flows.

In the future, Inapa may be a party to litigation 
arising from the conduct of its business, 
including legal proceedings which may 
have been ruled in favour of the Group, fully 
or partially, or sentences that may be subject 
to recourse or petition for their annulment 
by the counterparties in conformance with 
applicable legal procedure and until such 
time as such sentences have been upheld in 
a court of final instance.

At present, the main court case to which 
Inapa is a party concerns a petition under 
ordinary procedure filed by Papelaria 
Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA, which 
claim has been valued at 24,459,906.14 
Euros, relative to events occurring from  
1991 to 1994.

In the aforementioned legal suit, and in 
essence, Papelaria Fernandes is petitioning 
the Courts to the effect that certain contracts 
and transactions entered into during the 
above mentioned period by the Group 
and Papelaria Fernandes be declared null  
and void.

Notwithstanding its firm belief that the Group 
is in the right, Inapa cannot guarantee that 
the court case in question will be ruled in 
its favour or that any other such legal suits 
relative to its operations will be ruled in its 
favour in the future. Unfavourable rulings 
on legal suits filed against it may have an 
adverse impact on the operations, financial 
situation, and earnings performance of the 
Inapa Group.

The Inapa Group’s business requires it to invest 
in its operations. It is Inapa’s intention to partly 
fund those investments with cash resources 
generated from operations. However, should 
its operations fail to generate sufficient cash 
resources, Inapa may be required to partly 
fund the envisaged investments with funding 
raised from external sources, including bank 
finance and bond issues.

In addition, the Inapa Group is exposed to 
a number of other risks, namely liquidity risk, 
interest rate risk, market risk on the price of 
raw materials, operating risk, and other risks.

Despite the fact that the Group has been 
implementing stringent risk management 
methodologies to manage every type 
of risk to which they are exposed, in the 
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event of exceptionally adverse scenarios 
materialising, the policies and procedures 
employed by Inapa to identify, monitor, 
manage, and mitigate such risks may prove 
not to be fully effective.

The Company believes that it is sufficiently 
equipped to effectively control the risks arising 
from the business conducted by the Company 
and the companies it controls, and deems 
the actions being conducted by the Heads 
of its Management Control and Finance 
Departments, which have been specifically 
charged to manage its risks, particularly 
Inapa Group’s liquidity risk, to be effective.

Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk by 
following a twofold approach: striving to 
structure the Group’s financial indebtedness 
to feature a large percentage of medium- 
and long-term debt of a maturity that 
adequately matches its ability to generate 
cash resources; and resorting to credit 
facilities it may draw on at any time (credit 
facilities on current accounts).

In the course of conducting Inapa’s normal 
business, and owing to its organisational 
structure, the Group is subject to certain 
operational risks, including possible 
interruptions in the services it renders or 
delays in providing such services, omissions, 

errors, and delays in implementing risk 
management requirements.

Those risks are monitored by the Company 
on an on-going basis by means of the 
administrative and information systems it 
implemented for that purpose, having also 
arranged for insurance policies to cover 
certain operational risks.

Inapa Group’s operations are also dependent 
on IT processing. IT processing involves the 
storing and processing of financial reporting 
records, monitoring and control records 
from its logistics, warehousing, and delivery 
services, and internal accounting records.

Notwithstanding its on-going assessment 
of the condition of its computer systems 
and the fact that their capacity has 
proven to be reliable, it is not possible to 
absolutely guarantee a full identification 
and timely redressing of every single issue 
concerning its information technology 
systems or the unqualified success of every 
single implementation of a technological 
enhancement to such systems.

Interest expense on most of the Inapa Group’s 
financial indebtedness bears interest at rates 
linked to variable market rates, on account 
of which Inapa is exposed to market risk on 

changes in interest rates.

To the extent that Inapa does not hedge 
its exposure to adverse changes in market 
interest rates, such changes may, in turn, 
have an adverse impact on its performance, 
financial situation, and earnings.

Nevertheless, and in order to manage such 
risks, Inapa Group’s Finance Department 
strives to manage the impact of changing 
interest rates on the Group by monitoring 
market developments on an on-going basis 
and by being in a position to contract the 
type of financial instruments employed to 
mitigate the impact of interest rate volatility.

Inapa Group’s ability to pass increases in 
the prices of paper and/or the oil price 
on to its customers via the selling prices of 
its products or the fees it charges for the 
services it provides is not fully elastic, and 
straight margins on products sold and the 
net contribution of services rendered may be 
adversely impacted by such adverse trends, 
with the result that transport costs associated 
with its delivery services may increase 
and consequently adversely impact on the 
Group’s performance, financial situation, 
and earnings.

In a context of sector consolidation, Inapa 
may be the target of a public tender offer. 
Under such a scenario, significant changes 
to Inapa’s current strategy may occur with 
consequent repercussions for its various 
businesses and the markets it serves.

Inapa Group may be adversely affected 
by amendments to ruling legislation and 
to ancillary tax legislation applicable in 
Portugal, the European Union, and the 
particular countries where it operates.

_other risks associated 
with the business 
conducted by the Group 
The Inapa Group’s units are subject to risks that 
are inherent to the conduct of any economic 
activity, such as accidents, faults, or natural 
catastrophes that may cause damages to the 
Group’s assets or a temporary interruption of 
its trading activities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT

_ on behalf of the 
environment
Environmental sustainability is one of the 
cornerstones of Inapa’s corporate culture 
and a shared goal in every single country 
where it is represented through four key 
components – obtaining certifications of 
compliance with environmental management 
standards at every single subsidiary 
and associate company; reducing CO2 
emissions; employing renewable energies; 
and designing and providing customers with 
waste treatment solutions.

_certification of compliance 
with environmental 
management standards
Over the last three years, Inapa has made 
a significant effort to obtain certifications of 
compliance with environmental management 
standards at every single one of its subsidiary 
and associate companies. In addition to Papier 
Union and Inapa France, Inapa Spain was 
certified for compliance with environmental 
management standards last year. Inapa 
Portugal is in the process of finalising its 
certification of compliance with the ISO 9001 
Quality Standard and with the ISO 14001 
Environmental Management Standard.

Within the scope of its procurement policy, 
Inapa controls the origin of the raw materials 
employed in the production of the papers 
it supplies by dealing with suppliers that 
are certified for FSC or PEFC compliance, 
which implies that their main raw material 
– wood – is sourced strictly from sustainably 
managed forests. By selling recycled papers 
and through its sales policies, Inapa adds 
a further positive contribution towards the 
preservation of the environment.

Such options and practices are clear 
evidence of the Group’s commitment to 
contribute to the pursuit of sustainable 
environment policies not only at Inapa but 
on its customers’ part as well.

_sustainable environment 

As concerns sustainability, Inapa is in the 
process of finalising the compilation of a 
carbon balance sheet reported to its most 
relevant operational units, namely its German 
and French subsidiaries.

As concerns distribution, product deliveries 
play a major role and, therefore, Inapa has 
also been following strategic policies that are 
geared to preserve the environment in this area. 
Inter alia, and on account of the fact that most 
Group companies do not employ their own 
fleets for deliveries, Inapa makes it a mandatory 
requirement of its delivery service providers 

that they comply with the European Union’s 
standards on CO2 emissions.

As far as its own fleet is concerned, which 
accounts for a minimal share of its total 
conveyance requirements, Inapa’s vehicles are 
filled up with Bluetec diesel oil only, containing 
the Adblue additive, whereby CO2 emissions 
can be substantially reduced.

The Group’s motto is: “our paper is certified 
for compliance to environmental management 
standards and so are our delivery trucks which 
employ Bluetec technology – for the benefit  
of nature”.

_ renewable energies
Employment of alternative energies that are 
ecologically clean is another of the measures 
Inapa has been implementing at the Group’s 

warehouses and offices. A case in point is the 
implementation of solar panels at the Group’s 
warehouse facilities together with its employment 
of renewable energies at Germany’s two largest 
warehouse facilities.

As a goal, every subsidiary and associate 
company is pursuing strategies in their own 
country of operation to increasingly resort to 
alternative, more efficient sources of energy that 
result in energy savings and, consequently, are 
more environment-friendly.

_ paper supply chain

In addition to its own environment concerns, 
Inapa is fully aware of the importance 
of promoting environmental sustainability 
along the entire paper supply-chain – from 
forests through manufacturing to distribution. 
In some instances, the Group conducts 
frequent internal and external audits of those 
operations as a means of ensuring that all 
environmentally sustainable procedures are 
fully complied with.

As concerns this policy, it is important to 
highlight that Inapa Switzerland was one 
of the first European companies to obtain 
certificates of compliance with the ISO 9001 
Standards from its entire chain of suppliers.

We also highlight the case of Papier 
Union which, in 2009, managed to obtain 
certificates of compliance from 79% of its 
chain of suppliers and is aiming to reach a 
target of 90% certified suppliers in 2011.
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_waste management
As concerns waste management, and further 
to its own efforts in that regard, Inapa is in 
the process of implementing a set of initiatives 
to offer its customers cost-effective yet efficient 
solutions for managing their waste. A case in 
point is Inapa France’s provision of a waste 
collection and treatment service to its customers 
in partnership with Veolia.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
When it comes to corporate 
social responsibility, the 
issue is the role companies 
can play in building our 
common future. 

We firmly believe that corporate social 
responsibility is a valid contribution towards 
the achievement of a sustainable, fairer, 
and more balanced future, a reason why 
solidarity initiatives are part and parcel of 
Inapa’s culture and management style in 
every country where it operates.

On behalf of our staff and our shareholders, 
and on behalf of all of us, we commit to a 
socially responsible conduct because we 
believe that small gestures can make all the 
difference and go a long way in improving 
someone’s living standards.

Every year, through our subsidiary and 
associate companies, we grant a number of 
requests for sponsorships by a variety of local, 
national, and international social welfare, 
cultural, and sports organisations.

Inapa is a member of GRACE – the Corporate 
Citizenship Support and Reflection Group – 
and actively co-operates with the Portuguese 
Council for Refugees and the Portuguese 
Development and Culture Association.

Among a host of initiatives and sponsorships, 
we highlight the granting of scholarships to 
young people from Portuguese-speaking 
Countries, our contributions to the Humanitarian 
Union of Cancer Patients and to Karacter, an 
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organisation that actively promotes social 
inclusion projects, and our sponsorship of the 
Belgian Cancer Foundation, in Belgium.

Being at the forefront of best international 
practices and within the scope of its 
Shareholders Circle, Inapa has been promoting 
shareholder involvement in the company’s 
corporate initiatives in Portugal, whatever their 
corporate nature, and whether of a social 
character or as a patron of the arts.

Social responsibility is already a feature 
of Inapa’s corporate culture in the sense 
that it strives to foster the well-being of the 
communities and stakeholders it deals 
with from a perspective of assuring their 
participation in the value it creates.

MACROECONOMIC 
SCENARIO
2009 was marked by the worst global 
economic crisis since World War II in the 
wake of the “sub-prime” crisis of 2007 and 
the ensuing worldwide financial markets 
crisis of 2008, which forced Governments 
and Central Banks to implement stringent 
measures in an attempt to limit its damaging 
economic impact.

The measures that began to be implemented 
in 2008 were not sufficient to curb the 
impact on the real economy, which was 
predominantly felt throughout 2009.

Thus, in 2009 the number of company 
insolvencies and bankruptcies rose sharply, 
the unemployment rate increased markedly, 
consumption sagged, and companies 
battled to cope with the prevailing adverse 
economic conditions, making it difficult for 
the economy to recover.

Back in 2008, Governments and Central 
Banks began to implement a wide range 
of economic, financial and social measures, 
such as massive injections of cash to bolster 
the liquidity of the financial system, reductions 
in central bank discount rates, and the 
introduction of a range of social benefits to 
assist households and companies.

In 2009, interest rates dipped to their lowest 

value ever in the euro zone, with the price of 
money decreasing to 1%, leading, in turn, 
to a significant fall in the Euribor rates, which 
reached historical lows and fell even further than 
the European Central Bank’s discount rate (the 
3-month Euribor reached a low of 0.67%).

While falling rates might have acted as a 
catalyst for boosting company and personal 
investment through reduced interest expense 
on household and corporate debt, the fact 
is that a number of constraints from a variety 
of sources prevented the measures adopted 
from fully achieving their expected results.

The granting of credit slowed down 
appreciably at a time of plummeting 
confidence, thereby increasing credit risk. 
Increasing difficulty in obtaining bank finance, 
in combination with widening spreads, 
counteracted the positive impact of lower interest 
rates and corporate investment sagged.

The year was also marked by a sharp 
decline in consumer and investor confidence 
leading to a slowdown in consumption and 
to falling prices of goods and services.

According to the latest forecasts of the 
European Commission, the economy of the 
euro zone is expected to have contracted 
by 4% last year, with most of the countries 
of that region experiencing great difficulties 
in their efforts to curb the impact of the 
prevailing recessionary conditions.

Over the period under analysis, the 
average unemployment rate of the region 
hovered around 9.5%, a historical high in 
unemployment in the post-war era. Those 
conditions were experienced in many of 
the countries where Inapa operates, namely 
Spain where the unemployment rate soared 
to 19% by the year-end.

Private consumption also performed poorly, 
having contracted by 1% from 2008 to 2009, 
and, according to data released by the European 
Commission, the euro zone’s inflation rate is 
estimated to have fallen to as low as 0.3%, as a 
result of the downturn in consumption. 

Following two very challenging years from 
an economic standpoint, it is believed that 
conditions may now be conducive to the 
onset of an economic recovery. The latest 
economic indicators suggest that growth in 

the euro zone economies has resumed and 
that 2010 may already see an effective 
economic recovery. The latest forecasts of 
the European Commission indicate that the 
euro zone might grow by 0.7%, on average, 
in 2010, and the outlook for the next few 
months is brighter, albeit moderately so.

SECTOR PERFORMANCE
The adverse macroeconomic conditions 
prevailing throughout the whole of Europe 
had a decisive impact for the entire pulp 
and paper sector, from forestry to paper 
merchanting.

From that perspective, the sector’s performance 
was affected by three major factors:

A fall in the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
of the majority of the European economies, 
with direct impact on paper consumption;

The emergence of deflation, or nil inflation, 
caused by a substantial slump in consumption 
in most of those economies, which led to a 
fall in the prices of a comprehensive range 
of products, including the price of paper;

The performance of the Euro/US Dollar 
exchange rate, with a “weak” Dollar 
prevailing, with adverse impact on paper 
exports to the USA.

In the paper industry, a number of factors 
played a relevant role:

Producers continued to cut back on installed 
production capacity in order to redress the 
latent imbalance that has been a feature 
of the sector for a number of years now, 
a trend that involved most of the leading 
world manufacturers.

Also with a view to mitigate the impact 
of excessive capacity, producers resorted 
to temporary production stoppages and 
layoffs as a means of boosting the sector’s 
profitability;

Paper producer sales decreased by 16% chiefly 
on account of the overall economic contraction, 
inventory reductions by paper suppliers, and a 
reduction in paper consumption;
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Pulp prices performed poorly during the first 
half of the year, having risen appreciably 
during the second half of 2009;

Paper producer prices gave mixed signals, 
with coated paper prices (CWF) remaining 
roughly unchanged and uncoated paper 
prices (UWF) declining sharply;

As concerns paper supply, the impact of the 
aforementioned macroeconomic factors and 
of the industry’s imbalance had perforce to 
be felt downstream. 

Firstly, the economic slump led to a fall of 
12% in paper merchanting volumes, which, 
even so, was an improvement on the 16% 
decline in paper production volumes.

As concerns coated papers, paper 
merchants gained 4% market share and 
now account for 87% of total sales of this 
family of products.

As concerns the uncoated paper segment, 
market share gains were even higher, 
reaching 10%, when compared to 2008.

At present, the merchants accounts for a share 
of 83% of total sales of this family of products.

As concerns office papers, merchants 
retained an unchanged share of 61% of total 
sales of this type of paper in Europe.

Given a combination of reduced volumes 
and of an imbalance between supply and 
demand for paper as a result of excessive 
production capacity, average paper selling 
prices for the coated paper segment sagged 
and decreased slightly for the uncoated 
paper segment.

Contraction of the advertising market, 
which experienced a downturn of 16% in 
the European newspaper and magazine 
advertising segment, led to the closure of 
many printing companies all over Europe and 
to a decline in graphics paper consumption.

Nevertheless, it is to be noted that the direct 
mailing segment underwent an adjustment 
of much smaller magnitude when compared 
to the newspaper and magazine advertising 
segment, having declined by only 4% 
over the same period and in the same 
geographical area.

Competition remained fierce, albeit more 
disciplined, and much concerned with 
returns. 2009 was not a good year as far as 
consolidation moves are concerned, although 
the sector appears ripe for new mergers.

Increasing credit risk was another noticeable 
feature of the year under analysis, namely 
on account of a spate of liquidations and 
insolvencies among printers and manufacturers 
and of a growing difficulty in obtaining 
bank finance and credit insurance being 
experienced by a growing number of clients.
The paper merchanting sector continued to 
make inroads into other market segments 
during the course of 2009.

It is, however, important to note that the last 

Given the abovementioned trends, and in 
general, 2009 was far from positive for the 
pulp and paper industry, although the sector 
was already showing a measure of recovery 
towards the last quarter of the year.

Once again, and as was also the case 
in 2008, that trend highlights that paper 
merchanting again gained market share as 
far as writing and printing paper supplies 
are concerned, in Europe.



2�.

quarter of the year already pointed to a 
significant recovery in sales and in average 
selling prices.

INAPA
IPG 
PERFORMANCE
Although the analysis of the Group’s 
economic and financial standing and 
performance over the past financial year 
focuses on consolidated figures, the Board 
of Directors felt the need to separately report 
on the performance on the Company in its 
Report, albeit briefly.

As a holding company, Inapa – IPG is the 
controls a number of companies engaged 
in supplying paper, packaging supplies, 
visual communication products, and graphic 
and office consumables. In addition to 
coordinating the operations of its affiliate 
companies, the holding company has the 
particular responsibility of delineating the 
Group’s strategy.

In addition, Inapa – IPG is involved in the 
following areas:

Setting out marketing policy guidelines 
for every market where its subsidiaries 
operate;

Setting policy on supplier relations and 
the terms and conditions applicable to 
the Group’s procurement policy;

Developing relationships with the Group’s 
strategic suppliers;

Defining the Group’s strategic positioning 
and managing its brands;

Setting out the Group’s funding policy 
and developing relationships within the 
financial system;

Setting out and implementing the Group’s 
investment plan;

Planning and management control;

Defining the Group’s accounting policies;

Defining risk management and control systems 
and monitoring their implementation;

Internal control and supervision of due 
compliance with Group policies;

Developing relationships with shareholders 
and investors;

Defining and coordinating information 
systems;

Marketing and corporate communications.

Coordinating legal policy.

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA posted a net income of 1.1 million 
Euros, being an increase of 1.2 million Euros 
to compare with a net loss of 96 thousand 
Euros in the previous financial year.

The improvement owed mostly to a decrease 
in third-party supplies and services and 
reduced interest expense.

In 2009, services rendered and other 
income rose to 11 million Euros arising 
from charges to subsidiaries for services 
rendered, procurement services, and brand 
management. Net operating income for the 
financial year totalled 6.2 million Euros.
As of 31 December 2009, equity reach 
152.6 million Euros, up 1.2 million Euros 
from 2008 to 2009. Net total assets rose 
10.9 million Euros to reach 368.7 million 
Euros as a result of increases in buildings 
and other structures.

CONSOLIDATED 
RESULTS
In 2009, total market turnover fell by 12%. 
Inapa’s turnover performed above the market, 
declining by only 9.8% when compared to 
the previous financial year to reach 887 
thousand tons.

In amount, Inapa’s consolidated turnover 
reached 938 million Euros in 2009, down by 
10.2% on the previous year but comparing 
to a fall of 11% in market totals. The decline 

in turnover goes hand in hand with the deep 
economic recession experienced during the 
course of the financial year, while it should 
also be noted that turnover grew by 4.3% 
from the 3rd to the 4th quarter of the financial 
year, pointing to the onset of an economy 
recovery which is expected to possibly gain 
momentum in 2010.

The average selling price of paper fell 
marginally when compared to the previous 
year (being a decrease of -1.7%), despite 
improvement in the warehouse stocks to 
products ratio to reach 52%, translating to 
an improvement of 1.5% when compared to 
2008 and reflecting an increasing share of 
products with a higher value-added in total 
turnover.

Turnover growth in non-core business 
deserves highlight, having reached 53 million 
Euros, up 15.6% from 2008 to 2009. The 
significance of that development is of even 
greater relevance when taking into account 
that non-core business had grown by 93% 
from 2007 to 2008.

Gross margin widened by 0.6 p.p. to 18.2% 
as a result of increasing focus on sales 
profitability. Gross margin per ton widened 
3%, thereby offsetting the decline in volumes 
to some extent.

Operating costs decreased by 2.8 million 
Euros to reach 155.7 million Euros, equalling 
a fall of 1.8% when compared to 2008. 
Operating costs has fallen for the third year 
in a row in accordance with the objectives 
of the Group’s Strategic Plan, namely with 
regard to its objective to improve operating 
efficiency and to optimise available resources 
and decrease operating costs. Over the past 
three financial years, and with reference 
to an unchanged consolidation perimeter, 
operating costs has fallen at a rate of about 
10 million Euros per annum. The performance 
was mainly due to a fall of 4% in third-
party services and to unchanged personnel 
expenses.

Provisions increased by 21.8% to 4.8 million 
Euros, which was due to the tough economic 
conditions prevailing throughout the entire 
European market together with the Group’s 
adoption of conservative policies concerning 
the raising and reinforcement of provisions 
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for bad and doubtful debts under current 
market conditions.

Recurrent EBITDA decreased to 32.4 million 
Euros. The fall recorded from 2008 to 2009 
is a direct consequence of falling turnover 
volumes, notwithstanding a real improvement 
in gross margin and a decrease in 
operating costs. 

However, it should also be noted that 
Recurrent-EBITDA margin reached 3.5%, 
which figure is above the average recorded 
by the European market as a whole  
for 2009.

Non-recurrent operating expenses amounted 
to 2.5 million Euros, reflecting the cost of a 
number of initiatives that were implemented 
with a view to better fit the Group’s structure 
and organisation to falling markets, which 
action, however, still had a positive impact 
on earnings.

The charge for depreciation amounted to 6.3 
million Euros, down 6.1% on 2008 as a result 
of certain assets having been fully depreciated.

Net operating income (EBIT) reached 23.7 
million Euros and EBIT margin equated to 2.5%.

The Group’s net funding expense improved by 
13.2 million Euros, owing not only to a fall of 
over 53 million Euros in average liabilities for the 
year, including a securitisation issue, but also to 
the significant reduction in interest rates.

As a result of the above mentioned reduction, 
the ratio of recurrent EBITDA to net funding 
expense improved from 1.28 to 1.7.

Net profit before tax improved by 226% 
to reach 4.9 million Euros, reflecting the 
improvement in the Group’s operating 
performance and a reduction in interest 
expense.

Current taxation increased by 2.3 million 
Euros to 2.6 million Euros, of which 1.8 million 
Euros report to deferred tax and 0.8 million 
Euros reports to taxation for the year.

Thus, net profit before deferred tax rose to 4 
million Euros, increasing by 558% from 2008.

Notwithstanding the increase of the charge for 
taxation arising from recognition of deferred 

tax reported to previous financial years, net 
profit for the year improved by 115% to 2.2 
million Euros.

As concerns the Group’s asset base, and 
when compared to 2008, a reduction 
of 48.2 million Euros in working capital 
allocated to operations owing to improved 
inventory and client receivables management 
deserves particular highlight, as does a 
reduction of 53.4 million Euros in the Group’s 
net debt, including a securitisation.

In line with the objectives set out in its 2010 
Inapa Plan, the Group posted a profit for 
the second year in a row, thereby achieving 
its goals despite rather adverse economic 
conditions prevailing for the financial year 
under analysis.

Inapa’s equity increased by 2.3 million 
Euros to 152.6 million Euros, equating to an 
accounting value of 1.02 Euros per share.

The Group’s debt to equity ratio improved 
from 3.16 to 2.77, reflecting the group’s 
increased equity base and a reduction in 
interest-bearing debt (including a securitisation 
issue) to 422.2 million Euros.

STOCk 
EXCHANGE 
PERFORMANCE
After 2008, when prevailing market 
conditions were the most adverse of the 
last few decades, 2009 was marked by 
resumption of a significant upturn in most 
equity markets.

The main world stock market indices grew by 
19% to 30%.

Despite maintenance of a severely adverse 
macroeconomic environment, Portugal’s stock 
market did not fail to rise in tandem with the 
general upswing in world equity markets, 
with its most representative index – the PSI20 
index – recording gains of 33%.

However, trading volumes in the Portuguese 
stock market reduced noticeably to 31.8 
thousand million Euros, recording a fall of 
42% when compared to 2008.

In 2009, Inapa shares once again 
outperformed the market to a substantial 
extent, both with regard to trading volumes 
and to its share price performance.

The volume of Company shares traded on the 
Stock Exchange rose to 349.4 million shares, 
up 88% from 2008 to 2009, equating to a 
rotation of 2.33 times its share capital.

The increase in trade volumes has remained 
on a steady upward trend since 2007. From 
2006 to 2009, the volume of Inapa shares 
traded on the Stock Exchange grew 43 times, 
which is quite an uncommon event that amply 
demonstrates increasing appetite for Inapa 
shares among investors, bearing also in mind 
that the Company did not acquire any of its 
own shares.

In tandem with the above trends, the fact that 
there were no announcements of new stable 
qualified shareholding interests in conjunction 
with the fact that an increasing number of 
domestic and foreign participants have 
intermediated transactions of Inapa shares is 
a clear indication of growing interest in the 
acquisition of holdings of Inapa shares by a 
growing number of investors that are more 
widely distributed, worldwide.

As concerns the amount of transactions, the 
value of trades in Inapa shares grew to 201.4 
million Euros, increasing by 45% from 2008 
to 2009.

The share price closed the year at €0.64, up 
88.2% from December 2008 to December 
2009, which compares very favourably with 
a 33% increase in the PSI20 Index for the 
same period.

From the perspective of the Board of Directors, 
the above performance cannot fail to be 
associated with four key goals Inapa has 
been pursuing since 2007, as follows:

Steady improvement in the Inapa Group’s 
operating performance with a consequent 
increase in its economic results and 
earnings;

Changes to the Company’s corporate 
governance model with a view to comply 
with the best practices on such matters;

Quality and accuracy of the economic 
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and financial information disclosed to 
shareholders and investors; and

A share price with potential for growth 
grounded on its satisfactory performance 
following the implementation of its Inapa 2010 
Plan and on Inapa’s future growth prospects.

As a consequence of the substantial increase 
in its share price and trading volumes, 
and already subsequent to the close of its 
2009 financial year, Inapa was selected 
for inclusion in Portugal’s main stock market 
index – the PSI20 Index – for the first time in 
its long history as a listed company.

This development, which the Board of 
Directors views with pride, reflects the market’s 
acknowledgement of its efforts to regularly 
release market information of quality and, 
most especially, the fact that it designed and 
has been pursuing the right strategies.

Inapa continued to be followed by market 
analysts from Banco Português de Investimento 
and Caixa Banco de Investimento, which 
issued a number of researches on Inapa 
during the course of 2009.

As already stated, regular disclosure of 
information, and its quality and exactness 
are a priority concern for Inapa and, in that 
regard, it duly and timely released annual 
and semi-annual reports on its earnings 
performance, quarterly statements, and other 
relevant information to the market and to all 
market participants, in strict accordance with 
a code of equality in the right to information.

In order to ensure that the information in 
question reached as many market participants 
as possible and the public at large in an 
easy and timely manner, it is important to 
highlight the role played by the media, to 
which the Company endeavoured to make 
itself available at all times, either through 
the Chairman of the Executive Committee or 
through of its Investor Relations Office. It is 
our intention to remain at the forefront of the 
implementation of best international practices 
concerning relations with markets and 
investors, which intention extends to good 
corporate governance practices.

By introducing its Inapa Shareholders Circle, 
which is a unique initiative in Portugal, the 
Company aims to ensure that information is 
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made available quickly and on time to small 
shareholders, putting them on a par with 
other market participants.

The main goals of this initiative are:

Enhancing shareholder status;

Addressing the information requirements of 
small shareholders;

Enhancing proximity, thereby stimulating 
shareholder participation;

Providing direct access to management;

Involving shareholders in Company 
initiatives of a corporate, social 
responsibility, training, charitable nature, 
or others.

By promoting this initiative, Inapa stands at 
the forefront of the best international practices 
in such matters and further progresses in its 
goal to also become a standard of reference 
in the domestic equity market.

Adding value to shareholders shall remain 
a priority for the Board of Directors, which, 
along with its adoption of the best practices 
in corporate governance and the release 
of market information, leads the Board of 
Directors of Inapa to believe that those 
practices are capable of enhancing the 
performance of Inapa’s share price.

 

OWN SHARES
The Company did not sell or purchase any 
of its own shares during the course of 2009 
and, as of the close of its 2009 financial 
year, does not own any of its own shares.

AUTHORITY GRANTED FOR 
TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN THE 
COMPANY AND ITS DIRECTORS 

During the course of the financial year 
under analysis, no transactions were 
entered into by the Company and any of its 
Directors, and no requests for authorisation 
of any such transactions were submitted to  
the Company.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to the end of the financial year 
under analysis, the following event deserves 
highlight:

Announcement of the inclusion of Inapa’s 
share price in the PSI20 Index.

OUTLOOk FOR 2010
Following the toughest year of the last few 
decades for most European economies, a 
recovery is now anticipated  in 2010.

Over the last quarter of 2009, signs 
emerged that the economy might be 
recovering, in particular where consumption 
and confidence indicators are concerned.

The macroeconomic outlook for 2010 
anticipates a resumption of economic 
growth with the gross Domestic Product 
of most economies resuming an upward 
growth trend, albeit only moderately so and 
at a different paces.

Consumption is expected to show modest 
recovery although unemployment is 
expected to remain at historical highs, 
access to bank finance will remain difficult 
to obtain, and the cost of money is likely to 
increase, despite the fact that interest rates 
are expected to remain low.

In the paper sector, the trend for recovery in 
the demand for paper, which began during 
the course of the 4th quarter of 2009, is 
expected to gain momentum in 2010, as 
confirmed by 1st quarter data which already 
reflects an improvement on 2009.

However, the strength of the recovery 
in paper consumption is not expected 
to be of sufficient magnitude to redress 
the imbalance between the supply and 
demand for paper. Therefore, machine 
occupancy rates are expected to remain 
low on that account, which will surely 
force most European producers to adjust 
production quotas specifically by resorting 
to further reductions in production capacity, 
production stoppages, and layoffs.

Paper producer prices are expected to 
behave in a mixed fashion and a measure 
of downward pressure may come to bear 
on the price of printing paper for the media 
segment, while, on the contrary, prices of 
coated and uncoated paper may rise.

Early in 2010, a few producers have 
already announced increases in prices of 
uncoated papers. Those announcements 
seem to confirm expectations that prices 
will recover.

As was the case over the last two years, 
paper supply should continue to gain 
market share in total European paper sales, 
which, together with the expected upturn in 
consumption should surely be conducive to 
an increase in turnover volumes.

Competition is expected to remain fierce, 
although possible alliances or further 
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consolidation moves among competitors 
are not to be ruled out.

Inapa shall remain committed to the 
guidelines set out in its 2010 Inapa Strategic 
Plan, particularly with regard to efforts to 
further enhance its operational efficiency 
and to stringently and effectively manage 
the available resources.

From that perspective, further consolidation of 
its leading position in the paper merchanting 
market and fostering the development of 
its non-core business will remain at the 
forefront of the Group’s priorities for 2010 
with a view to increase returns and create 
shareholder value.

Strict management of working capital 
requirements, generating operating cash 
flow, and divesting itself from non-strategic 
assets are expected to allow it to further 
reduce its interest-bearing indebtedness, 
which remains among Inapa’s priorities  
for 2010.

The Group expects to further improve its 
net operating income and return on capital  
in 2010.

PROPOSED 
EARNINGS 
DISTRIBUTION
The Board of  Directors hereby propose 
that Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA’s net profit for the year, totalling 
1,074,241.48 Euros, be transferred to 
Retained Income.

Lisbon, 24 February 2010

Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo 
Pessanha
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors

José Manuel Félix Morgado
Director and Chairman of the Executive 
Committee of the Board of Directors 

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen  
Director and member of the Executive 
Committee of the Board of Directors  

Emídio de Jesus Maria 
Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos 
Director and member of the Audit Committee 

Abílio Ramos Marques 
Director and member of the Audit Committee

DECLARATION OF 
CONFORMANCE
In conformance with the provisions of Sub-
paragraph c) of Paragraph 1 of Article 245 
of the Código de Valores Mobiliários (the 
Securities Market Code), the members of the 
Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA hereby declare 
that, to the best of their knowledge, the 
information contained in the Directors’ Report, 
the Annual Accounts, the Legal Certification of 
the Accounts, and ancillary financial statements 
reported through 31 December 2009 to be 
submitted in compliance with the provisions 
of applicable legislation and regulations were 
prepared in conformance with applicable 
accounting standards and regulations and 
represent the assets and liabilities, financial 
situation, and results of the Company and its 
subsidiary and associate companies included 
in its consolidation perimeter in a truthful and 
appropriate manner, and that the Directors’ 
Report faithfully presents the performance 
of its corporate business and the financial 
performance and standing of the Company 
and its subsidiary and associate companies 
included in its consolidation perimeter, including 
a description of the main risks and uncertainties 
incurred by the aforementioned companies.
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IndIvIdual
accounts

 The deep technical know-
ledge of the teams and the 
relationship with the customers 
turns the distribution of graphic 
supplies a logical extension of 
distribution of graphic paper.

Expectations regarding their de-
velopment are already positive, 
namely because this area has 
shown several synergies with 
paper merchanting and where 
the opportunities for cross-selling  
are more evident. 

The Group has a wide range of 
products, with great quality and 
with environmentally responsible 
solutions. From the portfolio we 
can highlight, cleaning products, 
printing blankets, varnishes and 
inks, these produced with renewable 
raw materials. 

GRAPhiC 
SUPPLiES
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CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors-Medium and long-term:
Group companies
other debtors

Debtors-Short-term:
trade accounts receivable - current account
clients - doubtful debt
Group companies
advances to suppliers
shareholders and participating interests
state & other public entities
other debtors

Negotiable securities:
other negotiable securities

Bank deposits & cash:
Bank deposits
cash

Accruals and deferrals:
accrued income
deferred costs
deferred taxes

Total assets

FixEd ASSETS

Intangible Fixed Assets:
set-up expenses
Research and development
Industrial property & other rights
advances on account of intangible assets

Tangible Fixed Assets:
land and natural resources
Buildings & other constructions
Plant & machinery
transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible fixed assets

Financial Assets:
Investments in Group companies
Securities and other financial applications
other loans conceded
Financial assets in progress
Advances on account of financial assets

    GROSS ASSETS   dEPRECiATiON ANd PROviSiONS             NET ASSETS                 NET ASSETS

 31st dECEmbER 2009                    31st dECEmbER 2009                

bALANCE ShEET AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2009

2,181.8
27.0
49.0

-
2,257.8

-
-

3.4
6.7

221.0
1.5

232.7

-
406.6

-
-
-

406.6

1,091.2
18.0
48.2

7.2
1,164.6

-
-

5.9
-

54.4
2.3

62.6

228,501.7
17,680.8
7,628.0

-
25,961.1

279,771.6

3,273.0
45.0
97.2
7.2

3,422.4

-
-

9.3
6.7

275.4
3.8

295.2

228,501.7
18,087.4
7,628.0

-
25,961.1

280,178.2

20,517.0
17,042.8
37,559.8

984.9
-

30,802.5
-

87.2
2,398.0
3,841.2
38,113.9

1,625.5
1,625.5

214.0
4.5

218.5

6,047.7
1,494.8
2,676.8
10,219.3

371,632.8 

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-

2,897.2 

20,517.0
17,042.8
37,559.8

984.9
-

30,802.5
-

87.2
2,398.0
3,841.2
38,113.9

1,625.5
1,625.5

214.0
4.5

218.5

6,047.7
1,494.8
2,676.8
10,219.3

368,735.7 

24,517.0
16,695.3
41,212.3

1,330.5
-

32,158.4
30.9

-
698.9

4,062.9
38,281.7

5,501.5
5,501.5

178.6
4.4

183.1

6,041.7
1,618.4
2,709.4

10,369.5
357,788.3

2,182.1
27.0
11.9

-
2,221.1

-
-

6.7
-

61.4
2.7

70.8

226,342.4
16.7

7,628.0
-

25,961.1
259,948.3
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ShAREhOLdER’S EqUiTy

Share Capital

share issue premiums

adjustments to holdings in Group companies and associates

Reserves:

legal reserves 

other reserves 

Retained earnings

Net profit (loss) for the year

Total shareholder’s equity

LiAbiLiTiES

Creditors - Medium & long-term:

non-convertible loan stock

loans from credit institucions

Provisions fot other risks and charges

Group companies

other creditors

Fornecedores de Imobilizado M/l Prazo

Creditors - Short-term:

loans from credit institucions

trade accounts payable - current account 

Group companies

other shareholders

Suppliers of fixed assets - current account

state & other public entities 

other creditors

Accruals & deferrals:

accrued costs

Total liabilities

Total shareholder’s equity and liabilities

Amounts in thousands of Euros

  ShAREhOLdER’S EqUiTy ANd LiAbiLiTiES                                                                31ST dECEmbER 2009                   31st dECEmbER 2008

150.000,0

2.937,3

1.166,7

7.500,0

225,5

-10.362,1

151.467,3

-96,1

151.371,2

36,750.0

22,728.8

100.0

1,414.1

1,431.9

-

62,424.8

137,119.9

313.2

10.1

11.4

-

192.9

5,429.5

143,077.1

915.1

915.1

206,417.0

357,788.3

150,000.0

2,937.3

1,286.5

7,500.0

225,5

-10,458.2

151,491.0

1,074.2

152,565.2

36,750.0

22,588.8

-

1,415.5

-

5,488.4

66,242.6

128,507.3

135.0

2,191.0

11.4

11,645.9

199.2

6,492.5

149,182.3

745.6

745.6

216,170.4

368,735.7
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COSTS & LOSSES

third-party supplies & services
Personel costs:

salaries
 social security charges:

Pensions
other

Depreciation of tangible & intangible fixed assets
Provisions
taxes
other operating costs & losses
                                                                                      (A)

losses on Group and associate companies
Depreciation of financial investments
Interest and similar expenses:

other
                                                                                (C)

Extraordinary costs & losses 
                                                                                      (E)

taxes for the year
                                                                             (G)

Net profit (loss) for the year

iNCOmE & GAiNS

services rendered
supplementary income 
                                                                             (B)

Income on Group and associate companies
Income from negotiable securities and other holdings:

other
other interests and similar incomes:

other
                                                                             (D)

Extraordinary income & gains 

                                                                             (F)

SUmmARy

Operating profit: (B) - (A) =
Financial charges:  (D-B) - (C-A) =
Current profits: (D) - (C) =
Profit (loss) before tax: (F) - (E) =
Profit (loss) for the year: (F) - (G) =

Amounts in thousands of Euros

                                                                        31st dECEmbER 2009                   31st dECEmbER 2008                

PROFiT & LOSS ACCOUNT by NATURE FOR ThE FiNANCiAL yEAR ENdEd ON ThE 31ST dECEmbER 2009

842.0

1,677.4

-
632.5

1,170.4
100.0
483.9
198.7

5,104.9

2,431.4
-

14,185.1
21,721.4

166.1
21,887.5

-111.6
21,775.9

-96.1
21,679.8

3,994.7
7,924.6

11,919.3

5,691.0

526.6

2,441.4
20,578.4

1,101.4
21,679.8

6,814.4
-7,957.4
-1,143.0

-207.7
-96.1

762.4

1,825.6

-
391.1

1,185.9
-

283.6
34.9

4,483.5

3,084.6
281.9

10,167.4
18,017.5

265.9
18,283.4

44,8
18.328,2

1,074.2
19,402.4

3,694.3
7,033.9

10,728.2

5,597.0

756.5

1,631.8
18,713.5

688.9
19,402.4

6,244.7
-5,548.7

696.0
1,119.0

1,074.2
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                                                                            31st dECEmbER 2009                   31st dECEmbER 2008 

PROFiT & LOSS ACCOUNT by FUNCTiONS FOR ThE yEAR ENdEd AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2008
Amounts in thousands of Euros

sales and services rendered

cost of sales and services rendered

Gross profit

other operating income and gains

distribution costs

administrative costs

other operating costs and losses

Operating profit

Net cost of financing

Gains (losses) on subsidiaries and associates 

Gains (losses) on other investments 

Exceptional items

Current profits 

Tax on current profits 

Current profits after tax

Extraordinary profit/loss

taxes on extraordinary results

Net profit / loss for the year

Earnings per share (a)

(a) The weighted average number of shares considered was 150.000.000 shares in 2008 and 2009.

3,994.7

-3,563.3

431.5

9,026.0

-

-759.1

-948.7

7,749.7

-11,217.1

3,259.6

-

-

-207.7

111.6

-96.1

-

-

-96.1

-0.001

3,694.3

-3,483.8

210.5

8,014.5

-

-963.1

-584.5

6,677.4

-8,070.8

2,512.3

-

-

1,119.0

-44.8

1,074.2

-

-

1.074,2

0.007
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                             31st dECEmbER 2009                    31st dECEmbER 2008 

CASh-FLOw STATEmENT FOR ThE yEAR ENdEd AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2008
Full consolidation method - Amounts in thousand of Euros

CASh-FLOw GENERATEd FROm OPERATiNG ACTiviTiES

cash receipts from customers
cash payments to suppliers
cash payments to personal
Net cash from operating activities

Income taxes paid
Income taxes received
other proceeds relating to operating activity
other payments relating to operating activity
Cash-flow before extraordinary items

Proceeds relating to extraordinary items
Payments relating to extraordinary items
Net cash generated from operating activities

CASh-FLOw FROm iNvESTiNG ACTiviTiES

Proceeds from:
Financial investments
Tangible fixed assets
Interest & similar income
loans granted
dividendos

Payments in respect of:
Financial investments
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
loans granted

Net cash used in investing activities

CASh-FLOw FROm FiNANCiNG ACTiviTiES

Proceeds from:
loans obtained

Payments in respect of:
loans obtained
depreciation of leasing
Interest & similar expenses

Net cash used in investing activities

variation of cash & cash equivalents
Effect of exchange differences

cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period

1

2

3

1+2+3

3,372.5 
 -606.8

 -2,621.9

 143.9

-0.4
 112.8 

14,321.6
-33,218.9

-18,640.9

-
-

-18,640.9

- 
 279.8
2,751.7  

14,400.0
-

17,431.5 

-96,784.2
-110.9
- 33.5

-15,852.5

-112,781.1
-95,349.6

58,283.9 
58,283.9 

-12,504.2
  -

-14,575.1
-27,079.3

31,204.6 

-82,785.9
-0.2

-82,786.1

64,559.8
-18,226.3

-82,786.1

2,858.4
-1,063.9
-2,086.1

-291.6

-9.0
74.3

10,534.1
-706.8

9,601.0

-
-

9,601.0

4,261.3
1.3

1,806.6
19,465.3

128.8
25,663.4

-3,970.7
-
-

-18,574.7

-22,545.4
3,117.9

8,332.1
8,332.1

-13,234.3
-379.5

-9,883.6
-23,497.4

-15,165.3

-2,446.4
0.1

-2,446.4

-18,226.3
-20,672.7
-2,446.4
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 Inapa is currently developing a 
set of initiatives which aim to offer 
economical and effective waste 
treatment solutions to its clients. 
The collection of inks, plates, 
packaging etc. for recycling 
and treatment is made available 
by Inapa, contributing to the 
sustainability of printing activity.

Through the implementation of 
good environmental practices, the 
company seeks to embrace the 
latest strategies for creating value 
in this area.

GRAPHIC
SUPPLIES

WASTE COLLECTION
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NOTES ON 
THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD

ENDING 31
DECEMBER 2009

(AMOUNTS IN
 THOUSANDS OF EUROS,

EXCEPT WHEN 
OTHERWISE SPECIFIED)

 

 ‘04

INTRODUCTION
Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA (Inapa - IPG) is the parent company of 
the Inapa Group, whose business purpose is the ownership and management of fixed and 
moveable assets, holding capital shares of other companies, the operation of its own or 
other commercial and industrial establishments and the provision of assistance to companies 
in which it holds capital. Inapa - IPG is listed on Euronext Lisboa.

Head office: Rua Castilho n°44 3°, 1250-071 Lisboa, Portugal Share Capital:  
150,000,000 Euros 

N.I.P.C. [Corporate Tax No.]: 500 137 994

The financial statements for the year were prepared, in all material aspects, according to the 
provisions in the Official Accounting Plan (POC).

The notes on the accounts concern the regulations established by the POC; please note that 
the numbers not indicated in this appendix do not apply or are not relevant.

INAPA 
INVESTIMENTOS, 
PARTICIPAÇÕES E GESTÃO, SA
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Note 1
DEROGATIONS TO THE POC

These financial statements present a deroga-
tion to the POC related to the subsequent 
valuation of Goodwill, as this is to be car-
ried out according to the International Fi-
nancial Report Standard no. 3 as described  
in Note 3 (i).

Note 2 
COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The amounts mentioned in the financial state-
ments for the period ending 31 December 
2009 are comparable in all significant 
aspects with the values during the same  
period in 2008.

Note 3 
MAIN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
AND VALUATION CRITERIA

The attached financial statements were 
prepared under the assumption that 
operations would continue, and are based 
on the Company´s accounting records.

The main accounting principles and valuation 
criteria adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are the following:

(i)  Financial investments and 
negotiable securities

The financial investments in subsidiary and 
associated companies are valued by the equity 
method. The remaining financial investments 
are valued at the acquisition cost.

The financial investments recorded using the 
equity method are initially recorded by the 
acquisition cost, being increased or reduced 
by the difference (Goodwill) between this 
value and the proportional share of its 
own capital in subsidiaries and associated 
companies. These are adjusted by attributing 
fair value to the assets and liabilities on 
the acquisition date or the date of the first 
application of the equity method.

Goodwill is recorded in the item on capital 

share in the Group´s companies.

According to the equity method, financial 
holdings are adjusted by the value 
corresponding to the share held by Inapa 
- IPG in the net income of subsidiaries 
and associated companies, thus the 
amount of dividends distributed by these 
companies is deducted from the financial  
investment value.

According to Note 1, the Company applies 
the terms of International Financial Reporting 
Standard no.3 to the valuation of Goodwill, 
subsequent to its initial recording, and in line 
with this standard Goodwill is not amortised, 
but it is subject to annual impairment tests. 
In the case where a loss by impairment is 
found, it is recorded in the results of this 
business year and cannot be reversed.

The securities and other financial appli-
cations item includes essentially, land, 
buildings and basic equipment not dealing 
with operation, which are valued at their 
respective acquisition cost. The buildings 
and basic equipment are depreciated 
through the straight-line method according 
to the rates referred to in Note 3 (iii), with 
the respective cost recognised in financial 
costs and losses.

Negotiable securities are recorded in the 
assets at their respective acquisition cost. 
When the difference between the acquisition 
cost of negotiable securities and the 
respective market value is significant, and is 
considered to be permanent in character, an 
adjustment is made in the results of the year. 
Unrealised appreciation, corresponding to 
the difference between the acquisition cost 
and its market value, is not recognised.

(ii)    Tangible fixed assets

The assets acquired through 1992 were
 
subject to re-evaluation, under the terms of 
Decree-Laws no. 430/78, 219/82, 339-
G/84, 118-B/86, 111/88, 49/91 and 
264/92. The reserves generated by the 
re-evaluations carried out within the legal 
terms, for the total amount of 9,251.73 
thousand Euros, were wholly integrated 
into the share capital through increases 
made in 1986, 1990 and 1997. The 
assets acquired since the year 1992 are 

valued at the historic cost.

The depreciation of tangible fixed assets 
is calculated according to the straight-
line method. This is done using the rates 
defined in the Directive 737/81, of 29 
August, for assets acquired through 
December 1988, and rates defined in 
the Regulatory Decree no.2/90 of 12 
January, for assets acquired since January 
1989. It is considered satisfactory to 
represent the estimated useful life of the 
assets, as follows:

The depreciation process, by twelfths, 
starts in the month of the year in which the 
respective asset entered into use.

(iii)   Intangible fixed assets

They generally consist of costs incurred by 
the Group´s restructuring process, with the 
charges related to the increase carried out 
in 2007, and with various projects which 
have been developed, and are able to 
be amortised substantially in five years, in 
twelfths, starting in the month of the year 
in which they are incurred or the project 
concluded. Expenses from the increase in 
share capital are amortised over a three-
year period.

(iv)  Lease contract

Assets whose use occurs from lease contracts, 
relative to which the Company substantially 
assumes all risks and advantages inherent 
in the use of the leased asset, are classified 
as tangible fixed assets.

The interest rates included in the value 
of revenue and depreciation of the each 
tangible asset are recognised as costs in 
the income statements for the year which 
they concern.

Buildings and other 
constructions
 
Basic equipment
 
Transport equipment
 
Administrative equipment

2% - 5%
     

6.66% - 12.5%

20% - 50%

10% - 12.5%
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In the lease contracts in which the lessor 
assumes a significant part of the risks 
and benefits of the asset, the Company 
being the lessee, they are classified as 
operating leases. The payments which 
happen as part of these contracts are 
recorded in the income statements during  
the lease period.

(v)  Adjustments for credit with 
doubtful accounts

Adjustments for credit with doubtful 
accounts is recorded regarding collection 
risks identified at the end of each period.

(vi) Provisions for other risks and 
charges

Provisions are recognised only when 
faced with an obligation (legal or implicit) 
resulting from a past event, it being likely 
that to resolve this obligation the spending 
of resources will be required and the 
obligation amount can be reasonably 
estimated. The provisions are reviewed 
on the date of each balance sheet 
preparation and are adjusted in a way to 
reflect the best estimation on that date.

(vii)  Transactions and balances in 
foreign currency

All assets and liabilities expressed in 
foreign currency were converted to Euros, 
using the current exchange rates on the 
dates of the balance sheet preparation. 
Exchange rate differences, favourable and 
unfavourable, originating in the differences 
between the exchange rates in effect on 
the transaction date and those which were 
current on the date of collection, payment 
or on the date of the balance sheet, were 
recorded as provisions and expenses for 
the period.

(viii)  Charges regarding loans 
obtained

The charges incurred with medium and 
long-term loans are recorded in the 
deferred costs item and are recognised in 
the results, in a systematic way, throughout 
the loan term period.

(ix)  Specialisation of periods

The company records its revenue and 
expenses according to the period 
specialisation principle, by which the 
revenue and expenses are recognised 
as they are generated, independent of 
the moment in which they are received 
or paid. The differences between the 
amounts received and paid and the 
corresponding revenue and expenses 
generated are recorded in the Accruals 
and deferrals.

(x) Income tax

The income tax includes current and 
deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are 
accounted for according to the terms in 
Accounting Directive no. 28 (see Note 6)

(xi)  Cash flow statement

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, 
the item Cash and equivalents corresponds 
to the sum of the cash balances, current 
accounts and bank overdrafts (see Note 
48 e)). This statement was prepared using 
the direct method.

(xii)   Income results by function

The company prepares the income results 
by function according to Accounting Di-
rective no. 20 (see Note 49).

(xiii)  Income per share

The calculation for income per share is 
based on the net profit attributed to share-
holders in Inapa - IPG and on the average 
weighted number of shares in circulation.

Note 6 
INCOME TAX

_current taxes
As of the 2003 period, the Company 
and two subsidiaries based in Portugal 
(Inapa Portugal and Gestinapa) are taxed 
with Corporate Income Tax (IRC) at their 
headquarters, through the special tax 
regime for groups of companies, constituted 
by companies with a share greater or equal 
to 90% and which fulfil the conditions 

in article no. 63 and the following of the 
IRC Code. Inapa - IPG, as the parent 
company, is responsible for the calculation 
of the Group´s taxable profit through the 
algebraic sum of the taxable profit and tax 
losses calculated in the income statements 
of each of the parent companies belonging  
to the Group.

The current positive or negative value of 
the tax is calculated by each subsidiary 
company based on its individual fiscal 
situation. The eventual gain or loss from the 
consolidated tax regime is recognised by 
the company as provisions or extraordinary 
costs within the period (see Note 46).

The payment of taxes on profit is carried 
out based on self-assessment declarations 
which are subject to inspection and eventual 
adjustment by the Tax Authority within the 
four subsequent years. If tax losses are found, 
they can be used in the six following periods, 
remaining subject to an eventual adjustment 
by the tax authorities during reviews which 
may be made to the declarations for the 
period to which these are applied.

The company is subject to IRC tax at the 
normal rate of 25%, plus the Municipal 
surcharge of 1.5%, resulting in an aggregate 
tax rate of 26.5%. The Municipal surcharge 
is applied to taxable amounts before 
deducting tax losses.



45.

_deferred taxes
If relevant, the deferred taxes are recognised in accounting records. The recognised deferred taxes correspond to the timing differences 
between the amount of assets and liabilities, for the purposes of the accounting report and the respective amounts for tax purposes. Deferred 
tax assets are recorded when there are reasonable expectations for future tax profits for them to be used. On the date of each balance a 
re-appraisal of the underlying timing differences is made of the deferred tax assets regarding the current expectation of its future recovery. The 
deferred taxes are recorded in the income statement, except when related to amounts which have been moved within their own equity, a fact 
which implies its equal recognition in that equity.

The value of the deferred taxes relating to 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 is the following:

2,709 10,837 

DEFERRED TAX ASSET   

   
Tax losses
Deferred tax
Current tax
Income tax
 

DR/(CR)

32 
32 
13 
45 

               31 DECEMbER 2009                       31 DECEMbER 2008

 bASE    DEFERRED 
TAX

YEAR
END RESULTS

 bASE    DEFERRED
TAX

2,67710,707 

The deferred taxes were calculated on the tax loss of the Group of Companies. On 31 December 2009, the amount to carry forward of tax 
losses from the Group of Companies and the respective deadline years for their use was the following:

2013

2014

AMOUNT DEADLINE FOR DEDUCTIONYEAR OF TAX LOSS

9,459

1,248

10,707

2007

2008

On 31 December 2009, the tax loss of the 
Company was calculated in the following 
way:

1,119.0

-2,512.4

-489.0

-1,882.4

2009

Income before tax

Cancellation of the equity method

Others (a)

Tax loss

(a) Essentially corresponds to the cancellation of 
the resulting profit from the taxation by the Group 
of companies (see Note 6).



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS ‘09    Notes on Individual Financial Statements  46.     

Note 7 
EMPLOYMENT LEVELS

During this period the Company had
in its service an average of 23 employees 
(2008: 24 employees)

Note 8 
INTANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS

See Notes 3 (iii) and 10.

Note 10 
TRANSACTIONS OCCURING IN THE 
FIXED ASSET ACCOUNTS

During the period ending 31 December 
2009, the transactions which occurred in 
the fixed asset accounts were the following:

INTANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

Installation expenses
Research & Development Expenses
Industrial Property and other rights
Fixed assets in progress
 
 
TANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

Land and natural resources 
Buildings and other Constructions
Basic Equipment
Transport Equipment 
Administrative Equipment
Other Tangible Fixed Assets

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Capital shares in Group companies
(see Note 16)
Securities and other financial investments
Other loans granted
Advances for financial investments

3,273.0
45.0
47.7

-

3,365.7

-
-

9.0
16.4

237.7
3.8

266.8

226,342.4
141.4

7,628.0

25,961.1

260,073.0

GROSS ASSETS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS AND
REDUCTIONS

ENDING
bALANCE

STARTING
bALANCE

 INCREASES

-
-

49.5
7.2

56.7

-
-

0.3
-

37.7
-

38.0

2,729.6
17,950.0

-
-

20,679.6

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-9.7
-
-

-9.7

-441.3
-4.0

-

-

-445.3

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-129.0
-
-

-

-129.0

3,273.0
45.0
97.2
7.2

3,422.4

-
-

9.3
6.7

275.4
3.8

295.2

228,501.7
18,087.4
7,628.0
25,961.1

280,178.2
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The transactions in the Group companies 
account essentially results from (i) the 
application of the equity method, which 
corresponded to the increase in the amount of 
2,632 thousands of Euros and (ii) an increase 
of the amount of 97 thousand Euros from the 
increase in share in Medialivros - Actividades 
Editoriais, SA and later a reduction of 441 
thousand Euros corresponding to the disposal 
of 38.2% of the share in the same company, 
and (iii) the reduction by 129 thousand Euros 
corresponding to the distribution of dividends 
in Inapa Suiça.

The transactions in the securities and 
other financial investments account are 
fundamentally related to the acquisition 
made through the granting of financial lease 
contracts by the Spanish subsidiary of the 
Group (see Note 48 (b)) of property and 
equipment, of the warehouse property and 
the respective robotic equipment located 
in Leganés (Madrid). The underlying 
assets to these contracts were later leased 
to Inapa Espanha, S.A. for a 6 year 
period, with the debited income relating 
to this operation reflected in provisions 
and financial gains in the Financial  
Investment Income account.

The balance for Other Loans granted                 
corresponds to the value of the subscribed 
Junior Notes within the notes receivable 
balance from clients carried out by various 
companies in the Inapa Group.

The Advances on account of financial 
investments records the values of the 
advances made to Gestinapa - SGPS, 
SA, to be used in the subscription for 
future capital increases to be done in  
this company.

According to Note 3 (i), Goodwill 
calculated when applying the equity method 
is recorded in the capital shares of the 
group´s companies account. The recorded 
Goodwill for Inapa - IPG, alongside with 
the remaining Goodwill recorded in the 
Inapa Group´s consolidated accounts, 
was attributed in its entirety to each one 
of the Group´s various business segments 
and its impairment was tested equally 
taking into consideration each business 
segment in the Group. Thus, following 
the recording in 2006 of impairment to 
the entire Goodwill in the Group, it was 
not practical to quantify the Goodwill  
amount included in the section above.
 

The Group calculates annually the 
recoverable value of assets and liabilities 
associated to the activity of various business 
activity, through the determination of the use 
value, according to the “discounted cash 
flow” method.

The calculation values were supported by 
market development expectations, with future 
“cash flows” having been forecast based on 
medium and long-term plans approved by 
the Board of Directors relating to a period 
up until 2014. The cash flow forecasts for 
beyond the plan period are extrapolated, 
using the estimated growth rates presented 
below. The growth rate does not exceed the 
average growth rate of various activities in 
the long-term.

The managers calculated the budgeted gross 
margin based on the past performance and 
their expectations for market development. 
The contemplated average growth rate used 
is consistent with the forecasts included in 
the sector reports. The discount rates used 
are after tax and reflect specific risks related 
with the relevant segments.

INTANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS

 

Installation expenses
Research & Development Expenses
Industrial Property and other rights 
 

  

TANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS

  

Buildings and other Constructions 
Basic Equipment
Transport Equipment 
Administrative Equipment
Other Tangible Fixed Assets
 
   

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS  

Securities and other financial investments

AMORTISATIONS AND ADJUSTMENTS REGULARIzATION ENDING bALANCESTARTING bALANCE ADDITIONS

1,090.9
18.0
35.7

1,144.6

-
2.2

16.4
176.2

1.1

196.0

124.7

124.7

1,090.9
9.0

13.3

1,113.2

-
1.2

-
44.8

0.4

46.4

281.9

281.9

-
-
-

-

-
-

-9.7
-
-

-9.7

-

-

2,181.8
27.0
49.0

2,257.8

-
3.4
6.7

221.0
1.5

232.7

406.6

406.6
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% OF 
HOLDING

bALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT

100.0%
40.5%
0.0%

100.0%
47.0%
32.5%

106,508.8 
787.5 

0.0 
107,296.3 

235,245.1 
72,000.0 

5,123.1 
312,368.2 

-193,322.1

226,342.4 

HEAD-
QUARTERS

The assumptions which were the basis for the Goodwill valuation were the following: 

Note 12 
RE-EVALUATION CRITERIA

See Note 3 (ii).

Note 15 
ASSETS IN FINANCING LEASE PLAN
See Note 48 e)

Note 16 
INFORMATION RELATING TO GROUP COMPANIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 31 December 2009 and 2008 the financial information relating to the Group companies 
and associated companies was as follows:

Rate of sales growth

EBITDA Margin

Rate of inflation

Discount rate after tax

Discount rate before tax

2009                           2008 

2%

4.6%

2.5%

7.2%

8.8%

2%

4.6%

2.5%

7.7%

9.3%

A) PORTUGUESE

Gestinapa - SGPS, SA 
Medialivros - Actividades Editoriais, SA     
Edições Inapa, Lda 

b) FOREIGN

 

Inapa France, SA  
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH 
Inapa Switzerland 

Adjustment made by the application 
of the equity method   

CAPITAL SHARES IN GROUP; ASSO-
CIATED COMPANIES AND OTHERS

2009                            2008 

Lisboa
Lisboa
Lisboa

França
Alemanha

Suiça

NET 
INCOME*

% OF 
HOLDING

APROPRIATE 
RESULTEQUITYASSET*

bALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT

177,825 
**

2,019.2

210,782.1 
148,504.2 

24,777.7

125,387,1 
**

20.5

142,358.9 
66,554.1 
21,321.7 

2,754.0 
**

15.5 

118.7 
-2,565.9
1,487.4 

100.0%
3.9%
2.0%

100.0%
47.0%
32.5%

-2,512.6
-89.0 
0.0 

-2,601.6

-483.0
4,488.0 
1,109.0 
5,114.0

2,512.4 

106,508.8 
83.1 
0.1 

106,592.0 

235,245.1 
72,000.0 

5,123.1 
312,368.2 

-190,458.5

228,501.7 

*  Information  relating to the statutory  financial statements  /  **  Financial information  not  available at this time
The appropriate income was calculated after adjustments made as part of applying the equity method.
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Note 25 
EMPLOYEE EXPENSES PAYAbLE

The payables relating to staff amounted to 269.8 
thousand Euros, including holidays, holiday 
subsidies and corresponding charges, which 
will be paid in 2010. The receivable balances 
amounted to 21.7 thousand Euros. (2008: 30.1 
thousands of Euros).

Note 32 
LIAbILITIES FOR GUARANTEES 
PROVIDED

The company provided several bank 
guarantees through various financial 
institutions, of a total value of 118,000 
thousand Euros, in favour of (i) Inapa 
France SAS (6.5 million Euros) and (ii) for 
the purposes of issuing commercial paper 
(111.5 million Euros). Additionally a bank 
guarantee of an operational nature was 
granted to third parties for the amount of 
1,433 thousand Euros.

Note 34 
TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO 
PROVISIONS

As of 28 March 2006 the CMVM 
[Portuguese Securities Market Commission] 
condemned this company to a 300 
thousand euro fine for violation of Article 7 
of the CVM, in the disclosure of reports and 
accounts relating to the financial years in 
2002 and 2003.

The company legally refuted the decision by 
CMVM, having a verdict pronounced on 
22 October 2008 that the Criminal Court 
of First Instance of Lisbon had reduced the 
fine to 200 thousand Euros. Not satisfied 
with the pronounced verdict, the Company 
successively appealed the decision to 
the Appellate Court of Lisbon and the 
Constitutional Court. In the course of 2009, 
the Company was notified of the overruling 
of the appeal filed, as a result of which the 

decision pronounced by the Criminal Court 
of First Instance of Lisbon 
 
became definitive. As such, the provision 
of 100 thousand Euros for this purpose was 
used and the differential recognised as a 
cost for the period (see Note 46).

Note 36
CAPITAL

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, 
the share capital was represented by 
150,000,000 shares to the bearer with 
the nominal value of 1.00 euro each, fully 
subscribed and paid for.

Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, 
SA, was notified under the terms of articles 
16 and 248 - B of the Code for securities 
and regulation of CMVM 5 / 2008, of the 
holding of qualified shares by the following 
people, individuals or companies:

Parpública - Participações Públicas, SGPS, 
SA: - 49,084,738 shares corresponding 
to 32.72% of capital and voting rights;

Provision for other risks and charges 100 0 100 0

Banco Comercial Português, SA, to 
which  27,391,047 shares were attributed 
corresponding to 18.26% of capital and 
voting rights (*), and;

José Augusto Martinos Fazendeiro, to 
whom 3,083,851 shares were attributed 
corresponding to 2.06% of the capital 
and voting rights (**)

This company was not notified, under the 
legal and regulatory provisions invoked, 
of any alterations to the shares previously 
referred to or by other holders to which stock 
shares are attributed, granting voting rights 
superior or equal to 2%.

  INCREASE     STARTING 
bALANCE 

ENDING 
bALANCE

  REDUCTION   
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49,084,738

16,521,635

10,315,846

6,494,896

553,566

3,033,851
50,000

32.72%

11.01%

6.88%

4.33%

0.37%

2.02%
0.03%

Notes:

(*) the share attributable to Banco Comercial Português, SA 
is broken down as follows:

Banco Comercial Português, SA ........ 10,315,846 shares 
corresponding to 6.88% of voting rights;

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP ........ 16,521,635 
shares corresponding to 11.01% of voting rights;

Banco Millennium BCP investimento, SA ........ 553,566
shares corresponding to 0.37% of voting rights.

 

(**) the share attributable to José Augusto Martins Fazendeiro 
is broken down as follows:

José Augusto   Martins   Fazendeiro ........ 3,033,851 
shares corresponding to 2.02% of voting rights;

Albano R.N. Alves - Distribuição de Papel, SA ........ 
50,000 shares corresponding to 0.03% of voting rights.

As of 31 December 2009, the company did not hold treasury 
shares nor were transactions of treasury shares confirmed 
during this period.

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, the shareholders with 
shares superior or equal to 2% are summarised as follows:

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial 
Português

Banco Comercial Português 

Cofihold, SGPS, SA 

Banco Millennium BCP Investimento, SA 

José Augusto Martins Fazendeiro:

Equity
Albano R. N. Alves-Distribuição de Papel, SA

SHAREHOLDERS SHARES %

   2009                                                              2008 

SHARES %

49,084,738

16,521,635

10,315,846

-

553,566

3,033,851
50,000

32.72%

11.01%

6.88%

-

0.37%

2.02%
0.03%



51.

702

Note 40
TRANSACTIONS OCCURING IN THE PERIOD WITHIN THE EQUITY ACCOUNTS

During the year ending 31 December 2009, the equity transfers were as follows:

Nota 43
REMUNERATION PROVIDED 
TO MEMbERS OF THE 
CORPORATE bODIES

The remuneration provided to members of the Inapa – IPG corporate bodies in the 2009 and 
2008 periods were as follows:

Capital

 Premium on issuance of shares

Adjust. capital shares in Group and associated 
companies

Legal reserves

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Net income for the year

STARTING bALANCE INCREASES/ 
DECREASES

TRANSACTIONS DURING THE PERIOD

TRANSFERS           ENDING  
bALANCE

150,000.0

2,937.3

1,166.7

7,500.0

225.5

-10,362.1

-96.1

151,371.3

-

-

119.8

-

-

-

1,074.2

1,194.0

-

-

-

-

-

-96.1

96.1

-

150,000.0

2,937.3

1,286.5

7,500.0

225.5

-10,458.2

1,074.2

152,565.2

At the Shareholders ‘meeting held on 29 
April 2009, the transfer of the negative 
results from the 2008 period totalling 
96,110.92 Euros to Retained Earnings was 
approved;

Commercial legislation establishes that at 
least 5% of the net annual income must go 
to reinforce the legal reserve until this amount 
represents at least 20% of the capital. This 
reserve is not distributable, except in the 
case of the liquidation of the Company, 
but can be used to absorb losses after 
other reserves are used, or incorporated  
in the capital.
 

Note 42 
STATEMENT OF SERVICE 
PROVISION COSTS

Service provision costs as shown in the Income 
Statement by functions in the period reached 
3,484 thousand Euros and fundamentally 
consist  of costs with staff, travel expenses and 
trips and amortisations.
  

Board of Directors

2009                                    2008

716
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11.0
113.6

6.4
35.1

-
166.1
935.3

1,101.5

6.5
-

54.9
1,040.0
1,101.5

11,256.5
2,431.4

-
454.7

-
2,473.9

16,616.5
-7,957.4

8,659.1

2,968.0
5,691.0

-
0.1

-
8,659.1

2009                                                                    2008

Note 45 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results in the 2009 and 2008 periods are analysed as follows:

The Profits and Losses in associated companies reflect the application in the results of the equity method.

COSTS AND LOSSES      

Interest incurred    
Losses in associated companies 
Amortisations of financial investments       
Unfavourable exchange rate differences   
Losses from disposal of Investments     
Other costs and financial losses     

 Financial results  

PROFITS AND GAINS

Interest received
Profits from associated companies
Income from financial investments 
Unfavourable exchange rate differences 
Profits from disposal of investments

PERIODS

7,470.5
3,084.6

281.9
138.5
340.6

2,217.8
13,534.0
-5,548.7
7,985.3

1,655.7
5,597.0

291.7
110.2
330.7

7,985.3

Note 46
STATEMENT OF EXTRAORDINARY RESULTS

The extraordinary results in the 2009 and 2008 periods are analysed as follows:

2009                                                                    2008COSTS AND LOSSES

Donations  
Fixed asset losses (note 10)  
Fines and Penalties (note 34)  
Corrections relating to previous periods 
Other extraordinary costs and losses     

Extraordinary results

PROFITS AND GAINS

Recovery of taxes   
Fixed asset profits (note 10)      
Corrections relating to previous years    
Other extraordinary profits and losses (a)     

PERIODS

10.1
91.3

102.1
62.5

-
265.9
423.0

688.9

-
1.7

34.7
652.5

688.9

(a) corresponds to the profit from taxation as the Group of Companies (see Note 6)
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-

93.9

36.1

69.2

199.2

-

-

31.2

161.7

192.9

The Fixed asset losses correspond to the decreased value obtained with the transfer to third parties of 38.2% of the share of Medialivros 
- Actividades Editoriais, SA.

Note 48 
OTHER IMPORTANT INFORMATION FOR A bETTER UNDERSTANDING OF THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
PERFORMANCE

a)  States and other public authorities

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, there was not any debt in default with the State and other public authorities. The balances with these 
authorities were the following:
 

Value Added Tax (IVA)

Corporate Income Tax (IRC

Social Security        
 
Personal Income Tax – 
Withholdings                                                                                        
                                                                         
           

2009 2008

 DEbIT bALANCE                                             CREDIT bALANCE

2009 2008

1,954.8

443.2

-

-

2,398.0

284.0

414.9

-

-

698.9
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-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

8.5
-

299.4
-
-
-
-

307.9

-
-
-

35.9
-
-
-
-

17.7
-

53.7

-
-
-

58.3
-
-
-
-

22.1
-

80.4

b) Balances with Group companies and associated companies 

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, the balances with the Group companies were the following:

SHARE-
HOLDERS

bOND
LOAN

MLP
LOAN

OTHER
DEbITORS

ACCRUAL. 
DEFERRMENTS  

Gestinapa - SGPS, SA 
Inapa Portugal, SA 
Edições Inapa, Lda
Inapa France, SA 
Inapa Espanha, SA
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Papier Union
Tavistock
Inapa Suisse
Outras

 
Gestinapa - SGPS, SA 
Inapa Portugal, SA 
Medialivros, SA 
Inapa France, SA 
Inapa Espanha, SA
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Papier Union
Tavistock
Inapa Suisse
Outras

COMPANY CLIENTS     GROUP AND 
COMPANIES

                                                                                                          2009 

SHORT-TERM ASSET       MLT ASSET                                                                        LIAbILITIES

CP
GROUP

-
69.5

-
169.7
29.2

118.8
274.5
32.7

276.4
14.2

984.9

-
63.5
6.8

199.8
90.8

125.0
290.9
165.0
303.0
85.8

1,330.6

22,015.8
51.2

1,792.0
1,313.6

9.0
14.8

5,600.1
0.1
1.3
4.5

30,802.5

27,498.5
3.8

12.2
4.597.6

0.6
0.7
5.8
0.1
0.7

38.4
32,158.4

25.6
2,351.7

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

2,377.3

-
1,895.0

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,895.0

-
-
-
-
-

20,517.0
-
-
-
-

20,517.0

-
-
-
-
-

24,517.0
-
-
-
-

24,517.0

-
-
-

36,750.0
-
-
-
-
-
-

36,750.0

-
-
-

36,750.0
-
-
-
-
-
-

36,750.0

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,415.5
-

1,415.5

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,414.1
-

1,414.1

-
224.5

-
550.5

0.5
-
-
-

1,415.5
-

2,191.0

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

The receivables balances for Gestinapa - SGPS, SA and Edições Inapa, Lda do not incur interest nor do they have fixed repayment periods. 
The receivables balance registered in Group companies related to Inapa France, SA and Inapa Deutschaldn, GmbH and Papier Union incur 
interest at current market rates.

According to Note 10, the fixed asset suppliers in the short-term include the amount of 10,868 thousand Euros to pay to Inapa Espanha, relating 
to the value of granting finance lease contracts for fixed and moveable assets, which arrive at maturation in March 2010, according to their 
contracts (see Note 10).

 ACCRUALS AND  
DEFERRMENTS    

                                                                                                          2008 
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36,750.0
22,728.8
59,478.8

-
137,119.9
137,119.9

196,598.7

c) Loans 

As of 31 December 2008 and 2009, the loans are analysed as follows:

Bonds                                 
Debts to Credit Institutions 

SHORT-TERM

  

Bonds                                                        
Debt to Credit Institutions

MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM 

   2009                                                               2008 

36,750.0
22,588.8
59,338.8

-
128,507.3
128,507.3

187,846.1

The bond issues correspond to an issue of 
bonds by Inapa - IPG with full repayment in 
June 2013, at a 12-month Euribor interest 
rate plus a spread. On 31 December 2009 
these bonds were in the possession of Inapa 
France, SA. (Note 48 b).

The Debts to Credit Institutions in the medium 
and long-term (22,588.8 thousand Euros) 
and short-term (4,916.2 thousand Euros) 
include two bank loans maturing in 2010, 
2011, 2012 and 2013.

The Debt to Credit Institutions in the short-
term includes 106,500 thousand Euros 
corresponding to the issue of commercial 
paper with six financial institutions, 
repayable by their nominal value during a 
one-year period, and renewable for a five-
year period. The remaining balance of this 
account corresponds to bank overdrafts and 
secured accounts.

The balances corresponding to the issue of 
commercial paper and bank overdrafts with 
the Banco Comercial Portugês, SA, reached 
around 28,000 thousand Euros and 4,591.1 
thousand Euros, respectively.

The debt to credit institutions incur interest at 
the current market rates.

d) Other Debtors and Creditors - medium 
and long-term

As of 31 December 2009 and 2008, 

the other registered Debtors for medium 
and long-term corresponded to a credit of 
16.7 million Euros in the name of Fimopriv 
H,SA, resulting from the acquisition by this 
company of shares that were held by Inapa 
- IPG. Inapa - IPG authorises, in the future, 
the availability of its credit for the acquisition 
of the share held by Fimopriv H, SA in the 
capital of Papier Union, GmbH.

Additionally, on 31 December 2009, the 
receivable debt was registered resulting 
from the transfer to third parties of the share 
held in Medialivros - Actividades Editoriais, 

In addition to paragraph b), the fixed 
asset suppliers in the medium and long-
term (5,488.4 thousand Euros) and short-
term (777.8 thousand Euros) in 2009 
correspond to the value of debt with BPI 
leasing originating with two finance leasing 
contracts maturing in 2012 and 2017.

f) Cash flow statement

As of 31 December 2008 and 2009, the 
account for cash and its equivalents was 
as follows:

SA in the amount of 347.5 thousand Euros, 
whose maturation will occur in stages 
between 2011 and 2014.

On 31 December 2008 the Other Creditors 
recorded in the medium and long-term 
included the debt in the value of 1,431.9 
thousand Euros related to the acquisition 
of the remaining part of Inapa Suisse´s 
capital.
 

e) Fixed assets suppliers - medium and
long-term and short-term

4.5
214.0

-
-20,891.2

-20,672.7

Cash
Bank Deposits
Negotiable securities
Bank Overdrafts

2009                                    2008

4.4
178.6

-
-18,409.4

-18,226.3

g) Supplementary income

A supplementary income account 
essentially corresponds to profits obtained 
by the Company through its involvement 
in negotiation processes involving the 
Inapa Group. Of this value, around 5,885 
thousand Euros (2008: 5,733.8 thousand 
Euros) is recorded in Accrued income.
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Note 49 
INCOME STATEMENT bY FUNCTIONS

The income statements by function was 
prepared according to the Accounting 
Directive no. 20, in which a concept of 
extraordinary income is presented which is 
different from that in the Official Chart of 
Accounts (POC) for the preparation of the 
results statement by nature. Thus, in 2009 the 
value of extraordinary income (423 thousand 
Euros) presented in the income statement by 
nature (see Note 46) was reclassified to 
the accounts of operational costs (265.9 
thousand Euros) and to other operational 
profits and gains (688.9 thousand Euros) 
which proportions the following differences 
in the diverse natures of the results.

Operational Income
Financial Income
Current Results
Extraordinary Results
Income tax

  bY NATURE RECLASSIFICATION bY FUNCTION

  6,254
- 5,558

      696
     423
     -45
   1,074

   423
-

   423
- 423

-
-

  6,677
- 5,558
  1,119

-
     -45

     1,074

 Note 50 
INFORMATION bY SEGMENTS

Following the terms of the Accounting 
Directive no. 27, the Company must 
complement the existing financial information 
with information based on segment activity. 
This information was prepared by the 
company in consolidated terms, by business 
segments associated with paper distribution 
and segments relating to packaging, 
factoring and visual communication activities. 
However in view of the specific nature of the 
object of the information in terms of individual 
accounts (see introduction), the balance 
and the attached income statements are 
characterised by its presentation as a single 
business segment, namely as a service 
provider for the Group companies. 

Note 51 
CONTINGENCIES

_contingent liabilities
On 1 August 2007, Papelaria Fernandes - 
Indústria e Comércio, SA filed a legal action 
against Inapa - Investimentos, Participações 
e Gestão, SA and its subsidiaries Inaprest 
- Prestação de Serviços, Participações e 
Gestão, SA (inactive company) and Inapa 
Portugal - Distribuição de Papel, SA, in which 
the requests are summerised as follows:

the cancellation of the following acts:

The constitution in June 2006 of 
commercial-pledge of comfort letters 
issued by Inapa - Investimentos, 

Participações   e   Gestão, SA   as 
a guarantee of financing maintained 
by that Company with Banco Espírito 
Santo and Caixo Central de Crédito 
Agrícola Mútuo;

the business carried out in 1991 to 
concentrate paper distribution activities 
in the current SDP (currently Inapa 
Portugal) and the production and sale 
of Papelaria Fernandes envelopes;

the acquisition in 1994 of the share 
held by Papelaria Fernandes in SDP 
(currently Inapa Portugal);

the compensation of credit carried, also 
in 1994, between Papelaria Fernandes 
and Inaprest.
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that Inapa be required 

to maintain the letters  issued  in favour 
of Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
Central de Credito Agrícola Mútuo;

to compensate Papelaria Fernandes in 
case of eventual use of the commercial 
guarantee as a counter-guarantee

Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e 
Comércio, SA later came to regulate 
its liabilities with Banco Espírito Santo 
and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola 
Mútuo by which:

the comfort letters issued by Inapa 
- IPG no longer have a purpose, 
having been returned by the respective 
beneficiaries; 

as a result this Company communicated 
to Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria 
e Comércio, SA the verification of 
its resolute condition of commercial 
guarantee constituted in its favour.

The action to which was attributed a value 
of 24,460 thousand Euros, was contested 
by INAPA - IPG and by its subsidiary Inapa 
Portugal -  Distribuição de Papel, SA, 
awaiting the Court to determine the effects 
of the action on the dissolution/liquidation 
of Inaprest - Prestação de Serviços, 
Participações e Gestão, SA. The Inapa 
Group understands that no relevant charges 
will follow from this process, and thus no 
provisions have been made.

Note 52 
SUbSEQUENT EVENTS

a) Decree-Law no.  158/2009 of 13 
July approved the creation of a new 
Accounting Standardisation System, 
hereinafter referred to as SNC, revoking 
the POC, the accounting standards 
currently in force. The application of the 
SNC is compulsory for periods which 
began in or after 1 January 2010 and 
obliges the presentation of comparative 
information relating to the 2009 period.
 
Thus, the company will apply the SNC 
for the 2010 period, as a result of 
which it will have to proceed to the re-

communication of the financial statements 
for the 2009 period, according to the 
version of Financial Report Accounting 
Standards (NCRF) in effect on the date 
31 December 2010.

The Company is evaluating the impacts of 
adopting the SNC at the level of period 
results and Capital, as well as the impact 
on its capital management and dividend 
distribution policies.

The effect of the above-mentioned impacts 
on the transaction date, shall be recorded 
primarily in modified results, which due to 
its magnitude can significantly affect the 

factors and future policies for financing 
and results distribution for the company.

b) After 31 December 2009, the following 
event took place which is duly noted:

Inapa announces its entrance onto the 
PSI20 index.
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INFORMATION REFERRED 
TO IN ARTICLE NO. 447 
OF THE CSC

SHARES HELD bY MEMbERS OF THE bOARD OF DIRECTORS AND INSPECTION bODY FOR THE COMPANY  
ON 31 DECEMbER 2009

Board of Directors
Official Accounts Auditor

Dr. Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha
held by people or authorities contemplated in article no. 447 and in no. 2 
of art. no. 1 of the CMVM 7 / 2001 regulation and in the text of CMVM 
regulation 10 / 2005

Dr. José Manuel Félix Morgado
Dr. Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira
Dr. Arndt Klippgen 
Dr. Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos
Dr. Abílio Ramos Marques 

held by people or authorities contemplated in article no. 447 and in no. 2 
of art. no. 1 of the CMVM 7 / 2001 regulation and in the text of CMVM 
regulation 10 / 2005

Dr. Emídio de Jesus Maria

EUROS QUANTITY VOTING RIGHTS

  1,020,000

980,000
563,631

0
0
0
0

49,084,738
0

0.68%

0.65%
0.38%

0%
0%
0%
0%

32.72%
0%

ACQUISITIONS, ENCUMbRANCES, OR TERMINATION OF OWNERSHIP OF SHARES ISSUED bY INAPA - INVESTIMENTOS, 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers & Associados, SROC, Lda, represented by  
Ricardo Filipe de Frias Pinheiro  - Current Auditor  
José Manuel Henriques Bernardo, Substitute Auditor

EUROS QUANTITY VOTING RIGHTS

0
0

0
0
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PARTICIPAÇÕES E GESTÃO, SA bETWEEN 1 JANUARY 2009 AND 31 DECEMbER 2009

Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha
shares held by person or entity contemplated in art. no. 447: 

05.01
02.03
28.07

DATE QUANTITY MEANSPRICE

20,000
500,000
500,000

€ 1.00
€ 0.28
€ 0.90

Purchase / transaction outside the Stock Exchange
Sale / transaction outside the Stock Exchange

Purchase / transaction outside the Stock Exchange

Sagritávora - Sociedade Agrícola da Quinta do Távora, SA 
Sociedade Agrícola da Quinta dos Buxeiros, Lda

02.03
28.07

DATE QUANTITY MEANSPRICE

 500,000
500,000

€ 0.28
€ 0.90

Purchase / transaction outside the Stock Exchange 
Sale / transaction outside of Stock Exchange

Information referred to in art. 448 of the Commercial Company Code and no. 16 CVM

05.01

DATE QUANTITY MEANSPRICE

20,000 € 1.00 Sale / transaction outside the Stock Exchange

Shareholders of attributed shares on 31 December 2009

Parpública - Participações Públicas SGPS,SA

Share attributable to Millennium BCP
(art. 20 of CVM)

Banco Comercial Português, SA

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP

Banco Millennium BCP Investimento,SA

Jorge Augusto Martins Fazendeiro

Equity

Shares held by a person or entity contemplated in 
art. no. 447

NO. OF SHARES % VOTING RIGHTS% OF CAPITAL

49,084,738 

27,391,047

10,315,846

16,521,635

553,566

3,083,851

3,033,851

50,000

32.72%

18.26%

6.88%

11.01%

0.37%

2.06%

2.02%

0.03%

32.72%

18.26%

6.88%

11.01%

0.37%

2.06%

2.02%

0.03%
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Auditor report And
 legAl certificAtion 

of the individuAl
 Accounts

The sale and distribution of 
office papers, represents about 
25% of total turnover of the Group. 
Customers are all type of entities 
that have particular needs and 
service level rather demanding. 

For them, Inapa developed one 
stop shop philosophy, creating a 
single point of contact supplying 

not only paper but also a full range 
of office supplies.

Through its pan-European office 
paper brand -  Inapa Tecno, the 
Group also offers a variety of toners 
and inks with a performance similar 
to that of original products.
 

OffiCE 
SUPPLiES
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report of the 
Auditors for

 stAtutory And 
stock exchAnge 

regulAtory 
purposes in

 respect of the 
individuAl
finAnciAl 

informAtion

 ‘05

iNTROdUCTiON
1.
As required by law, we present the report of the Auditors for statutory and stock exchange 
Regulatory Purposes in respect of the financial information included in the Report of the Board 
of Directors and in the attached financial statements of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA, comprising the balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 (which shows total assets 
of €368,736 thousand and a total shareholder’s equity of €152,565 thousand, including a 
net profit of €1.074 thousand), the income statements by nature and by functions, the cash 
flow statement for the year then ended and the corresponding notes to the accounts.

RESPONSibiLiTiES
2.
It is the responsibility of the company’s Board of Directors (i) to prepare the Report of the 
Board of Directors and the financial statements which present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company, the results of its operations and cash flows; (ii) to 
prepare the historic financial information in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in Portugal while also meeting the principles of completeness, truthfulness, accuracy, 
clarity, objectivity and lawfulness, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code; (iii) 
to adopt appropriate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain an adequate system 
of internal control; and (v) the disclosure of any relevant matters which have influenced the 
activity and the financial position or results of the company.

3. 
Our responsibility is to verify the financial information included in the financial statements 
referred to above, particularly as to whether it is complete, truthful, accurate, clear, objective 
and lawful, as required by the portuguese securities market code, for the purpose of 
expressing an independent and professional opinion on that financial information, based 
on our audit.
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SCOPE 
4. 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with the standards and technical 
Recommendations approved by the Institute 
of statutory Auditors which require that we 
plan and perform the examination to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. Accordingly, our examination 
included: (i) verification, on a test basis, 
of the evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, 
and assessing the reasonableness of 
the estimates, based on the judgements 
and criteria of Management used in the 
preparation of the financial statements; 
(ii) assessing the appropriateness of the 
accounting principles used and their 
disclosure, as applicable; (iii) assessing the 
applicability of the going concern basis 
of accounting; (iv) assessing the overall 
presentation of the financial statements; and 
(v) assessing the completeness, truthfulness, 
accuracy, clarity, objectivity and lawfulness 
of the financial information.

5. 
Our audit also covered the verification 
that the financial information included in 
the Report of the Board of Directors is in 
agreement with the financial statements.

6. 
We believe that our examination provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPiNiON
7. 
In our opinion, the financial statements 
referred to above, present fairly in all 
material respects, the financial position 
of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA as at December 31, 2009, the 
results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in 
portugal, derogated by the application of 
international financial reporting standards, 
as mentioned in Note 1 of the notes to the 

accounts and duly comply with principles of 
completeness, truthfulness, accuracy, clarity, 
objectivity and lawfulness.

EmPhASiS
8.
Without qualifying our opinion in the pre-
vious paragraph, we draw attention that, 
as mentioned in Note 51 of the notes to 
the accounts, Papelaria Fernandes – Indús-
tria e Comércio, SA has raised in 2007 
against Inapa – Investimentos, Participações 
e gestão, sA a legal proceedings, related 
to events occurred in previous years.  Inapa 
– Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, 
SA considered that they do not have any 
relevant liability with Papelaria Fernandes 
– Indústria e Comércio, SA as a result of the 
transactions mentioned in the legal proceed-
ings raised by this company, therefore, no 
provision had been created in the financial 
statements.

Lisbon, April 16, 2010

PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados. 
sroc, lda 

Registered in the Comissão do Mercado de 
Valores Mobiliários with no. 9077

represented by:
Ricardo Filipe de Frias Pinheiro, R.O.C.
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Refilling cartridges of printing 
machines, of industrial or private 
use, prevents that polluting and 
not biodegradable products are 
deposited in Nature. 

This is another way that Inapa 
find to leave their “green mark” 
in an area of business that 
developed greatly in recent years 

in the defense of the long term 
sustainability. 

The service provided help, still, that 
consumers themselves are included 
in the best environmental practices.

OffiCE 
SUPPLiES
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consolidated 
accounts

 ‘06

ASSETS

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Investments in associates
Available for safe financial assets
Other non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Taxes to be recovered
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Discontinued operations assets

Total assets

CONSOLidATEd bALANCE ShEET AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2009 
Amounts in thousand of Euros

   NOTES            31ST dECEmbER 2009            31ST dECEmbER 2008

104,288 
137,941 

106,239 
1,594 

13,531 
18,547 
26,923 

409,063 

83,427 
210,120 

9,829 
44,636 
5,345 

353,357 

391 

762,811 
 

101,298 
138,871 
110,941 

1,104 
9,294 

18,933 
22,374 

402,815 

65,292 
174,240 

7,567 
42,135 
7,621 

296,855 

297 

699,967 

7
8
9

10
11
15
12

13
14
15
15
16

32
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ShAREhOLdER’S EQUiTY

Share capital
Treasury shares
Share issue premiums
Reserves
Retained earnings
Net profit (loss) for the year

Minority interests

Total shareholder’s equity

LiAbiLiTiES

Fixed liabilities
Loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Liabilities for deferred tax
Provisions
Employee benefits obligations
Other non-current liabilities

Total fixed liabilities

Current liabilities
Loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Suppliers
Taxes payable
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Discontinued business liabilities

Total shareholder’s equity and liabilities

CONSOLidATEd bALANCE ShEET AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2009 
Amounts in thousand of Euros

      NOTES            31ST dECEmbER 2009             31ST dECEmbER 2008

150,000
-

2,937
41,291

-46,006
1,007

149,229
1,033

 
150,262

102,733
134,770

21,622
4,583
2,932

15,744

282,384

228,922
-

59,707
11,364
30,172

330,165

 -

762,811

150,000
-

2,937
41,165

-44,753
2,165

151,514
1,033

152,547

97,610
-

18,888
825

3,075
11,443

131,841

210,070
109,244

54,012
10,642
31,611

415,579

-

699,967

18

19
19
19

21

22
22
12
23
24
25

22
22
25
25
25
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TONS

Sales and service rendered
Other income
Total Income

Cost of sales
Changes in stocks
Personal costs
Other costs

Depreciations and amortizations
Imparment in non current assets
Gains / losses of associates
Net financial function

Earnings before income and discontinued 
operations

Income tax

Net profit (loss) for the year before 
discontinued operations

Net profit (loss) for the period of discontinued operations

NET PROfiT (LOSS) fOR ThE YEAR

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Minority interest

Earnings per share of continued operations - €
Basic
Diluted

Earnings per share of discontinued operations - €
Basic
Diluted

CONSOLidATEd PROfiT & LOSS ACCOUNT fOR ThE fiNANCiAL YEAR ENdEd ON ThE 31ST dECEmbER 2009
full consolidation method - Amounts in thousand of Euros

     NOTES      31ST dECEmbER      4º TRimESTRE      31ST dECEmbER       4º TRimESTRE

  2009                                              2008               

Non audited                                     Non audited

26 
26 

27 
28 

29 

30 

31 

32

20
20

20
20 

983,661

1,052,095
25,988

1,078,083

-872,105
-

-77,938
-87,738
40,302

-6,706
-

-252
-31,890

1,454

-396

1,058

56

1,114

1,007
107

0.007 
0.007

0.000
0.000

251,198

261,475
1,016

262,491

-208,784
-

-20,555
-21,996

11,156

-1,800
-

-85
-8,509

763

-279

484

56

540

536
4

0.004
0.004 

0.000
0.000

887,361

946,294
24,539

970,833

-777,583
-

-77,425
-85,825
29,999

-6,291
-

-80
-18,710

4,919

-2,651

2,267

-

2,267

2,165
102

0.014 
0.014 

0.000
0.000

225,626

237,751
6,570

244,321

-193,416
-

-20,223
-21,638

9,044

-1,822
-

3
-3,837

3,389

-1,721

1,668

-

1,668

1,668
-

0.011
0.011

0.000
0.000
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NET PROfiT bEfORE miNORiTY iNTERESTS 

Fair value of the financial investments available for sale
FX differences

Earnings recognized directly in Shareholders Equity 

Total Earnings and costs recognized in the fiscal year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Minority interest

CONSOLidATEd fULL EARNiNgS STATEmENT fOR ThE fiNANCiAL YEAR ENdEd ON ThE 31ST dECEmbER 2009
 Amounts in thousand of Euros

      31ST dECEmbER        4º QUARTER      31ST dECEmbER         4º QUARTER

  2009                                                 2008               

Non audited                                       Non audited

1,114

-
1,499

1,499

2,613

2,506
107

2,613

540

-
917

917

1,457

1,453
4

1,457

2,267

-75
303

228

2,495

2,393
102

2,495

1,668

-
331

331

1,999

1,999
-

1,999
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CASh-fLOw gENERATEd fROm OPERATiNg ACTiviTiES

Cash receipts from customers  
Cash payments to suppliers  
Cash payments to staff 
Net cash from operating activities
Income taxes paid
Income taxes received
Other proceeds relating to operating activity
Other payments relating to operating activity
Cash-flow before extraordinary items
Recebimentos relacionados com rubricas extraordinárias
Pagamentos relacionados com rubricas extraordinárias
Net cash generated from operating activities

CASh-fLOw fROm iNvESTiNg ACTiviTiES

Proceeds from:
Financial investments
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Interest & similar income
Dividends
Advances for expenditure on behalf of third parties

Payments in respect of:
Financial investments
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Advances for expenditure on behalf of third parties
Loans granted

Net cash used in investing activities

CASh-fLOw fROm fiNANCiNg ACTiviTiES

Proceeds from:
Loans obtained
Issue of share capital, repayments, issue premiums
Treasury placements

Payments in respect of:
Loans obtained
Amortization of leasing contracts
Interest & similar expenses
Dividends
Treasury placements

Net cash used in financing activities

Variation of cash & cash equivalents
Effect off of exchange differences

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period

CONSOLidATEd CASh-fLOw STATEmENT fOR ThE YEAR ENdEd AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2009
Amounts in thousAnd of Euros - full consolidAtion mEthod

     NOTES      31ST dECEmbER       4º  QUARTER       31ST dECEmbER       4º  QUARTER

  2009                                                 2008               

10

  |1|
  
  
  

  

  |2|
  

 |3|
  

|4| = |1| + |2| +|3|
 

1,121,418
-945,115
-83,596
92,707
-1,388

528
81,780

-144,183
29,444

-
-

29,444

650
4,138

4
6,140

-
150

11,082

-8,227
-2,798
-1,264

-
-3,200
-15,489
-4,407

119,046
618

-
119,665

-198,892
-1,264

-33,933
-
-

-234,089
-114,424

-89,386
1,746

-87,641
-7,076

-94,717
-87,641

278,663
-239,646

-19,837
19,181
-530

29
16,405
-42,693

-7,609
-
-

-7,609

-
344

4
918

-
150

1,416

-1,418
-376
-618

-
-3,200
-5,613

-4,196

53,166
618

-
53,784

-60,462
-106

-10,508
-
-

-71,076
-17,291

-29,096
1,775

-27,321
-

-27,321
-27,321

1,018,103
-805,215

-73,878
139,010

-694
96

77,339
-133,754

81,997
-
-

81,997

4,067
358

2
1,413

-
-

5,839

-3,634
-1642
-4,145

-
-799

-10,220
-4,381

40,906
5
-

40,911

-85,248
-2,390

-21,784
-
-

-109,422
-68,511

9,105
31

9,136
-94,717
-85,581
9,136

286,210
-201,945
-21,826
62,439

-
88

22,443
-61,503
23,467

-
-

23,467

4,067
17
1

739
-
-

4,824

-704
-277

-1,928
57

-744
-3,597
1,227

15,787
5
-

15,792

-49,007
-984

-8,453
-
-

-58,443
-42,652

-17,958
-5

-17,963
-

-17,963
-17,963
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STATEmENT Of EQUiTY fOR ThE fiNAL YEAR ENdEd AS AT dECEmbER 31ST 2009 ANd 2008
Amounts in thousand of Euros - full consolidation method

ATTRibUTAbLE TO EQUiTY

 CAPiTAL     OwN 
ShARES

ShARE 
iSSUE

PREmiUmS

fOREigN 
ExChANgE 

AdjUSTmENTS

RETAiNEd  
EARNiNg ANd 

RESERvES

TOTAL miNORiTY
iNTEREST

TOTAL
EQUiTY

bALANCE ON ThE 1ST jANUARY 2008

Total earnings and costs recognized 
in the period
Dividends
Changes to the consolidation perimeter

Net profit/loss for the year

Total profits and losses for the year

Balance of 31st December 2008

bALANCE ON ThE 31ST jANUARY 2009

Total earnings and costs recognized 
in the period
Dividends
Other changes

Net profit/loss for the year

Total profits and losses for the year

Balance of 31st December 2009

148,121

1,499
-102
-375

5
1,027

1,114

2,141

150,262

150,262

228
-159
-51
18

2,267

2,285

152,547

1,318

-
-102
-290

-
-392

107

-285

1,033

1,033

-
-102

-
-102
102

-

1,033

146,803

1,499
-

-85
5

1,419
1,007

2,426

149,229

149,229

228
-57
-51

120
2,165

2,285

151,514

-5,871

-
-

-85
5

-80
1,007

927

-4,944

-4,944

-75
-57
-51

-183
2,165

1,982

-2,962

-263

1,499
-
-
-

1,499
-

1,499

1,236

1,236

303
-
-

303
-

303

1,539

2,937

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

2,937

2,937

-
-
-
-
-

-

2,937

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

-

-
-
-
-
-

-

-

150,000

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

150,000

150,000

-
-
-
-
-

-

150,000
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Notes oN the 
coNsolidated

fiNaNcial 
statemeNts

The supply of packaging 
materials is Inapa’s most signi-
ficant complementary business, 
contributing an income of 29.8 
million Euros. Two German com-
panies, HTL Verpackung and 
Hennessen Potthoff, and the French 
Carton Service carry out supply.

It is a diversified market, including 
cardboard boxes, plastic bags, 
adhesive tapes, archive boxes, 
pallets and other equipment 
and materials. In parallel with 
this, Inapa develops exclusive 
packaging technologies and 
concepts. It is planned to develop 
this business, which has interesting 
synergies with supply.

PACKAGING
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Notes oN the 
coNsolidated 

fiNaNcial 
statemeNts 

 ‘07

Note 1
INTRODUCTION 

Inapa-Investimentos, Participações 
e Gestão, S.A. (inapa - iPG) is the parent 
company of the inapa Group, with the 
business purpose of owning and managing 
movable and fixed assets, holding shares 
in other companies, exploiting its own 
and third-party commercial and industrial 
establishments and providing support to 
companies in which it is a shareholder. 
Inapa - IPG is listed on the Euronext Lisbon 
stock exchange. 

Registered Office Rua Castilho 44, 3rd 
1250-071 lisbon, Portugal 
share capital: 150,000,000 euros 
NIPC (Corporate Tax Identification Number) 
500 137 994 

the Group includes a sub-holding (Gestinapa 
- sGPs, sa) that holds the investments related 
to supply. 
 
as a result of its development and 
internationalisation plan, the inapa Group 
holds shares in the supply sector in various 
European countries, specifically (i) Inapa 
deutschland, Gmbh headquartered in 
Germany, which has a stake in Papier Union, 
Gmbh, which in turn holds shares in inapa 
Packaging, Gmbh, inapa Visualcom, Gmbh 
and Pmf-factoring, Gmbh, headquartered 
in the same country, (ii) inapa france, sa 
and subsidiary companies, operating in 
France and Belux, (iii) Inapa Suisse, a 
subsidiary controlled directly and indirectly 
through inapa deutschland, Gmbh, which 
operates in the swiss market, (iv) inapa 

foR the YeaR eNdiNG 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
values expressed in thousands
of Euros, except where explicitly 
stated otherwise.
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Portugal - distribuição de Papel, sa, the 
Portuguese company in the Group, (v) inapa 
espana distribuicion ibérico, sa, operating 
in spain, which has a stake in surpapel, 
sl (a company that markets paper) and (vi) 
in two companies located in the United 
Kingdom - inapa merchants holding, ltd, 
which has a holding in tavistock Paper 
sales, ltd, a niche company. the subsidiary 
inapa Packaging, Gmbh, in turn has 
two companies for marketing packaging 
material, hennessen & Potthoff, Gmbh and 
htl - Verpackung, Gmbh. 

At the end of 2009, a company based 
in angola, inapa angola - distribuição 
de Papel, sa, began operating. this is 
a subsidiary of inapa Portugal, sa. in 
addition, the company edições inapa, lda, 
was established in November 2009. 

These consolidated financial statements 
were approved by the inapa -iPG Board of 
Directors on 24 February 2010. 

Note 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

the main accounting policies used in 
preparing the consolidated financial 
statements are described below. these 
policies were applied consistently in all of 
the given periods, unless otherwise stated. 

2.1_basis for 
presentation
The consolidated financial statements for the 
inapa Group are prepared in accordance 
with the international financial Reporting 
standards (ias/ifRs) issued by the 
international accounting standards Board 
(iasB) and with the interpretations issued 
by the international financial interpretations 
committee (ifRic) or by the earlier standing 
interpretations committee (sic), as adopted 
by the European Union and in force on 31 
December 2009. 

The Inapa consolidated financial statements 
are prepared assuming the continuity of 
operations, from the financial books and 
records of the companies that make up the 
Group, which are listed in Note 36. 

Preparing the consolidated financial state-
ments demands the use of estimates and 
judgements regarding the application of the 
Group’s accounting policies. the principal 
assertions, where a greater degree of 
judgement or complexity is involved, and the 
more significant assumptions and estimates 
used for preparing the consolidated financial 
statements are described in Note 5. 

2.2_basis for 
consolidation
Holdings in subsidiary companies 

the Group’s holdings in companies that, 
directly or indirectly, give it the power 
to control their financial and operational 
policies, usually represented by holding more 
than 50% of the (subsidiary) voting shares, 
were included in the attached financial 
statements using the full consolidation 
method (Note 36). The equity and the net 
profit of companies where there is third-party 
participation are given under the heading 
minority interests on the consolidated 
balance sheet and on the consolidated 
income statement. 

the subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidation from the date on which 
control was acquired until the date on which 
this effectively ends. 

accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries 
is carried out using the purchase method, 
where the assets and liabilities of each 
subsidiary on the date of acquisition are 
identified at their fair value, in accordance 
with IFRS 3. Any surplus/(deficit) in the 
acquisition cost in comparison with the 
fair value of the net assets and liabilities is 
recognised as the consolidation difference 
(Goodwill), which is described in Note 8, 
and in the case of a deficit, if the fair value 
is maintained after reviewing the valuation, 
in the income statement for the period. the 
minority shareholder interests are given by 
the respective proportion of the fair value of 
the identified assets and liabilities. 

Whenever necessary, the financial statements 
of the subsidiaries are adjusted to bring them 
into line with the Group’s current accounting 
policies. inter-company transactions, 
balances and dividends distributed between 

Group companies and unrealised gains are 
eliminated during the consolidation process. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless 
they cannot be recouped due to evidence 
of impairment. 

Holdings in associated companies

Holdings in companies where Inapa exercises 
significant influence, directly or indirectly, 
but does not have control, generally where 
holdings represent between 20% to 50% of 
the (associated company) voting shares, are 
accounted for by the equity method. 

in accordance with the equity method, the 
holdings are recorded at their acquisition 
cost, adjusted by an amount corresponding 
to the Group’s share of variations in the 
equity of the associates (including net profit 
or loss) and by the dividends received. the 
variation in associate equity resulting from 
net profit or loss is recorded against the 
losses and gains for the period. 

Positive differences between the acquisition 
cost and the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of an associate on 
the date of acquisition are recognised as 
Goodwill and are included in the value of 
the investment in the associates (Note 10). 
if these differences are negative, they are 
recorded as revenue for the period in the line 
Gains/(losses) in associated companies. 
 
the investments in associated companies 
are evaluated if there are indications that 
there may be impairment of the asset and 
any impairment losses found to exist are 
recorded as a cost. When impairment losses 
recognised in earlier years cease to exist, 
they are reversed, unless they correspond to 
Goodwill. 

When the participation of the Group in the 
losses of an associate equals or exceeds 
its investment in the associate, including 
receivables not covered by guarantees, the 
Group stops recording additional losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments in the name of the associate. 

Whenever necessary, adjustments are made 
to the financial statements of the associates 
to bring them into line with the Group’s 
current accounting policies. the balances 
and dividends distributed between the 
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companies of the Group and the associates, 
as well as the unrealised gains from inter-
company transactions, are eliminated in 
the consolidation process, to the extent 
of the Group’s holding in the associate. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless 
they cannot be recovered due to evidence 
of impairment. 

the investments in associates are described 
in Note 10.

2.3_goodwill (consolidation 
differences)
consolidation differences correspond to 
the difference between the acquisition cost 
of the investments in the companies of the 
Group and the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities (including contingent 
liabilities) of these companies on the date 
of their acquisition. Goodwill is recorded 
in the reporting currency of the subsidiary 
and converted to the reporting currency of 
the Group (Euro) at the exchange rate in 
force on the date of the Group’s financial 
statements. Exchange differences arising 
from this conversion are recorded in currency 
translation reserve. 

the consolidation differences are not 
amortised as annual impairment tests are 
conducted and, whenever the value of the 
consolidation differences is greater than 
the recoverable amount, this is recognised 
as an impairment loss and recorded on the 
income statement. these impairment losses 
cannot be reversed. 

2.4_currency conversion
The financial statements of each of the 
companies in the Group are prepared in their 
functional currency, defined as the currency 
of the economic environment where they 
operate. the Group’s functional and reporting  
currency is the euro. 

all of the monetary assets and liabilities 
expressed in foreign currency are converted to 
the functional currency at the exchange rate 
in force on the date of the balance sheet. 
foreign currency transactions are converted at 
the rate in force on the date of each operation. 
the differences resulting from this conversion  

are recorded on the income statement. 

the following criteria are used to convert the 
financial statements of the foreign companies 
included in the consolidated financial 
statements that use a functional currency 
different from the Group reporting currency: 

Assets and Liabilities: Exchange rate 
parities in force on the date of the balance 
sheet. 

Gains and Losses: Average exchange 
rate parities observed during the period. 

the differences resulting from the currency 
conversion procedure described above are 
recorded in the heading specifically for 
equity (currency translation reserve). 

The exchange rates used for converting the 
financial statements of the English and Swiss 
subsidiaries were as follows: 

Pounds Sterling Exchange Rate used for 
converting the headings in the income 
statement: Euros 1.1243. 

Pounds Sterling Exchange Rate used for 
converting the headings in the balance 
sheet: Euros 1.126.

Swiss Franc Exchange Rate used for 
converting the headings in the income 
statement: Euros 0.6634. 

Swiss Franc Exchange Rate used for 
converting the headings in the balance 
sheet: Euros 0.67404. 

2.5_intangible assets
intangible assets are recorded at their 
acquisition cost, less amortisation and 
impairment losses, and are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable they will 
produce future economic benefits for 
the Group, provided their value can be  
reliably measured. 

The heading Other intangible assets (Note 9) 
essentially consists of brand names identified 
during the acquisition of subsidiaries, 
initially recorded at their fair value. these 
are used by Papier Union, Gmbh, inapa 
france, sa and inapa Portugal, sa, and 

annual amortisation is not applied as they 
were judged to have an indefinite useful life 
and are subject to regular impairment tests, 
either conducted internally by the Group or 
based on evaluations by a specialist entity 
external to the Group. When impairment 
losses recognised in earlier periods cease to 
exist, they are reversed. 

also recorded under this heading are 
software, patents and other licences, which 
are amortised using the straight line method 
over a period varying from three to five 
years, and the cost of acquiring customer 
portfolios, which are amortised over a 
period of ten years.

2.6_tangible assets 
in accordance with the transitional 
arrangement included in ifRs 1, land 
was recorded at its fair value at the 
date of transition to ias/ifRs (1 January 
2004). The adjustments resulting from 
the land revaluations were recorded as a  
correction to equity. 

The other tangible assets acquired by 31 
December 2003 were recorded at their 
deemed cost, which corresponds to the 
acquisition cost or to the acquisition cost 
revalued in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in Portugal 
up to that date, less depreciations and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

the tangible assets acquired after 1 January 
2004 are recorded at their acquisition 
cost, less depreciations and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

depreciation commences after the assets 
are in condition for use and are imputed 
on a systematic basis over their useful life, 
which is determined by taking into account 
the Group’s planned use of the asset, its 
expected wear and tear, subject to a 
foreseeable technical obsolescence and the 
residual value attributable to the asset. the 
residual value attributable to the asset is an 
estimate based on the prevailing residual 
value, at the date of the estimate, for similar 
assets that have reached the end of their 
useful life and which have been operating 
under conditions similar to those under 
which the asset will be used. 
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depreciations are calculated using the 
straight line method, on a monthly basis, 
at the following representative rates for 
estimated useful life: 

Buildings and 
other constructions             2% - 10%
Basic equipment             7.14% - 12.5%
transport equipment           12.5% - 25%
Office equipment             10% - 33%

Expenditure on maintenance and repair that 
neither increases the useful life nor results in 
significant benefits or improvements to the 
tangible asset elements, are recorded as 
costs in the year when they occur. 

if the amount recorded is greater than 

the recoverable value of the asset, this is 
reduced to the estimated recoverable value 
by recording impairment losses. 

When the item is disposed of or sold, 
the difference between the sales receipts 
and the sum recorded for the asset are 
recognised in the income statement, under 
the other income or other costs headings. 

2.7_leases 

Assets used under a finance lease, where the 
Group substantially assumes all of the risks 
and advantages inherent to its possession of 
the leased asset, are classified as tangible 
assets and are amortised in accordance 
with the policy established by the Group 
for such assets (Notes 7 and 22). 

interest included in the value of the rent and 
the amortisation of the respective tangible 
assets are recognised as costs in the income 
statement for the year to which they relate.
leases where the Group is the lessee and 
the lessor assumes a significant part of 
the risks and benefits of ownership are 
classified as operating leases (Note 33 
a). the payments arising as these contracts 
are implemented recorded on the income 
statement during the period of the lease. 

2.8_non-current 
assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations 
Non-current assets are classified as held 
for sale if their balance sheet value is 
principally recoverable through sale and not 
through their continued use. for assets to be 
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classified in this way, in accordance with 
ifRs 5, they must be available for immediate 
sale in their current condition, the sale has 
to be highly probable and the Board of 
directors has to have committed to make 
the sale within a period of 12 months. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
are recorded at their acquisition value or at 
their fair value, whichever is smaller, less the 
expected costs of the sale.

the liquidation value of assets and liabilities 
relating to discontinued operations appear 
under their own heading on the consolidated 
balance sheet assets and liabilities, 
respectively, and the income for the period 
of these operations is recorded separately 
on the consolidated income statement.

2.9_financial assets 
The Group classifies financial assets as 
follows (excluding financial investments in 
subsidiaries and in associates): 

Investments held until maturity: 

Non-derivative financial assets, with 
fixed or variable repayments, with 
fixed maturity and which the Board 
of directors intends to retain until their 
respective maturity dates; 

Investments recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss:  

financial assets which are held for 
short-term purposes, including financial 
assets held for trading and derived 
instruments not involved in hedging. 
the assets and liabilities are measured 
at fair value through profit or loss;

Loans and receivables: 

Non-derivative financial assets, with 
fixed or determined payments, which 
are not quoted in an active market. the 
balances related to these assets are 
recorded on the consolidated balance 
sheet under customers, other current 

and non-current assets and cash and 
cash equivalent;

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Non-derivative financial assets consi-
dered available for sale or which do not 
fit in any of the preceding categories. 

investments held to maturity, loans and 
receivables are classified as non-current 
assets, unless they will mature within 
12 months of the date of the balance 
sheet.  investments registered at fair value 
through profit or loss are classified as  
current investments. 

investments and disinvestments are 
recognised on the trade date regardless of 
the settlement date. 

financial assets are initially recorded using 
their acquisition value, which corresponds 
to their fair value on that date, and includes 
transaction costs, with the exception of held-
to-maturity investments, which are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective  
interest method. 

after initial recognition, the investments 
recorded at fair value through profit or 
loss and the available-for-sale investments 
are revalued for their fair values, with 
reference to their market value at the date 
of closing the balance sheet. available-
for-sale financial assets representing share 
capital in unlisted companies, where 
it is impossible to determine their fair 
value, are recorded at the acquisition 
cost, taking any impairment losses into 
account. Gains and losses arising from 
an alteration in the fair value of available-
for-sale investments are recorded under 
equity until the investment is sold, matures 
or is otherwise liquidated, at which time 
the accumulated gain or loss that was 
recorded under equity is moved to the 
income statement. in situations in which 
the fair value of the investment is less 
than its acquisition cost and this situation 
is considered to be a permanent loss 
(impairment), the loss is recorded on the 
income statement and the sum recorded 
under equity is removed. 
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2.10_financial liabilities 
IAS 39 provides for two classifications for 
financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss: 

financial liabilities held for the purpose 
of selling in the short term, including 
financial liabilities held for trading and 
derivative instruments not involved in 
hedging. the liabilities are measured 
at fair value through profit and  
loss; and 

Other financial liabilities: 

Non-derivative financial liabilities, with 
fixed or determined payments, which 
are not quoted in an active market.

Other financial liabilities include 
Loans (Note 2.19) and Suppliers and 
other receivables (Note 2.23). These 
liabilities are initially recognised at fair 
value and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost in accordance with 
the effective interest rate. 

financial liabilities are derecognised 
when the specified obligations are either 
discharged, cancelled or expire. 

2.11_securitisation of 
customer balances 
In accordance with IAS 39, customer 
balances subject to securitisation contracts 
are only derecognised if the following 
conditions are met simultaneously: 

the right to receive the remuneration 
underlying the asset has been 
transferred;

a substantial part of the associated 
benefits of the asset has not been 
retained;

control over the operations has been 
transferred. 

the Group only derecognises customer 
balances and other receivables (removed 
from the asset) when it has substantially 
transferred the associated risks and 
benefits from holding those assets, as set  
out above.

the pending receivables are included under 
customers and the funds received from 
securitisation are recorded under financial 
instruments associated with financial assets 
(Notes 22 and 38). 

2.12_asset impairment
an evaluation is conducted of asset 
impairment at the date on which the 
balance sheet is closed and whenever a 
change in circumstances indicates that 
the sum recorded for an asset cannot be 
recovered (Note 17). the non-current assets 
that are not amortised as they do not have 
a finite useful life are subjected to periodic 
impairment tests.

Whenever the carrying value of an asset 
is shown to be greater than its recoverable 
value, an impairment loss/provision is 
recognised and recorded on the income 
statement, or the asset is revalued and the 
revaluation recorded under equity. the 
recoverable value is either the fair value of 
an asset less the cost of selling it, or its 
value in use, whichever is the higher. 

an impairment loss recognised in preceding 
years is reversed when the reasons for 
recording the loss no longer exist (with 
the exception of Goodwill). The reversal 
is recorded on the income statement, 
unless the asset has been revalued and 
the revaluation was recorded under equity, 
having been reduced by the impairment 
loss. 

2.13_inventories
merchandise, maintenance and repair 
materials, and packing materials are 
valued at either the net realisable value or 
the acquisition cost, including necessary 

expenditure on storage, whichever is the 
lower. the Group uses the weighted average 
cost method for costing goods sold. 

2.14_third party debts  
third party debts are recorded at their 
nominal value less any impairment losses, 
recognised under other costs - impairment 
of current assets, so these reflect their net 
current realisable value. 

customer balances securitised by 
discounted bills and pending at the date of 
the balance sheet, are recognised on the 
Group financial statements until these have 
been received. 

2.15_factoring
As described in Note 36, one of the 
Group’s subsidiaries, headquartered in 
Germany, carries out factoring. as a result 
of factoring, the sum to be received from 
customers includes the advances made 
during factoring with recourse and the 
values of invoices transferred for collection 
without recourse, where the intention is 
not short-term sale, these being recorded 
on the date the surrendered invoices are 
accepted by the participating entities. to 
offset this, an entry is made under other 
current liabilities. 

the Group makes contractual advances on 
the value of credits taken during factoring. 
the amount advanced to the participating 
entities is net of commissions and interest,  
if applicable. 

2.16_cash and cash 
equivalents 
the heading cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash, bank deposits and other 
short-term investments maturing in less 
than 3 months, which can be immediately 
mobilised without significant risks of 
fluctuation in value. For the purposes of 
the cash flow statement, this heading 
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also includes bank overdrafts, which are 
given on the balance sheet, under current 
liabilities and under loans. 

2.17_equity and own 
shares
the costs directly attributable to issuing 
new shares are given as a deduction, 
net of taxes, from the amount received 
as a result of the issue and are recorded  
under equity. 

own shares are accounted for by their 
acquisition value as a reduction to the 
equity. the gains and losses inherent 
in the sale of own shares are recorded  
under equity.
 

2.18_dividends
dividends are recorded as liabilities in the 
period in which their distribution is approved 
by the shareholders of inapa - iPG until the 
date of payment. 

2.19_loans 
loans are initially recorded under liabilities 
at their nominal value, net of issuing 
costs, and subsequently at the amortised 
cost. financial costs are calculated in 
accordance with the effective interest rate, 
including premiums, and accounted for in 
the income statement in accordance with 
the accruals basis of accounting and added 
to the current liabilities, if they are not paid  
during the period. 

Loans are classified under current liabilities, 
unless the Group has the unconditional right 
to defer the reimbursement of the loan for a 
period of not less than 12 months counting 
from the date of the balance sheet. 

2.20_income tax 
OIncome tax includes current taxes and 
deferred taxes. 

inapa - iPG and its subsidiaries head-

quartered in Portugal are liable to corporate 
Income Tax (IRC - Imposto sobre o 
Rendimento de Pessoas colectivos), through 
the special tax regime for groups consisting 
of companies where the holding is 90% 
or more and which meet the requirements 
of articles 63 and after of the IRC Code. 
inapa - iPG, as the parent company, is 
responsible for calculating the Group’s 
taxable profit, through the algebraic sum of 
the taxable profits and the tax losses on the 
income statements of each of the subsidiary 
companies belonging to the Group. the 
foreign subsidiaries of the company are 
taxed in accordance with the tax regimes in 
force in their respective countries of origin. 

Deferred tax situations are recognised 
in the accounts, when relevant. the 
recognised deferred taxes correspond to 
temporary differences between the sums 
of assets and liabilities for the purposes of 
the financial report and the respective sums 
for tax purposes. Assets are recorded for 
deferred taxes when there is a reasonable 
expectation of future taxable income for 
them to be used. on the date of each 
balance sheet a reappraisal is carried out 
of the temporary differences underlying the 
assets for deferred taxes in accordance 
with the present expectation of their future 
recovery. The deferred taxes are recorded 
on the income statement, except when 
related to values that have been entered 
under equity, which implies their recognition 
in the equity. 

Income tax is recognised on the interim 
financial statements, based upon the 
estimated effective annual tax for the annual 
financial statements. 

2.21_provisions 
Provisions are recognised when, and only 
when, there is a present (legal or implicit) 
obligation from a past event, it being 
probable that resource outflow will occur 
to meet this obligation and the sum of the 
obligation can be reasonably estimated. 
Provisions are reviewed on the date of 
each balance sheet, and are adjusted so 
as to reflect the best estimate on this date 
(Note 23).

2.22_employee 
benefits
Pension plans - defined benefit plans

the subsidiaries inapa france, sa 
and Papier Union, Gmbh have taken 
responsibility for contributing to defined 
benefit pension plans for some of  
their employees. 

the obligation of inapa regarding each 
of these plans is estimated by specialised, 
independent entities, at least annually on 
the date of the balance sheet for each 
year, using the projected unit credit 
method. In accordance with IAS 19, 
the costs related to the obligations are 
recorded to the extent that the services 
are provided to the employees benefiting 
from the plans. 

As allowed by IAS 19, the Group uses 
the “corridor” method by which the 
calculated actuarial gains and losses, 
resulting from the difference between 
the assumptions used in calculating the 
estimates of the obligations and reality, 
are deferred and only recognised in the 
income statement to the extent that, at the 
start of the year, its accumulated value 
exceeds (i) 10% of the value of the funds 
allocated to meeting the obligations of 
the Group’s companies and (ii) 10% 
of the obligations for past services, 
whichever of the two is the higher.  in 
years in which the initial accumulated 
value of the actuarial gains and losses 
still not reflected in the income exceeds 
the limits given above, the initial excess 
value will be imputed to the income for 
the year as a function of the average 
number of years of work remaining for 
the employees covered by the plans. 

the calculated obligations for past 
services, less the market value of the 
funds that have been established to 
meet these obligations and the actuarial 
losses and gains, are recorded under 
Employee benefits. The income statement 
includes records of the costs of current 
services, interest, income expected 
from funds and the recognition value of 
actuarial losses and gains arising from 
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applying the “corridor” method, if the  
situation warrants. 

Pension plans - defined contribution 
plans

the subsidiaries tavistock Paper sales, 
Ltd and Inapa Suisse have a defined 
contribution plan for some of their 
employees, where a contribution to 
the plan is made annually, this being 
recorded in the income statement  
as a cost. 

Benefits on the date of retirement 

in accordance with local legislation, 
the subsidiaries inapa france, sa and 
logistipack, sa have to pay their workers 
a sum on the date of retirement based 
on the number of years of employment 
with the company. the value of this 
obligation, resulting from past services, is 
estimated, at least annually on the date 
of the balance sheet for each year, by 
specialised, independent entities using 
the projected unit credit method and is 
recorded under Employee benefits, using 
a methodology similar to the benefit 
plans described above. 

2.23_suppliers and 
other current payables 
the balances to be paid to suppliers and 
for taxes and other current liabilities are 
recorded by their nominal value, which on 
the date of initial entry corresponds to their 
fair value. 

2.24_recognition of 
income and expenses
income resulting from sales is recognised 
on the consolidated income statement 
when the associated risks and benefits 
relating to the assets are transferred to the 
purchaser and the amount of income can 
be reasonably quantified.  Income resulting 
from the provision of services is recognised 
on the consolidated income statement with 
reference to the phase of completion of 
the provision of services at the date of the 
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balance sheet. sales and provision of services 
are recognised net of tax, discounts and 
other inherent costs at their concretisation, 
by the fair value of the amount received  
or receivable. 

Group companies record their income and 
expenses in accordance with the accrual 
basis of accounting, in which the income 
and expenses are recognised as they arise, 
independently of when they are received or 
paid. the difference between the amounts 
received or paid and the corresponding 
income and expenses are recorded 
under customers, other current assets, 
and suppliers and other current liabilities 
(Notes 14, 15 and 25).

2.25_segment report 
An operating segment is an identifiable 
component of the Group that performs 
business activities and whose financial 
information is used in the Group management 
decision making process. 

The Group has identified four operating 
segments: paper supply, packaging, 
factoring and visual communication. Note 
6 gives the financial information relating 
to the various operating segments. Paper 
supply is performed in all of the countries 
where the Group is present. Packaging 
is performed in france and Germany. 
factoring and visual communication are 
performed in Germany. 

2.26_contingent assets 
and liabilities
contingent liabilities in which a possible 
outflow of funds affecting future economic 
benefits is unlikely are not recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements, being 
included in the annex (see Note 34), unless 
the possibility of achieving the outflow of 
funds affecting future economic benefits 
is remote, in which case they are not 
included. Provisions are recognised for the 
situations satisfying the conditions set out in  
Note 2.21.

contingent assets are not recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements, 

but are given in the annex when a future  
economic benefit is likely. 

2.27_subsequent 
events
events after the date of the balance sheet 
that provide additional information about 
conditions existing at the date of the balance 
sheet are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements. Events after the date of 
the balance sheet that provide information 
about conditions that occur after the date 
of the balance sheet are given in the annex 
to the consolidated financial statements, if 
material (see Note 40). 

2.28_new standards 
and interpretations and 
amendments to standards
During the year 2009 the following 
standards came into effect following their 
publication by ifRic and their adoption by 
the european Union;

IAS 1 (revision) - Presentation of financial 
statements (from 1 January 2009) 

IAS 23 (amendment) - Borrowing costs 
(from 1 January 2009) 

IAS 32 (amendment) - Financial instruments: 
presentation and consequent amendment to 
IAS 1 - Presentation of financial statements 
(from 1 January 2009) 

ifRs 1 (amendment) - first-time adoption of 
ifRss and consequent amendment to ias 
27 - Consolidated and separate financial 
statements (from 1 January 2009) 

ifRs 2 (amendment) - share-based Payment 
(from 1 January 2009) 

ifRs 7 (amendment) - financial instruments 
-Disclosures (from 1 January 2009) 

ifRs 8 - operating segments 
(from 1 January 2009) 

IFRIC 9 (amendment) - Reassessment 
of Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39  
financial instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement (from 1 January 2009) 

IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programmes 
(from 1 January 2009) 

IFRIC 14 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit 
asset, minimum funding Requirements and 
their Interaction (from 1 January 2009) 

annual improvements to standards in 2008 
- improvements to standards IAS 16, IAS 20, 
IAS 38 and IAS 40 (from 1 January 2009) 

The present financial statements of the Group 
were not affected by these coming into 
effect. 

iasB and ifRic published new standards, 
amendments to existing standards and 
interpretations, the application of which is still 
not obligatory for the period beginning on 1 
January 2009 as they have not been adopted 
by the european Union. these standards are 
either not relevant in the context of the present 
financial statements or Inapa has opted not to 
adopt them before time. 

IAS 24 (amendment) - Related Party 
disclosures (from 1 January 2011) 

ias 27 (revision) - consolidated and 
separate financial statements 
(from July 2009) 

IAS 32 (amendment) - Financial instruments: 
presentation and consequent amendment 
to IAS 1 - Presentation of financial 
statements (from 1 february 2010) 

IAS 39 (revision) - Financial Instruments - 
Recognition and measurement 
(from 1 July 2009) 

ifRs 1 (amendment) - first time adoption 
of ifRss (from 1 January 2010) 

ifRs 2 (amendment) - Group cash-settled 
share-based Payment 
(from 1 January 2010) 

IFRS 3 (revision) - Business Combinations 
(from 1 July 2009) 

ifRs 5 (improvement 2008) - Non-current 
assets held for sale and discontinued 
Operations (from 1 July 2009) 
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IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: Classification 
and Measurement (from 1 January 2013) 

ifRic 12 - service concession arran-
gements (from 30 March 2009) 

IFRIC 14 (amendment) - IAS 19 - The Limit 
on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 
funding Requirements and their interaction 
(from 1 January 2011) 

ifRic 15 - agreements for the construction 
of Buildings (from 1 January 2010) 

IFRIC 16 - Hedges of a Net Investment in 
a Foreign Operation (from 1 July 2009) 

ifRic 17 - distributions of Non-cash assets 
to Owners (from 1 November 2009) 

ifRic 18 - transfers of assets from 
Customers (from 1 November 2009) 

IFRIC 19 - Extinguishing Financial Liabilities 
with equity instruments (from 1 July 2010) 

of the various standards, revisions and 
amendments already published by iasB 
or by ifRic given above that are not yet in 
force, only IFRS 8, IFRIC 13, IFRIC 14, the 
revision of ias 1 and the amendments to 
IFRS 1, IFRS 2, IAS 23 and IAS 32 have 
been adopted by the european Union, 
coming into effect through their publication 
in the associated Regulations. 

in addition, in the period 2008, 
improvements were introduced to various 
standards, eliminating some of the 
identified inconsistencies and harmonising 
the terminology used. the majority of the 
improvements come into effect in periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009, 
although they are still not approved by the 
european Union. the standards subject to 
improvements were: IFRS 5, IAS 1, IAS 16, 
IAS 19, IAS 20, IAS 23, IAS 27, IAS 28, 
IAS 29, IAS 31, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, 
IAS 40, IAS 41 

Nota 3
FINANCIAL 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a 

variety of financial risk factors: market risk 
(including foreign risk and risk associated 
with interest rates and prices), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The Group’s exposure to 
financial risk is essentially associated with 
customer receivables and loans obtained 
from financial entities, which give rise 
to risks derived from non-compliance 
with contract conditions and the risk of 
fluctuations in interest rates. 

financial risk is managed centrally by the 
financial department located in Portugal, 
in accordance with the policies approved 
by the Board of directors, and in direct 
cooperation with the various subsidiaries. 
Fluctuations in the financial market, 
particularly with regard to interest rates, 
are continuously analysed and measures 
taken as considered necessary to minimise 
the Group’s exposure to financial risk.

a) Market risk 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 

Variations in the exchange rate for the 
euro into other currencies, particularly the 
english pound and swiss franc, can impact 
on the financial situation of the company 
as inapa operates in the United Kingdom 
and switzerland. 

even though these markets do not 
represent more than 8.2% of Group sales, 
possible devaluations in these currencies 
against the euro could have a negative 
impact on activity, the financial situation  
and income. 

The Group also has indirect exposure to the 
Us dollar and other currencies due to the 
impact that variations in these currencies 
have on its competitiveness, as whenever 
the euro climbs against other currencies, the 
distributors based in the zone of influence of 
these currencies become more competitive 
compared to european producers, who are 
the principal suppliers of the Group. 
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5,677
222,534

9,294

237,505

416,591
94,767

511,358

-273,853

3,591
259,852

13,512

276,955

466,424
103,752

570,176

-293,221

The following table shows the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk on 31 December, based on the balance sheet values for the 
financial assets and liabilities of the Group: 

31 DECEMbER 2009 

Assets 
cash and cash equivalents 
customers and other assets 
available-for-sale assets 

Total financial assets 

Liabilities 
Loans and other financial instruments 
suppliers and other liabilities 

Total financial liabilities 

Balance sheet net financial position

31 DECEMbER 2008 

Assets
cash and cash equivalents 
customers and other assets 
available-for-sale assets 

Total financial assets 

Liabilities 
Loans and other financial instruments 
suppliers and other liabilities 

Total financial liabilities 

Balance sheet net financial position 

  EURO  POUNDS STERLING      SWISS FRANC               DóLAR *                 TOTAL

216
891

-

1,107

-
447

447

660

517
1,091

-

1,608

-
205

205

1,403

1,644
11,681

-

13,325

-
1,760

1,760

11,565

1,237
12,360

19

13,616

1
1,666

1,667

11,949

84
201

-

285

333
92

425

-140

-
-
-

-

-
-

-

-

7,621
235,307

9,294

252,222

416,924
97,066

513,990

-261,768

5,345
273,303

13,531

292,179

466,425
105,623

572,048

-279,869

* information prepared concurrently in two currencies: kwanzas and dollars. 

Change in interest rates 

The cost of the majority of the financial debt 
contracted by Inapa is indexed to variable 
reference rates, exposing Inapa to interest 
rate risk at the current time. if inapa does not 
hedge this exposure to adverse variations 
in interest rates, these variations may have 
a negative material effect on its operations, 

financial situation and income to the extent 
of the lack of hedging. however, as a way 
of managing these variations, the Group 
financial department continuously follows 
the development of the market, being ready 
to use financial instruments to minimise the 
effects of the volatility in interest rates. 

On 31 December 2009, if the reference 

interest rate used for the contracted loans 
varied by 0.1%, keeping all other variables 
constant, the annualised financial charges 
would vary by about 430 thousand Euros. 
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On 31 December 2009 the change in the financial assets and liabilities with exposure to foreign exchange rate risk because of maturity or 
the date of revision of the interest rate (Euribor 1, 3 or 6-month) is given below: 

ASSETS 

Non-current 
Available-for-sale financial assets 

Current 
cash and cash equivalents 

Total financial assets

LIAbILITIES 

Non-current 
loans 
Other liabilities – finance leases 

Current 
loans 
Financial instruments assoc. with financial assets 
Other liabilities – finance leases 

Total financial liabilities 

-

7,621

7,621

-
11,443

94,363
109,244

1,343

216,393

  TOTAL31 DECEMbER 2009 

-

-

-

22,589
-

29,527
-
-

52,116

1,628
 
 

-
 

1,628
 
 
 
 

74,706
 -
  

85,983
 -
 -

160,689

-

-

-

315
-

152
-
-

467

-

-

-

-
-

45
-
-

45

1,628

7,621

9,249

97,610
11,443

210,070
109,244

1,343

429,710

ASSETS

Non-current 
Available-for-sale financial assets 

Current 
cash and cash equivalents 

Total financial assets 

LIAbILITIES  

Non-current 
loans 
Financial instruments assoc. with financial assets 
Other liabilities – finance leases 

Current 
loans 
Other liabilities – finance leases 

Total financial liabilities 

-

5,345

5,345

-
134,770
13,402

88,659
1,096

237,927

31 DECEMbER 2008 

-

-

-

22,704
-
-

68,845
-

91,549

13,268
 
 

-
 

13,268
 
 
 
 

78,850
 -
 -
 
  

71,150
 -
 

150,000

-

-

-

530
-
-

78
-

608

-

-

-

649
-
-

190
-

839

13,268

5,345

18,613

102,733
134,770
13,402

228,922
1,096

480,924

b) Credit risk 

Inapa is exposed to risk because of the credit it provides to its customers. The Group does not have significant credit risk and has credit risk 
evaluation and monitoring policies that ensure that sales are made only to customers with an appropriate credit history. 
Whenever appropriate solutions are available for the contingencies the companies face, they hedge these risks by contracting credit 
insurance. 
 

LESS THAN 
1 MONTH 

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

1 TO 5 YEARS MORE THAN 
5 YEARS 

  TOTALLESS THAN 
1 MONTH 

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

1 TO 5 YEARS MORE THAN 
5 YEARS 
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31 DECEMbER 2009 

Assets 
cash and cash equivalents 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
customers and other assets 

Total assets 

31 DECEMbER 2008 

Assets 
cash and cash equivalents 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
customers and other assets 

Total assets 

SUPPLY OTHER bUSINESSES AND OPERATIONS TOTAL

7,120
27

199,985

207,132

5,059
73

237,129

242,261

501
9,267

35,322

45,090

286
13,458
36,174

49,918

7,621
9,294

235,307

252,222

5,345
13,531

273,303

292,179

in addition, inapa has a policy of monitoring customer accounts closely and continuously, particularly taking their age and associated risks 
into consideration and if risks are found regarding their collection, these will be recognised as an impairment loss. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk corresponds to the accounting values of the financial assets given in the following tables regarding the 
concentration of credit risk. 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the age of customer balances and the credit limit for the customer portfolio were as follows: 

185,768

8,217
5,247
9,487

208,719

13,274
 -11,873
210,120

333,778

current accounts 
Past due accounts 
  1 to 30 days 
  31 to 90 days 
  91+ days 

doubtful accounts 
impairments 
Net customer balances 

Trade credit insurance limit 

2009                                    2008

132,904

18,367
9,052

12,320
172,643

12,391
-10,794
174,240

315,286

inapa considers that it does not have risk of losses related to non-payment of past-due accounts. 

c) Concentrations of credit risk 

Concentration of financial assets by operating segment 

The table below gives Inapa’s exposure to credit risk on 31 December 2009 and 2008, in accordance with the asset balances, categorised 
by operating segment:
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Concentration of financial assets by geographical region 

The table below gives Inapa’s exposure to credit risk on 31 December 2009 and 2008, in accordance with the asset balances, categorised 
by geographical region: 

d) Liquidity risk 

Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk using two approaches: by ensuring that the medium and long-term component of its financial debt 
is appropriate to the volume of funds expected to be generated and by having credit facilities continuously available (lines in the current 
account). 

The following table analyses the Group’s remunerated financial liabilities on 31 December 2009 by applicable maturity groupings, based 
on the period remaining until contractual maturity.  The sums given in the table are undiscounted contractual cash flows. 

31 DECEMbER 2009 

Assets 
cash and cash equivalents 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
customers and other assets 

31 DECEMbER 2008 

Assets 
cash and cash equivalents 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
customers and other assets 

4,470
9,289
67,717

81,476

754
13,504
76,970

91,228

  IbERIA          FRANCE    SWITZERLAND AND GERMANY      ANGOLA         OUTROS          TOTAL 

207
5

65,931
66,413

76
5

78,907
78,988

2,575
-

97,901
100,476

3,846
19

116,871
120,736

84
-

250
334

-
-
-
-

285
-

3,508
3,793

669
3

555
1,227

7,621
9,294

235,307
252,222

5,345
13,531

273,303
292,179

-
34,817

-
5,329

40,146

-
45,791

-
8,752

54,543

122,554
210,623
112,862
13,854

459,893

136,047
236,063
146,608

19,695
538,413

31 DECEMbER 2009 

Liabilities 
Loans and financial instruments 

commercial paper 
Bank loans 
Financing assoc. with financial assets 

Other liabilities – finance leases 

31 DECEMbER 2008 

Liabilities 
Loans and financial instruments 

commercial paper 
Bank loans 
Financing assoc. with financial assets 

Other liabilities – finance leases 

705
267
307
386

1,665

46
1,685

493
479

2,703

25
21,081

585
-

21,691

823
21.361

987
6

23,177

121,824
82,481
111,970

1,157
317,432

135,178
91,435
4,439
1,447

232,499

-
71,977

-
6,982

78,959

-
75,791

140,689
9,011

225,491

  TOTALLESS THAN 
1 MONTH 

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

1 TO 5 YEARS MORE THAN 
5 YEARS 
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Note 4
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIAbILITIES 

Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet with the various categories of financial assets and liabilities it includes is detailed below:

the fair value of the assets and liabilities is equivalent to their balance sheet value. 

In 2009 and 2008 the gains and loss of the 
financial assets and liabilities break down 
as follows: 

CREDIT AND RECEIVAbLES AVAILAbLE-FOR-SALE ASSETS OTHER FINANCIAL LIAbILITIES 

-
18,933

216,375
7,621

242,929

-
-
-
-
-

-

-
18,547

254,756
5,345

278,648

-
-
-
-

-

31 DECEMbER 2009 

Assets 
available-for-sale assets 
other non-current assets 
customers and other current assets 
cash and cash equivalents 

Assets 

Liabilities 
Loans and non-current financial instruments 
other non-current liabilities 
current loans 
Financing assoc. with financial assets 
suppliers and other current liabilities 

Liabilities 

31 DECEMbER 2008 

Assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
other non-current assets 
customers and other assets 
cash and cash equivalents 

Assets 

Liabilities 
Loans and non-current financial instruments 
other non-current liabilities 
current loans 
suppliers and other current liabilities 

Liabilities 

9,294
-
-
-

9,294

-
-
-
-
-

-

13,531
-
-
-

13,531

-
-
-
-

-

 -
-
-
-

-

97,610
11,443

210,070
109,244
85,623

513,990

-
-
-
-
-

237,503
15,744

228,922
89,877

572,046

-2,042
-

110

526
1,432

-19,224
-14,840

-34,038

Gains / (losses) from loans and receivables 
Gains / (losses) from other financial liabilities 
Gains / (losses) from available-for-sale financial instruments 

interest received:   
  From available-for-sale financial assets: 
  from loans and other receivables 

interest paid:  
  From financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
  Commission, guarantee and other costs of financial liabilities 

Total net gains and losses 

2009              2008

-3,319
-

-46

465
1,292

-11,600
-9,056

-22,264
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Note 5
SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS 

The preparation of the financial statements 
was in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles, using estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and of 
income and expenses during the reporting 
year. While the estimates have been 
based on the best knowledge of the Board 
of directors regarding current events and 
operations, actual results may differ from 
these in the final analysis. It is, however, 
the conviction of the Board of directors 
that the estimates and assumptions do 
not incorporate significant risks that could 
cause material adjustments to the value of 
assets and liabilities during the course of 
the following year. 

Estimates that present a significant risk of 
producing a material adjustment in the 
accounting value of the assets and liabilities 
in the following period are given below: 

a) Estimates of impairment of Goodwill 
and brands  

the Group tests Goodwill for impairment 
annually, in accordance with the accounting 
policy given in Note 2.3. Recoverable 
values for cash flow generating units are 
determined based on calculated usage 
value.  these calculations require estimates 
to be used (Note 8). 

A figure for average sales growth was 
estimated for calculating the cash flow 
generated by cash-generating units. if this 
is 0.5% lower, with all other variables 
remaining constant, it is not necessary to 
record an impairment loss. Nor would an 
impairment loss be recorded if the discount 
rate is 0.5% higher and all other variables 
remained constant. 

similarly, impairment tests are conducted 
on the brands recorded in other intangible 
assets, where estimates were used (Note 9). 
if all other variables remain constant and 
the discount rate is 0.5% higher, it is not 
necessary to record an impairment loss.  

b) Actuarial assumptions  

The obligations for defined benefits are 
calculated based on actuarial assumptions. 
differences arising between the assumptions 
and reality may affect the financial 
statements in ways that may or may not  
be significant.  

c) Income tax 

The Group is subject to income tax in 
various jurisdictions and the tax calculation 
made by the Group is subject to review by 
various tax authorities. If the final results 
from these reviews differ from the initially 
recorded values, the differences will have 
an impact on income tax and the provisions 
for deferred taxes in the year in which such 
differences are identified. 

In addition, the assets for deferred taxes 
correspond to the value of tax losses for 
which there is an expectation of future 
recovery. A failure to recover tax losses 
or an alteration in the expectation of 
recovery in future years will have an impact 
on the income for the year in which the  
situation occurs. 

d) Doubtful accounts 

impairment losses related to doubtful 
accounts are based on an evaluation the 
Group conducts into the probability of 
recovering receivables. this evaluation 
process is subject to various estimates and 
judgements. alterations to these estimates 
may have an impact on impairment 
levels and, consequently, have an impact  
on the results. 

e) Provisions for litigation 

the Groups is involved in various on-going 
legal actions and provisions are made in 
accordance with management estimates 
whenever considered necessary, based on 
the legal opinion of the Group’s lawyers 
(Note 2.21). 

a negative decision in any on-going action 
may have an adverse effect on operations, 
the financial situation and Group results.

Note 6
REPORT bY SEGMENT

the information in the report by segment 
is presented in accordance with the 
identified operating segments: paper 
supply, packaging, factoring and visual 
communication. the three latter segments 
are grouped under other businesses. 
holdings that are not imputed to the 
identified businesses are recorded under 
other operations. 

the results, assets and liabilities for each 
segment correspond to those that are 
directly attributable and those for which 
there is reasonable basis for attribution. 
inter-segmental transfers are carried out 
at market prices and are not materially 
significant. 
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REVENUE 

External sales 
inter-segment sales 
other revenue 

Total revenue 

RESULTS 

segment results 
Operating results 
Interest expenses 
interest income 
Tax without profits 

Income from ordinary activities
Gains/ (losses) in associated companies 
income from discontinued operations 
Net consolidated income 

attributable:
  equity holders
  minority interests 

OTHER INFORMATION 

segment assets 
investment in associates 
Non-imputable Group assets 
Total consolidated assets 
segment liabilities 
Non-imputable Group liabilities 
Total consolidated liabilities 
Disbursement of fixed capital 
depreciation 
Provisions (asset impairment) 

SUPPLY    OTHER bUSINESSES      OTHER OPERATIONS  ELIM. ON CONSOLIDATION  CONSOLIDATED31 DECEMbER 2009 

The breakdown of financial information on 31 December 2009 and 2008 for operating segments is as follows:  

893,072
211

5,160

898,443

20,021
-

-9,886
3,449

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

599,986
-
-
-

234,606
-
-

6,452
5,444
4,513

44,605
4,689
1,720

51,014

2,871
-

-685
28

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

26,902
-
-
-

6,955
-
-

490
438
294

122
-

1,615

1,737

1,114
-

-13,932
5,239

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

52,937
-
-
-

9,708
-
-

900
409

-

937,799
-

8,495

946,294

23,707
23,707
-20,912
2,202
-2,651

2,347
-80

-
2,267

2,165
102

679,825
-

20,142
699,967

251,269
296,151

547,420
7,842
6,291
4,807

-
-4,900

-

-4,900

-299
-

3,591
-6,514

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
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1,006,026
197

4,952

1,011,175

29,780
-

-19,703
6,110
-425

-
-
-
-

-
-

647,970
-
-
-

250,462
-
-

2,306
6,211
3,854

38,137
2,975
1,376

42,488

2,594
-

-1,055
15
29

-
-
-
-

-
-

27,396
-
-
-

9,051
-
-

663
429
86

-
-

1,604

1,604

1,870
-

-20,760
3,020

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

58,809
-
-
-

6,794
-
-

120
67

-

1,044,163
-

7,932

1,052,095

33,595
33,595
-34,518

2,628
-396

1,310
-252

56
1,114

1,007
107

734,175
-

28,636
762,811
266,307
346,242
612,549

3,089
6,707
3,940

-
-3,172

-

-3,172

-649
-

7,000
-6,517

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

SUPPLY    OTHER bUSINESSES      OTHER OPERATIONS  ELIM. ON CONSOLIDATION  CONSOLIDATED31 DECEMbER 2009 

REVENUE 

External sales 
inter-segment sales 
other revenue 

Total revenue 

RESULTS 

segment results 
Operating results 
Interest expenses 
interest income 
Tax without profits 

Income from ordinary activities
Gains/ (losses) in associated companies 
income from discontinued operations 
Net consolidated income 

attributable:
  equity holders
  minority interests 

OTHER INFORMATION 

segment assets 
investment in associates 
Non-imputable Group assets 
Total consolidated assets 
segment liabilities 
Non-imputable Group liabilities 
Total consolidated liabilities 
Disbursement of fixed capital 
depreciation 
Provisions (asset impairment) 



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS ‘09    Notes on Individual Financial Statements  92.     

On 31 December 2009 and 2008 and the years ending on those dates, the values of 
assets located in the different markets where inapa has supply operations and the sales by 
country were as follows:

Non-current assets by geographical region 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008 the values of non-current assets by location were as follows: 

175,747
96,893
50,745

324,585
647,970

545,966
241,040
64,793

154,227
1.006,026

ASSETS             SALES              ASSETS             SALES 

Germany 
france 
Portugal 
others 

2009                                           2008

169,728
76,935
77,810

275,513
599,986

475,529
216,959
65,727

134,857
893,072

bUILDINGS 
AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

LAND    

ACQUISITION COSTS 

Balance on 1 January 2009 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations 
change in the consolidation perimeter
Balance on 31 December 2009 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATIONS 

Balance on 1 January 2009 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations 
change in the consolidation perimeter
Balance on 31 December 2009 

Net value 

27,409
-
-
-

-104
-

27,305

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

27,305

TANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS 

38,073
3

472
-261
396

-
38,683

30,060
3

1.282
-237

-5
-

31,103

7,580

bASIC
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

AND OTHERS

IN 
PROGRESS

TOTAL

98,398
-

429
-

103
-

98,930

32,358
-

2,236
-

131
-

34,725

64,205

4,374
3

84
-1,004

-7
-

3,450

3,833
2

201
-974
-43

-
3,019

431

14,181
4

772
-124
78

-
14,911

12,427
4

896
-119
23

-
13,231

1,680

533
-

34
-

-470
-

97

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

97

182,968
10

1791
-1,389

-4
-

183,376

78,678
9

4.615
-1,330

106
-

82,078

101,298

Note 7
TANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS 

During the years 2009 and 2008, the movements taking place in the value of tangible assets and the related amortisations,  
were as follows: 

16,951
52

17,003

104,288
18,547

122,835

GERMANY     FRANCE  PORTUGAL     OTHERS        TOTAL    GERMANY     FRANCE  PORTUGAL     OTHERS         TOTAL

Next tangible fixed assets 
other non-current assets 

2009                                                                                2008

42,427
63

42,490

29,172
1,157

30,329

22,452
17,653

40,105

7,247
60

7,307

101,298
18,933

120,231

30,744
1,057

31,801

44,020
84

44,104

12,573
17,354

29,927
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On 31 December 2008, the Transfers/revaluations and Change in the consolidation 
perimeter headings reflect (i) the impact of the acquisition of Complott and of consolidation 
of logistipack by the full consolidation method and (ii) the effect of the disposal of Papéis 
Carreiro Açores, which were reflected in the starting balance. 

On 31 December 2009, the gross value of tangible assets funded by finance leases reached 
15.654 million Euros (2008: 15.677 million Euros), with accumulated amortisations of 3.102 
million Euros (2008: 2.732 million Euros) and debt value of 12.816 million Euros (2008: 
14.498 million Euros). 

The net values of assets on 31 December 2009 and 2008 under the finance lease regime 
were registered as follows: 

ACQUISITION COSTS 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations
change in the consolidation perimeter
Balance on 31 December 2008

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATIONS 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations
change in the consolidation perimeter
Balance on 31 December 2008 

Net value 

28,293
-
-

-930
-

43
27,406

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

27,406

39,501
280
318

-425
-2,104

503
38,073

28,975
258

1,620
-406
-433

46
30,060

8,013

98,956
-

205
-2,593
2,104

-274
98,398

30,414
-

2,222
-1,180
658
244

32,358

66,040

5,276
3

134
-1,108

-
69

4,374

4,655
5

265
-1,053

5
-44

3,833

541

14,344
447

1,063
-1,653

-
-20

14,181

12,335
386

1,047
-1,280

-256
195

12,427

1,754

4
-

540
-9

-
-2

533

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

533

186,374
730

2,260
-6,718

-
320

182,966

76,379
649

5,154
-3,919

-26
441

78,678

104,288

2,182
10,696

67
12,945

land 
Buildings and other constructions 
transport equipment 
Total

2009                                           2008

2,182
10,341

29
12,552

bUILDINGS 
AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

LAND    TANGIbLE FIXED ASSETS bASIC
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

AND OTHERS

IN 
PROGRESS

TOTAL
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Note 8
GOODWILL

the variation in the balances recorded 
under Goodwill during the periods 2009 
and 2008 was as follows: 

GOODWILL 

1 JANUARY 2008 

acquisition value 
accumulated impairment losses 

Balance on 1 January 2008 

Movements in 2008 
Exchange differences 
increases 
impairment reversals
transfers and disposals 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 

31 DECEMbER 2008 

acquisition value
accumulated impairment losses 

Balance on 31 December 2008 

Movements in 2009 
Exchange differences 
increases 
impairment reversals
transfers and disposals 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 

31 DECEMbER 2009 

acquisition value
accumulated impairment losses 

Balance on 31 December 2009 

142,893
-11,766

131,127

-
6,814

-
-
-

137,941

149,707
-11,766

137,941

-
930

-
-
-

138,871

150,637
-11,766

138,871

When the various subsidiaries were acquired, the difference between the value of the acquisition and the fair value of the assets and liabilities 
acquired were calculated. 

The verified change in the value of Goodwill in 2009 resulted from the Complott subsidiary acquiring a visual communication business for 
the sum of 549 thousand Euros, where 58 thousand Euros was attributed to the net assets acquired. 

In addition, a correction was made to Goodwill for the packaging activity to the sum of 439 thousand Euros as a result of the concretisation 
of the conditions contained in the acquisition contract for one of the Group subsidiaries, implemented in preceding years.  

the variation in the value of Goodwill in the 2008 period resulted from acquiring the entire equity of two companies, complott and 
logistipack – carton service, headquartered in Germany and in france, which operate in the areas 
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as the subsidiaries principally perform the activity of paper supply, the Board of directors decided to treat the supply activity in its entirety as a 
group of cash-generating units, in compliance with IAS 36 and taking into consideration the direct inter-dependency of the supply operations. 
a similar approach is also applicable to the packaging activity performed in Germany. 

accordingly, the allocation of Goodwill can be broken down as follows: 

PACKAGING FACTORING VISUAL COMMUNICATION

Goodwill                                             125,112                    899                   6,385                       553                             5,922      138.871
          

SUPPLY LOGISTLPACK GERMANY PMF-FACTORING COMPLOTT TOTAL

As described in Note 2.3, the values recorded in Goodwill are tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication of a possible 
loss in value. annually the Group calculates the recoverable value of the assets and liabilities associated with the supply, packaging, factoring 
and visual communication activities by determining the value in use by means of the discounted cash flow method. 

The values from the impairment tests conducted for the purposes of the financial statement on 31 December 2009, were supported by the 
expectations of market performance as detailed in the future cash flow projections, based on medium and long-term plans approved by 
the Board of Directors that cover the period to 2014. The cash flow projections beyond the period of the plans are extrapolated, using the 
estimated growth rates given below. The growth rates used for the impairment tests do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the 
supply activity or other operations. 

The management determine the budgeted gross margin based on past performance and their expectations for market performance. The 
weighted average growth rate used is consistent with the predictions given in reports for the sector. The after-tax discount rate used is 7.2%, 
corresponding to 8.8% before tax, and reflects specific risks related to the relevant segments. 

the assumptions used as a basis for the impairment tests are as follows: 

sales growth rate 
(in perpetuity) 

eBitda margin (supply) 

Inflation rate 

After-tax discount rate 

Pre-tax discount rate 

31 DECEMbER 2009                31 DECEMbER 2008

2%

4.6%

2.5%

7.7%

9.3%

2%

4.6%

2.5%

7.2%

8.8%

COMPLOTT LOGISTIPACK TOTAL

6,024
593

5,431

acquisition value of the stake 
adjusted equity value 
Goodwill 

1,500
601
899

7,524
1,194

6,330

of visual communication and packaging, respectively. the value of Goodwill was determined as follows: 
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Note 9
OTHER INTANGIbLE ASSETS 

During the years 2009 and 2008, the movements in tangible asset and the related amortisations, were as follows: 

ACQUISITION COSTS 

Balance on 1 January 2009 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations 
change in the consolidation perimeter 

Balance on 31 December 2009 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATIONS

Balance on 1 January 2009 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations
change in the consolidation perimeter 

Balance on 31 December 2009 

Net value 

ACQUISITION COSTS 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations
change in the consolidation perimeter 

Balance on 31 December 2008 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATIONS 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
Exchange differences 
increases 
disposals 
transfers / revaluations 
change in the consolidation perimeter 

Balance on 31 December 2008 

Net value 

INDUSTRIAL 
PROPERTY AND 
OTHER RIGHTS

OTHER 
INTANGIbLE 

ASSETS 

ADVANCES TOTAL

149,616
-

3,764
-184

1,538
-

154,734

43,457
-

1,650
-37

704
-

45,774

108,960

148,612
17

1,201
-258

44
-

149,616

42,069
-

1,532
-159
-41
56

43,457

106,159

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

80
-

1,901
-
-
-

1,981

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

1,981

249
-

42
-211

-
-

80

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

80

149,696
-

5,665
-184

1,538
-

156,715

43,457
-

1,650
-37

704
-

45,774

110,941

148,861
17

1.243
-469

44
-

149,696

42,069
-

1,532
-159
-41
56

43,457

106,239

Inapa identified as intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, a set of brand names created by itself or registered when acquired with 
subsidiaries, for which there is no time limit at which they will stop generating economic benefits for the Group. 
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1,002

479

63

25

25

1,594

surpapel, sl

medialivros - actividades editoriais, sa

inapa angola - distribuição de Papel, sa

inapa logistics

inapa Vertriebsgesellschaft, Gmbh

31 DECEMbER 2009                31 DECEMbER 2008

1,008

46

-

25

25

1,104

The value of current intangible assets is subject to annual imparity tests, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 36, which resulted in an 
impairment loss of 27.464 million Euros being recorded in 2006, determining its value on 31 December 2009 and 2008 at 103.277 million 
euros. the impairment tests are either based on an evaluation conducted by a specialised, independent entity or on calculations made by the 
Group following the same methodology. 

As an external evaluation was conducted in 2008, in 2009 the Group calculated the estimated value of the brands using the discounted cash 
flow method. The assumptions used as a basis for the calculations were as follows: 

Note 10
HOLDINGS IN ASSOCIATED 
COMPANIES  

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the breakdown of investments in associated companies was as follows:

31 DECEMbER 2009 

0%
2.5%
7.2%

sales growth rate (in perpetuity) 
Inflation rate 
After-tax discount rate 

On 31 December 2009, the remainder of the value recorded in Industrial property and other rights net of amortisations, to the sum of 5.733 
million Euros (31 December 2008: 3.012 million Euros), corresponded essentially to the costs of software, patents and other licences. 

The increase found in 2009 in the Other intangible assets heading included the acquisition cost of a portfolio of clients to the sum of 1.850 
million euros, and will be amortised over a period of 10 years. 

The sum recorded in transfers and revaluations, includes the values of 1.473 million Euros and 698 thousand Euros respectively for the acquisition 
cost and accumulated amortisations resulting from the acquisition and subsequent integration of GiP – Gestão informático de Papel, lda. 
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On 31 December 2009 and in the year 
ending on that date, the financial information 
regarding the holdings recorded in holdings 
in associated companies was as follows: 

ASSETS REGISTERED
 OFFICE 

surpapel, sl

medialivros - 
actividade
editoriais, sa

Mafipa 
Netherland B.V
(megapapier)

inapa logistics

inapa Vertriebsgesells-
chaft, Gmbh

*

*

122

25

25

COMPANY EQUITY   REVENUE NET
PROFIT

% OF 
EQUITY 

HELD

SHARE OF 
RESULTS

bALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT

Poligono industrial
Guadalquivir, c/

tecnologia, 1
41120 Gelves Sevilla

campo de santa 
Clara 160, C/D

1100 lisboa

PO Box1097
3430 BB Nleuwegein

holanda

Warburgstasse, 28
20354 Hamburg 

alemanha
 

Warburgstasse, 28
20354 Hamburg 

alemanha
 

*

*

117

25

25

*

*

-

-

-

36

*

-

-

-

25%

3.9%

100%

100%

100%

9

-89

-

-

-

-80

1,008

46

-

25

25

1,104

* financial information not available on this date 

the movements that took place under 
holdings in associated companies during 
the years ending on 31 December 2009 
and 2008 were as were as follows: 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
acquisitions 
disposals 
share of results 

Balance on 31 December 2008 
acquisitions 
disposals 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 
share of results 

Closing balance on 31 December 2009 

2,077
333
-564
-252

1,594
97

-533
-63

9

1,104
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In 2009 and 2008 acquisitions included an 
increase in the equity of medialivros, sa to the 
sum of 97 thousand Euros and 270 thousand 
Euros, respectively. At the end of 2009, 38.2% 
of this company was disposed off to third 
parties, which has reduced the value by about  
91 thousand Euros. 

the remaining additions taking place in 
the year 2008 correspond to the equity of 
the company inapa angola – distribuição 
de Papel, sa, which was established 
during the year and began its operations 
at the end of 2009 and was consolidated 
using the full consolidation method  
(see Notes 36 and 37). 

Note 11
AVAILAbLE-FOR-SALE 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the 
breakdown of available-for-sale assets was 
as follows: 

5,612
7,919

13,531

BaNif - Unidades de participação em 
fundos de investimento
others

2009                                2008

1,626
7,668

9,294

the movements under available-for-sale 
assets during the years ending on 31 
December 2009 and 2008 were as 
follows: 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
acquisitions 
disposals 
changes to fair value 

Balance on 31 December 2008 

acquisitions 
disposals 
changes to fair value 

Balance on 31 December 2009 

13,421 
200 
-200
110

13,531

-
-4,126

-111

9,294
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During the year 2009, Inapa IPG, SA disposed of its holdings in BANIF – Unidades de participação em fundos de investimento resulting in 
a write down of 46 thousand Euros. 

Note 12
DEFERRED TAXES 

All situations that may significantly affect future taxes are recorded on the financial statements on 31 December 2009 and 2008. 

In 2009 and 2008, the movements in assets and liabilities due to deferred taxes were as follows: 

ASSETS FOR DEFERRED TAXES 

Allocations for taxes 
Reportable tax losses 
others 

LIAbILITIES FOR DEFERRED TAXES 

Revaluation of fixed assets 
amortisations 
others 

Net deferred taxes 

59
23,164
3,700

26,923

-9,225
-8,903
-3,494
-21,622

5,301

31-12-2009

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-5
-4,640

96
-4,549

1,203
-1,156
2,687
2,734

-1,815

54
18,524
3,796

22,374

-8,022
-10,059

-807
-18,888

3,486

ASSETS FOR DEFERRED TAXES 

Allocations for taxes 
Reportable tax losses 
others 

LIAbILITIES FOR DEFERRED TAXES

Revaluation of fixed assets 
amortisations 
others 

Net deferred taxes 

368
21,742
3,872

25,982

-9,155
-8,394
-3,531

-21,080

4,902

01-01-2008 31-12-2008

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-309
1,422

-172
941

-70
-509

37
-542

399

59
23,164
3,700

26,923

-9,225
-8,903
-3,494
-21,622

5,301

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

01-01-2009 CHANGES 
TO THE 

PERIMETER

FAIR VALUE RESERVE 
AND OTHER 

RESERVES

PROFIT FOR THE 
PERIOD

CHANGES 
TO THE 

PERIMETER

FAIR VALUE RESERVE 
AND OTHER 

RESERVES

PROFIT FOR THE 
PERIOD
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Deferred tax assets for tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will 
be a fiscal benefit, through the existence of future taxable income. The Group recognised 
deferred tax assets to the value of 18.524 million Euros regarding the tax losses that can be 
offset against future taxable profits, as given below: 

inapa france
Grupo Português
inapa distribuición ibérica (espanha)
inapa Belgique
inapa suisse
others 

COMPANY                                                                  TAX VALUE          FINAL UTILISATION DATE

9,966
2,678
3,773
1,549

287
271

18,524

ilimitado
2013 -2014
2018-2023

ilimitado
2010-2011

-
85,004
85,004

-1,577
83,427

finished and intermediate products 
merchandise 

adjustment for realisable value (Note 17) 
 
 

2009                                2008

916
65,609
66,525

-1,233
65,292

Note 13
INVENTORIES 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the Inventories consisted of the following: 

182,473
26,246
13,274
221,993
-11,873

210,120

Customers 
customers with current accounts 
customers with letters of credit
doubtful customer accounts 

accumulated impairment losses (Note 17) 
Customers - Net receivables 

2009                                2008

154,212
18,431
12,391

185,034
-10,794

174,240

Note 14
CUSTOMERS 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, Customers consisted of the following: 

No equity was allocated as a guarantee of fulfilling contractual obligations. 

During the years 2009 and 2008, the Group recognised impairment losses of 4.612 million 
Euros and 3.297 million Euros, respectively, due to an increase in customer impairment, which 
was recorded under other costs (Note 28)  
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Note 15
RECOVERAbLE TAXES 
AND OTHER ASSETS 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, Recoverable taxes consisted of the following: 

Income tax 
Value Added Tax 
Other taxes 

2009                                2008

1,955
4,817

795
7,567

6,353
3,083

393
9,829

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the balances for the headings Other current and non-current assets breakdown as follows: 

Other non-current assets 
other debtors 

Other current assets 
stockholdings and stockholders 
advances to suppliers 
other debtors 
accrued income 
deferred costs 

2009                               2008

18,933
18,933

93
2,089
11,214
27,789

950
42,135

18,547
18,547

86
264

15,783
27,538

965
44,636

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the Other non-current debtors heading included an Inapa – IPG credit of 16.7 million Euros over 
fimopriv h, sa, arising from this company acquiring shares held by inapa – iPG. inapa – iPG acknowledges that, in the future, it will utilize 
this credit to acquire the holding fimopriv h, sa has in Papier Union, Gmbh. 

On 31 December 2009 and 2009, Accrued income corresponds, fundamentally, to the allocation at the end of the year of the value to 
be received relative to revenue obtained by the Group from negotiations over purchases and bonuses, over receivables from suppliers. in 
addition, Deferred costs includes interest paid, bank costs and other specialised financial costs at the end of the year to be recognised in 
the following year.

immediately available bank deposits 
cash 
cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet 
Bank overdrafts 
Cash and cash equivalents on the cash flow statement

5,275
70

5,345
-100,062
-94,717

7,561
60

7,621
-93,202

-85,581

2009                               2008

Note 16
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents on 31 December 2009 and 2008, was as follows: 
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Note 17
IMPAIRMENTS 

During the years 2009 and 2008, movements in the recognised asset impairments were as follows 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
increases 
Utilisation 
Reversals 
Reclassifications 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 
Exchange adjustments 

Balance on 31 December 2008 

increases 
Utilisation 
Reversals 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 
Exchange adjustments 

Balance on 31 December 2009 

11,766
-
-
-
-
-
-

11,766

-
-
-
-
-

11,766

GOODWILL OTHER INTANGIbLE 
ASSETS

INVENTORIES CUSTOMERS TOTAL

27,464
-
-
-
-
-
-

27,464

-
-
-
-
-

27,464

2,049
644

-1,121
-
-

5
-

1,577

51
-396

-
-

1

1,233

13,438
3,297
-4,718

62
-292

69
17

11,873

4,612
-5,749

56
-

2

10,794

54,717
3,941

-5,839
62

-292
74
17

52,680

4,663
-6,145

56
-

3

51,257

Bank overdrafts include the credit balances in current accounts with financial institutions, included on the balance sheet under Loans 
(Note 22). 
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Note 18
EQUITY AND SHARES 

Share capital 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the 
equity was represented by 150,000,000 
ordinary shares with a nominal value of 1 
euro each. the equity was fully subscribed 
and issued. 

other than Parpública - Participações 
Públicos, sGPs, sa, which holds 
49,084,738 shares, corresponding on 31 
December to 32.72% of the equity and rights 
to vote, of Banco comercial Português, sa, 
holding 27,3910,47 shares corresponding 
to 18.26% of the equity and rights to vote (*) 
and mr. José augusto martins fazendeiro, 
holding 3,083,851 shares corresponding 
to 2.06% of the equity and rights to vote 
(* *), no other individual or company was 
recognised on the date the year was closed 

as holding 2% or more of voting rights. 

(*) the nominal shares held by the Banco 
comercial Português, sa are attributed as 
follows: 

Banco comercial Português, sa, 
10,315,846 shares corresponding to 
6.88% of the rights to vote; 

Grupo BCP Pension Fund 16,521,635 
shares corresponding to 11.01% of the 
rights to vote; 

Banco millennium BcP investimento, 
SA,  553,566 shares corresponding to 
0.37% of the rights to vote. 

 SHAREHOLDER                                                                                                                  SHARES                     %              SHARES                     %

Parpública – Participações Públicas (sGPs), sa 

fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco comercial Português

Banco comercial Português 

Cofihold, SGPS, SA 

Banco millennium BcP investimento, sa 

José augusto martins fazendeiro:

  own shareholding 

  Shares held for people or organisations under art. 447 

2009                                           2008

49,084,738

16,521,635

10,315,846

-

553,566

3,033,851

50,000

32.72%

11.01%

6.88%

0.00%

0.37%

2.02%

0.03%

49,084,738

16,521,635

10,315,846

6,494,896

553,566

3,033,851

50,000

32.72%

11.01%

6.88%

4.33%

0.37%

2.02%

0.03%

(**) the nominal shares held by mr. José 
augusto martins fazendeiro are attributed 
as follows: 

mr. José augusto martins fazendeiro, 
3,033,851 shares corresponding to 
2.02% of the rights to vote; 

albano R.N. alves - distribuição 
de Papel, sa, 50,000 shares 
corresponding to 0.03% of the rights 
to vote. 

the shareholders with holdings of 2% or 
more on 31 December 2009 and 2008, 
are summarised as follows: 

Own shares 

The Group did not hold any of its own shares on 31 December 2009 and 2008. 
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Note 19
PREMIUMS FROM SHARE ISSUES, 
RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the breakdown of Premiums for share issues, Reserves and Retained was as follows: 

Premiums from share issues 

currency translation reserve 
Revaluation reserves 
legal reserve 
other reserves 

Retained earnings 

2009                         2008

2,937

1,539
31,901
7,500

225
41,165

-44,753

2.937

1.236
32.330

7.500
225

41.291
-46.006

the Premiums from share issues correspond to 
the difference between the nominal value of 
held inapa – iPG shares and their issue value 
and cannot be distributed as dividends, 
but may be included in the equity or for  
covering losses. 

the currency translation reserve includes the 
difference in foreign exchange conversion 
for all the Group’s assets and liabilities, 
expressed in foreign currency for Euros using 
the exchange rates applying on the date of 
the balance sheet. 

the Revaluation reserves correspond to the 
value of the assets revalued on the date of 
transition to ias/ifRs. 

Business legislation requires that at least 5% 
of the net annual income is held in a legal 
reserve account until this represents at least 
20% of the equity. this reserve may not be 
distributed unless the company is liquidated, 
but may be used to absorb losses after other 
reserves are exhausted, or incorporated  
in the equity. 

In accordance with a decision taken on 29 
April 2009 by the Inapa – IPG shareholder 
meeting, the negative income in the individual 
financial statements in the period 2008 to the 
sum of 96,110.92 Euros was transferred to the 
retained earnings. 

Note 20
EARNINGS 
PER SHARE 

the basic earnings per share is calculated from the net income distributable to inapa-iPG 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation. as there were 
no diluting operations for inapa – iPG shares, the diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic 
earnings per share, as follows: 

Net income for the period in euros 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

Basic earnings per share – in euros 
diluted earnings per share – in euros 

Basic earning per share from continuing operations 
- in euros 
diluted earning per share from continuing operations 
- in euros 

Basic earning per share from discontinued operations 
- in euros 
diluted earning per share from discontinued operations 
- in euros 

2009                         2008

2,165,130

150,000,000

0.014
0.014

0.014

0.014

0.000

0.000

1,007,489

150,000,000

0.007
0.007

0.007

0.007

0.000

0.000
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Note 21
MINORITY INTERESTS 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the value of the Minority interests included under equity, refers to the following subsidiary companies: 

Papier Union
others 

 968 
 65 

 1,033 

 968 
 65 

 1,033 

Nota 22
LOANS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the breakdown of loans was as follows: 

CURRENT DEbT 
  
Bank loans   

  
  Bank overdrafts and short-term financial instruments 
  commercial paper, redeemable at its nominal value, 
  renewable, but maturing within one year 
  Medium and long-term financial instruments 
  (portion maturing within 1 year) 

Financial instruments associated with financial assets – securitisa-
tion of credits (Note 38) 

Total current debt 
 
NON-CURRENT DEbT  
  
Bank loans  
  

 Medium and long-term financial instruments   
  
Financial instruments associated with financial assets 
- securitisation of credits (Note 38)  
 
 
Total non-current debt  

2009                                         2008

93,202
111,500

5,368

210,070

109,244

319,314

97,610
97,610

-

97,610
416,924

a)
b)

c)

c)

100,062
124,000

4,860

228,922

-

228,922

102,733
102,733

134,770

237,503
466,425

2009                                         2008

a) the bank overdrafts are renewable 
annually and attract interest at the euribor 
1 or 3-month rate plus an average spread 
of 1.74 percentage points. 

b) the commercial paper debt is as 
follows:

i)  a commercial Paper Programme 

issued by inapa – iPG in 2005 with 
a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 30,000,000 Euros, to be repaid 
in 5 equal, annual payments, the first 
due in 2006 and the last in 2010. The 
maximum nominal interest rate is the 
euribor rate for the issue period plus 1.25 
percentage points. On 31 December 
2009, the value of this programme 

reached 6,000,000 Euros. Interest is 
debited on the dates of issue. 

ii)  a commercial Paper Programme 
issued by Inapa – IPG in 2009 with 
a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 15,000,000 euros, to be repaid 
in 2010. The maximum nominal 
interest rate is the euribor rate for the 
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issue period plus 2.5 percentage 
points. interest is debited on the dates  
of issue. 

iii) a commercial Paper Programme 
issued by inapa – iPG in 2005 with 
a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 29,000,000 Euros, to be repaid 
in 2010. The maximum nominal 
interest rate is the euribor rate for the 
issue period plus 0.65 percentage 
points. interest is debited on the dates  
of issue. 

iv) a commercial Paper Programme 
issued by Inapa – IPG in 2009 with 
a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 29,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 
2010. The maximum nominal interest 
rate is the euribor rate for the issue 
period plus 0.65 percentage points. 
In December 2009, the value of this 
programme reached 18,500,000 
euros. interest is debited on the dates 
of issue. 

v) a commercial Paper Programme 
issued by Inapa – IPG in 2006 with 
a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 5,000,000 euros, to be repaid 
in 2011. the nominal interest rate is 
the euribor rate for the issue period 
plus 1.3 percentage points. Interest is 
debited on the dates of issue. 

vi) a commercial Paper Programme 
issued by inapa – iPG in 2008 with a 
subscription guarantee, to the value of 
22,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 3 
annual payments, the first due in 2011 
and the last in 2013. The maximum 
nominal interest rate is the euribor rate 
for the issue period plus 1.4 percentage 
points. interest is debited on the dates 
of issue. 

vii)  a commercial Paper Programme 
issued by inapa – iPG in 2008 with 
a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 11,000,000 euros, to be repaid 
in 2013. The maximum nominal 
interest rate is the euribor rate for 
the issue period plus 1.5 percentage 
points. interest is debited on the dates  
of issue. 

viii) a commercial Paper Programme 

issued by inapa Portugal in 2005 with a subscription guarantee, to the value of 
5,000,000 euros, to be repaid in 2010. the nominal interest rate is the euribor rate 
for the issue period plus 0.25 percentage points. interest is debited on the dates  
of issue.

c) The medium and long-term financial instruments are, essentially, as follows:
 

i) Bank loans to a value of 74.7 million Euros. Interest is at the 6-month Euribor rate 
plus 1.75 percentage points. interest is debited twice yearly, in april and october. 
Loans are repaid in 10 annual payments, the first in 2009 and the last in 2018. 

ii) Bank loans to a value of 21 million Euros. Interest is at the 3-month Euribor rate 
plus 1.5 percentage points. interest is debited every quarter. the loans shall be fully 
repaid in 2013. 

iii) Bank loans to a value of 922.1 thousand Euros. Interest is at the 3-month Euribor 
rate plus 2.5 percentage points. interest is debited monthly and the capital repaid in 
equally monthly payments until 2012. 

iv) Bank loans to a value of 677 thousand Euros. Interest is at the 3-month Euribor 
rate plus 3 percentage points. Interest is debited every quarter. The loan is to be 
repaid in 6 quarterly payments, the first in September 2010 and the last in 2011 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the debit related to finance leases included in Other 
liabilities (Note 25) were as follows: 

 
  

Debt related to finance leases 
Suppliers of non-current fixed assets – finance lease 
Suppliers of current fixed assets – finance lease 

Debt related to finance leases 
income value – not discounted 

at less than 1 year 
at between 1 year and 5 years 
at more than 5 years 

Finance costs to be supported 

2009                    2008

11,443
1,373

12,816

386
8,139
5,329

13,854
-1,038

12,816

13,402
1,096

14,498

479
10,464

8,752
19,695
-5,197

14,498
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On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the 
non-current and current loans obtained 
and the obligations under finance lease 
contracts had the following repayment terms 
and periods: 

 
CURRENCY 

Bank overdrafts 
commercial paper 
loans 
Financing assoc. with financial assets 
finance lease obligations 

euro
euro
euro
euro
euro

2009

AVERAGE 
INTEREST RATE

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 YEARS

TOTAL

3.0%
4.8%
4.8%
3.0%
2.2%

93,202
111,500

5,368
109,244

1,373
320,687

-
-

64,410
-

6,294
70,704

-
-

33,200
-

5,149
38,349

93,202
111,500
102,978
109,244

12,816
429,740

 
CURRENCY 

Bank overdrafts 
Bank overdrafts 
commercial paper 
loans 
Financial instruments assoc. with financial assets 
finance lease obligations 

euro
chf
euro
euro
euro
euro

2008

AVERAGE 
INTEREST RATE

LESS THAN
 1 YEAR

1 TO 5 YEARS GREATER 
THAN 5 YEARS

TOTAL

5.7%
3.7%
6.9%
6.3%
4.9%
5.6%

100,061
1

124,000
4,860

-
1,096

230,018

-
-
-

60,856
134,770

5,933
201,559

-
-
-

41,877
-

7,469
49,346

100,061
1

124,000
107,593
134,770
14,498

480,923

On 31 December 2009, the group had about 74.8 million Euros available in unused lines of credit (31 December 2008: 38.8  
million euros). 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the net sum of the consolidated financial debt was as follows: 

 
  

loans 
  current 
  Non-current 

 
financial instruments associated with credit securitisation 
Debts from finance leases 

 
 
cash and cash equivalents 
Negotiable financial investments (listed shares) 
Available-for-sale financial investments (listed shares) 

2009                                         2008

210,070
97,610

307,680

109,244
12,816

429,740

7,621
-
-

7,621
422,119

228,922
102,733
331,655

134,770
14,498

480,923

5,345
-
-

5,345
475,578
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Note 23
PROVISIONS  
 
During the years 2009 and 2008, the 
following movements took place under 
Provisions: 

Balance on 1 January 2008 
increases 
Utilisation 
transfers 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 
Exchange adjustments 

Balance on 31 December 2008 

increases 
Utilisation 
transfers 
changes in the consolidation perimeter 
Exchange adjustments 

Balance on 31 December 2009 

776
4,238
-444

-13
26

-

4,583

461
-4,096

-123
-
-

825

the balance under this heading corresponds 
to the provisions for the risks inherent in 
litigation in ongoing legal actions. 

On 31 December 2008 the current pro-
visions included a provision of 3.8 million 
euros recorded for covering the risks 
associated with proceedings against Papier 
Union, Gmbh by the German competition 
authority (Bunderskartellamt) at a time prior 

to its acquisition by the Group. 

The sum is definitively fixed at the above 
given value and it is stressed that the sale 
and purchase contract placed responsibility 
for any penalty on the previous shareholders 
who, to guarantee the related payment, set 
up an escrow account at deutsche Bank 
(successor of Iserlohn) to the sum of 11.3 
million euros. the credit of the company 

over the previous shareholders is given 
on the same date under other debtors to 
the amount of above-mentioned penalty  
(3.8 million Euros). 

Regarding the proceedings brought against 
the company by Papelaria fernandes 
– Indústria e Comércio, SA, see Note 34 
– contingencies.
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Note 24
EMPLOYEE bENEFITS 

As explained in Note 2.22, the Group has 
implemented defined benefit pension plans 
for some of its employees. in addition, other 
types of post-employment benefits exist, as 
described below. 

bALANCES ON THE bALANCE SHEET FOR: 

Employee benefits
Contributions to pension plans - defined benefit 
Other post-employment benefits – defined benefits 
others 

EXPENDITURE IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Contributions to pension plans - defined benefit 
Other post-employment benefits – defined benefits 
Contributions to pension plans - defined contribution 

2009                                         2008

1,028
1,848

199
3,075

151
238
471

860

1,071
1,774

87
2,932

127
204
477
808

a) Defined benefits pension plans 

Companies located in Portugal 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, there were no pension plans for members or employees of the Group’s Portuguese companies. 

Inapa France, SA 

Defined benefit pension plans exist for new employees of Inapa France, which are managed by an external entity. The obligation is 
financed in part by the fair value of assets managed by an external entity (insurance company), with contributions made annually. 

Actuarial studies conducted by an independent organisation reported the following actuarial assumptions for 31 December 2009  
and 2008. 

Predicted rate of salary increase 
discount rate 
mortality table 

2009                                         2008

2.5%
5.20%

iNsee 2000-2002

2.5%
6.30%

iNsee 2000-2002
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In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 31 December 2009 and 2008, the current value of the obligation for defined pension 
plans and the corresponding accounting provision, were as follows: 

obligations for past services 
Value of fund assets 
Present value of uncovered obligations 
cost of unrecognised past services 
Net Obligations

2009                                         2008

883
47

836
-836

-

1,348
506
842
-842

-

bALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 

starting balance 
current services 
interest costs 
actuarial gains/ (losses) 
Benefits Paid 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

1,348
39
55
20

-579

883

1,289
70
68
-16
-63

1.348

ObLIGATIONS 

the movements recorded in the fund formed were as follows: 

starting balance 
contributions to the fund 
Return expected from the plan’s assets 
Actuarial (Losses)/ gains (diff. between expected and real return) 
Payments made 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

506
123

7
-10

-579

47

431
125
19
-6

-63

506

FUND 

The movements verified in the costs of unrecognised past services on the income statements were as follows: 

starting balance 
Actuarial losses/(gains) in the period not recognised in profit and loss 
Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in profit and loss 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

842
30
-36

836

858
-10
-6

842

COST OF UNRECOGNISED PAST SERVICES 

the movements recorded under obligations for past services regarding contributions to pensions and the related fund formed are  
as follows: 
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the values recognised on the income statements, are as follows: 

costs for current services 
interest costs 
Return expected from the plan’s assets 
Recognition of actuarial (gains)/losses 

Total included in Personnel costs 

2009                                         2008

39
55
-7

34

121

70
68
-19
6

125

COSTS FOR THE YEAR 

Papier Union, GmbH

Papier Union, GmbH, allocated a supplementary pension scheme (closed in 1982) to 28 of its current employees and ex-employees, active 
and retired, calculated on the basis of 0.4% of the salary earned in each year of service with the company up to a maximum of 12%. The 
obligation regarding this pension plan is not covered by any fund formed for this purpose and consequently it is recorded in its entirety on 
the Group balance sheet. 

the obligation, calculated on the basis of an actuarial study conducted by an independent organisation, for the purpose of applying the 
International Financial Reports Standard No. 19, is recognised under the balance sheet heading Employee benefits and reached, on 31 
December 2009, 1.028 million Euros (2008: 1.071 million Euros). 

Actuarial studies conducted by an independent organisation reported the following actuarial assumptions for 31 December 2009  
and 2008.

Predicted rate of salary increase 
discount rate 
Rate of growth for the pension plans 
mortality table 

2009                                         2008

2.0%
5.0%
2.0%

heubeck2005 G

2.0%
6.3%
2.0%

heubeck2005 G

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 31 December 2009 and 2008, the current value of the obligation for defined pension 
plans and the corresponding accounting provision, were as follows: 

obligations for past services 
cost of unrecognised past services 
Net obligations 

2009                                         2008

1,076
-48

1,028

998
73

1,071

bALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 

the movements recorded under obligations for past services were as follows: 

starting balance 
current services 
interest costs 
actuarial gains/ (losses) 
Benefits Paid 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

998
5

61
86
-74

1,076

1,259
13
54

-254
-74

998

ObLIGATIONS 
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the movements in the costs for past services not recognised on the income statement were as follows: 

starting balance 
Actuarial losses/(gains) in the period not recognised in profit and loss 
amortisation of actuarial losses/(gains) deferred from previous periods 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

-73
121

-

48

103
-176

-

-73

COST OF UNRECOGNISED PAST SERVICES 

the values recognised on the income statements, are as follows: 

costs for current services 
interest costs 
Recognition of actuarial (gains)/losses - curtailment 

Total included in Personnel costs 

2009                                         2008

5
61
-36

30

13
54
-65

2

COSTS FOR THE YEAR 

b) Other post-employment benefits

in accordance with local legislation, the french subsidiary is obliged to pay its workers a sum on the date of retirement based on the number 
of years of employment with the company, the profession and the salary earned at the date of retirement. the value of these obligations are 
recorded on the balance sheet on 31 December 2009 and reach about 1.543 million Euros (2008: 1.485 million Euros). 

The obligations relating to these pension benefits for services performed were determined based upon the following actuarial assumptions: 

Predicted rate of salary increase 
discount rate 
mortality table 

2009                                         2008

2.1%
5.20%

iNsee 2000-2002

2.1%
6.30%

iNsee 2000-2002

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 31 December 2009 and 2008 the current value of the obligations for defined 
pension plans and the corresponding accounting provision were as follows: 

obligations for past services 
cost of unrecognised past services 
Net obligation on the balance sheet

2009                                         2008

1,688
-145

1,543

1,457
28

1,485

bALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 
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The movements recorded under obligations for past services related to pension benefits were as follows: 

the values recognised on the income statements, are as follows: 

starting balance 
change in scope 
current services 
interest costs 
actuarial gains/ (losses) 
Benefits Paid 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

1,457
-

78
92

173
-112

1,688

1,610
-

94
84

-295
-36

1,457

ObLIGATIONS 

the movements in the costs for past services not recognised on the income statement were as follows: 

costs for current services 
interest costs 
amortisation of deferred actuarial losses/(gains) 

Total included in Personnel costs 

2009                                         2008

78
92

-

170

94
84
7

185

COSTS FOR THE PERIOD 

starting balance 
Actuarial losses/(gains) in the period not recognised in profit and loss 
amortisation of actuarial losses/(gains) deferred from previous periods 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

-28
173

-

145

275
-296

-7

-28

COST OF UNRECOGNISED PAST SERVICES 

In addition, Inapa France provides employees who have more than 20 years of service on the date of retirement with a fixed contribution 
based on their time of service, as follows: 

20 years 
30 years 
35 years 
40 years 

TIME OF SERVICE AMOUNT 

0.5 net monthly salary 
2/3 net monthly salary 

1 net monthly salary 
1 net monthly salary 
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The obligations on 31 December 2009 reached 305 thousand Euros (2008: 289 thousand Euros), registered on the balance sheet in their 
entirety. these were calculated based on the following assumptions, using the iNsee 2000-2002 mortality table and the current value of 
projected salaries, for active personnel: 

Predicted rate of salary increase 
discount rate 
mortality table 

2009                                         2008

1.5%
5.20%

iNsee 2000-2002

1.5%
6.30%

iNsee 2000-2002

The transactions recorded under obligations for past services related to pension benefits were as follows: 
 

starting balance 
current services 
interest costs 
actuarial gains/ (losses) 
Benefits Paid 

Closing Balance 

2009                                         2008

289
15
18
35
-52

305

324
18
17
-16
-54

289

ObLIGATIONS 

the values recognised on the income statements, are as follows: 

costs for current services 
interest costs 
actuarial (gains)/ losses 

Total included in Personnel costs 

2009                                         2008

15
18
35

68

18
17
-16

19

COSTS FOR THE PERIOD 

c) Defined contribution pension plans 

There are defined contribution plans at 
tavistock Paper sales, ltd, a subsidiary in 
the United Kingdom, which has a defined 
contribution plan for one of its employees, 
and at inapa switzerland. the value of 
contributions made in the period 2009 
by these subsidiaries reached 8 thousand 
Euros (2008: 7 thousand Euros) and 463 
thousand Euros (2008: 470 thousand 
euros), respectively, and both are recorded 
under Personnel costs. 
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Note 25
STATE, OTHER NON-CURRENT 
LIAbILITIES SUPPLIERS AND OTHER 
CURRENT LIAbILITIES  

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the 
state heading consisted of the following: 

Income tax (Note 31) 
Value Added Tax 
social security contributions 
 

2009                                         2008

1,049
7,772
1,821

10,642

1,162
8,285
1,917

11,364

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, Other non-current liabilities, Suppliers and Other current liabilities, consisted of the following: 

Other non-current liabilities 
other creditors 
Suppliers of fixed assets 

Suppliers 
current account 
letters of credit 
invoices received and in processing 

Other non-current liabilities 
advances from customers 
Suppliers of fixed assets 
other creditors 
increases and deferments 

2009                                         2008

-
11,443

11,443

42,193
17

11,802
54,012

973
2,011

16,566
12,061
31,611

2,342
13,402

15,744

53,060
347

6,300
59,707

1,288
1,116

16,436
11,332

30,172

 

The balances with suppliers of fixed assets are, primarily, related to finance lease contracts (Notes 7 and 22). On 31 December 2009 and 
2008, the increases and deferments breakdown was as follows: 

Personnel costs to be paid 
accrued interest 
transport costs 
marketing support 
other accrued bank charges 
interest charged to clients 
others 

2009                                         2008

6,125
1,017
1,730

905
369
54

1,861
12,061

5,038
2,119
2,110
126
347
108

1,484
11,332
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Note 26
SALES, SUPPLY 
OF SERVICES AND OTHER INCOME

Sales and provision of services for the periods ending on 31 December 2009 and 2008, break down as follows: 

supplementary liabilities 
Net discounts for prompt payment 
other income 
 

2009                                         2008

451
10,081
14,007

24,539

397
11,318

14,273
25,988

In 2009 and 2008, the balances under Other income break down as follows: 

sales of merchandise and other products 
Provision of services 

2009                                         2008

937,799
8,495

946,294

1,044,163
7,932

1,052,095

other income refers to services charged to customers, publicity, debt recovery, income for renting space, amongst others. 
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Note 27
PERSONNEL COSTS 

In 2009 and 2008, the balances under Personnel costs break down as follows: 

salaries and wages 
social security contributions 
Pension costs 
other personnel costs 

2009                                         2008

58,123
13,794

860
4,648

77,425

58,177
13,912

808
5,041

77,938

The Other personnel costs heading includes compensation for termination of work contracts, to the sum of 1.559 million Euros  
(2008: 2.435 million Euros). 

During the year the Group employed throughout the year, on average, 1,484 staff (2008: 1,489), of which 1,351 (2008: 1,359) were in 
companies headquartered in foreign countries and 5 employed as a result of new subsidiaries acquired. 

Note 28 
OTHER COSTS 

In 2009 and 2008, balances under Other costs breaks down as follows: 

Administration expenses 
Indirect taxes 
other costs 
Impairment of current assets (see Note 17 and 23) 

2009                                         2008

76,219
2,428
2,371
4,807

85,825

79,110
2,693
1,995
3,940

87,738

Note 29 
DEPRECIATION 
AND AMORTISATIONS 

In 2009 and 2008, the balances under this heading break down as follows: 

Tangible fixed assets 
intangible assets 

2009                                         2008

4,641
1,650

6,291

5,174
1,532

6,706
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Note 30 
FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 

Financial operations revenue and expenses for the years 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 

FINANCIAL REVENUE 

interest received 
Gains from disposal of investments 
Favourable exchange differences 
Other expenses and financial gains 

FINANCIAL COSTS 

interest paid 
losses from disposal of investments 
Unfavourable exchange differences 
Other costs and financial losses 

Financial income 

2009                                         2008

1,167
331
113

590
2,201

11,600
468
255

8,588
20,911

-18,710

1,754
-
-

874
2,628

19,224
-

455
14,839
34,518

-31,890

The heading Other costs and financial losses includes, amongst others, costs associated with securitisation contracts (2009: 4.977 million 
Euros, 2008: 10.261 million Euros), costs for issuing commercial paper (2009: 1.713 million Euros; 2008: 1.537 million Euros), guarantee 
commissions (2009: 685 thousand Euros; 2008: 880 thousand Euros), for finance leases (2009: 655 thousand Euros, 2008: 917 thousand 
Euros) and stamp duty (2009: 319 thousand Euros, 2008: 516 thousand Euros). 

Note 31 
INCOME TAX 

Income tax for the years ending on 31 December 2009 and 2008 breaks down as follows: 

Current taxes 
Deferred taxes (Note 12) 

2009                                         2008

-836
-1,815

-2,651

-795
399

-396

In accordance with the tax law in force in 
each country, the tax declarations of the 
companies included in the consolidation are 
subject to revision and correction on the part 
of the tax authorities over the course of a 
period, which in Portugal is four years. in the 
majority of the companies where the Group 
operates, the tax losses can be deducted to 

collect in the following periods, in Portugal 
this being for a maximum period of 6 
years and in other countries for a greater 
period, although subject to revision by tax 
authorities. 

the Group Board of directors understands 
that possible corrections may be made by 

the tax authorities as a result of inspections/
revision will not have a significant impact on 
the financial statements consolidated on 31 
December 2009. 
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The tax on Group profits before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would result from applying the weighted mean tax on profits to 
the consolidated profit as can be seen below: 

Net income before tax on profits 
Nominal average tax on profits 
Value of income tax 

Tax on obligations interest retained at source 
impact of the sale of a storage company on the Group 
Impact of the disposal of financial investments 
Permanent differences - Portugal 
Permanent differences - france 
Permanent differences – other countries 
Alterations in tax rates – opening balances 
others 

2009                                         2008

4,919
-1,475
-2,651
-1,176

-
-1,369

-
-101

-403
-20
762
-45

-1,176

1,510
-468
-396

72

-111
-

-29
72

-611
-70

890
-69
72

In 2009 the nominal weighted average rate of tax on profits was 30% (2008: 31 %). 

Note 32 
DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS 

the assets and liabilities related to inapa italy were presented as a discontinued operation as the Board of directors took the decision in July 
2007 to stop all operations in Italy. On 31 December 2009, Inapa Italy was put into liquidation. 

DESIGNATION REGISTERED OFFICE % STAKE ACTIVITY DATE OF INCORPORATION

inapa italy, spa strada statale Padana supe- 
riore 315/317, 1-20090 

Vimodrone milão, italy 

100.0 Paper supply 1998

The value of 297 thousand Euros continues to be recorded on the balance sheet, to be received from third parties. 

Note 33 
COMMITMENTS 

a) operational leases 

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and transportation equipment through operating leases. The contracts have different terms, 
variation clauses and renewal rights. 
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bANK GUARANTEES 

In favour of financial institutions 
in favour of third parties and of an operational nature 

REAL GUARANTEES 

On tangible fixed assets 

2009                                         2008

118,000
1,433

-
119,433

130,500
2,822

615
133,937

On 31 December 2009, the financial 
obligations regarding the guarantees made 
by the Company to various financial institutions 
totalled 118 million Euros (2008: 130.5 million 
Euros), of which about (i) 6.5 million Euros 
(2008: 6.5 million Euros) in favour of Inapa 
france was for the purposes of contracted 
loans, and (ii) 111.5 million Euros (2008: 124 
million euros) was for the purposes of issuing 
inapa - iPG commercial paper. 

c) others 

In 2006, one of the Inapa Group companies 
(inapa Portugal) entered into two contracts 
with Caixa Leasing and Factoring and with 
millennium BcP, under which these entities 
provide a service of managing and paying 
supplier invoices. 

Under these contracts, these financial 
institutions process the payment of invoices 
on the dates previously agreed with inapa 
Portugal, and make the respective payments 
on their due dates. 

On 31 December 2009, the values 
advanced to suppliers under these contracts 
totalled about 5.91 million Euros (2008: 
4.849 million Euros). 

Note 34 
CONTINGENCIES 

Contingent liabilities 

on 1 august 2007, Papelaria fernandes 
- indústria e comércio, sa brought 
proceedings against inapa investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, sa and its 
subsidiaries inaprest - Prestação de 
serviços, Participações e Gestão, sa (now 
defunct) and inapa Portugal - distribuição 
de Papel, sa requesting, in summary: 
the cancellation of the following acts: 

the formation in June 2006 of collateral 
security as a counter-guarantee for 
the letters of comfort issued by inapa 

- investimentos, Participações e Gestão, 
SA as a guarantee for the financial 
instruments held by that company with 
the Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
central de crédito agrícola mútuo; 

the reorganisation performed in 1991 
to concentrate the paper supply activity 
in sdP (the present inapa Portugal) 
and the production and marketing of 
envelopes in Papelaria fernandes; 

the acquisition in 1994 of the stake 
held by Papelaria fernandes in sdP (the 
present inapa Portugal); 

compensation for credits arising in 
1994 between Papelaria Fernandes 
and inaprest. 

less than 1 year 
Between 1 year and 5 years 
more than 5 years 

2009                                         2008

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the values for due receivables, in accordance with their due dates, were as follows: 

In 2009 and 2008 the sums of 7.339 million Euros and 6.182 million Euros, respectively, were recorded as the operational lease costs for 
each year. 

b) Guarantees 

On 31 December 2009 and 2008, the obligations assumed by the Group in guarantees to third parties, were as follows: 

4,847
10,531
1,260

16,638

5,043
12,758

2,174
19,975
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demanding that inapa: 

maintain the comfort letters issued in 
favour of Banco espírito santo and 
Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola 
mútuo; 

compensate Papelaria fernandes 
should there be call on the collateral 
security as counter-guarantee for the 
letters of comfort. 

Papelaria fernandes - industrio e comércio, 
sa subsequently came to put its obligations 
to Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa Central 
de crédito agrícola mútuo in order,  
such that: 

the letters of comfort issued by inapa - iPG 
ceased to have purpose, having been 
returned by the respective beneficiaries ; 

consequently this company communicated 
to Papelaria fernandes - indústria e 
Comércio, SA, the confirmation that the 
collateral security formed by this in its 
favour was terminated. 

The action, which had a value of 24.46 
million euros allocated to it, was contested 
by inapa – iPG and by its subsidiary inapa 
Portugal – distribuição de Papel, sa and 
presently the determination of the court is 
awaited for dissolving / liquidating inaprest 
– Prestação de serviços, Participações e 
Gestão, sa. the Group understands that this 
process will not have financial impacts, and, 
consequently, no provision has been made. 
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Note 35 
TRANSACTIONS 
WITH RELATED ENTITIES 

The balances on 31 December 2009 and 
2008 with entities related to the Group are 
as follows: 

- 
- 
- 

1 
1 

9 
- 
- 
- 

9 

surpapel sl
megapapier
medialivros
BcP

26 
- 
- 
-

26 

- 
- 

87 
-

87 

- 
- 
- 

6,519 
6,519 

- 
- 
- 

113,363 
113,363

CUSTOMERS OTHER CURRENT
ASSETS

bANK LOANS FIXED ASSET 
SUPPLIERS

SUPPLIERS OTHER CURRENT
LIAbILITIES

2009

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

surpapel sl
megapapier
medialivros
BcP

36 
- 

102 
118 

256

1 
- 

95 
-

96 

- 
- 
- 

7,589 
7,589 

- 
- 
- 

123,974 
123,974 

2008

- 
- 

69 
8 

77 

-
-
-

7,527 
7,527 

surpapel sl
megapapier
medialivros
BcP

104 
- 

77 
-

181 

22 
- 
-
- 

22 

- 
- 

44 
-

44 

SALES AND 
PROVISION OF SERVICES

OTHER REVENUE OTHER COSTS FINANCIAL 
COSTS 

2009

-
-
-

9,415 
9,415 

surpapel sl
megapapier
medialivros
BcP

164 
- 

86 
754 

1,004 

2 
-

6 
-

8 

25 
- 

39 
-

64 

2008

During the years 2009 and 2008, the transactions carried out with entities related to the Group, were as follows: 

CUSTOMERS OTHER CURRENT
ASSETS

bANK LOANS FIXED ASSET 
SUPPLIERS

SUPPLIERS OTHER CURRENT
LIAbILITIES

SALES AND 
PROVISION OF SERVICES

OTHER REVENUE OTHER COSTS FINANCIAL 
COSTS 
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Remuneration Report 

The remuneration paid by Inapa – IPG to the members of the management bodies in 2009 and 2008, breaks down as follows (Euros): 

bOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Remuneration 
Post-employment benefits 
Other long-term benefits 
Termination benefits 
Payments in shares 

AUDIT COMMISSION* 

Remuneration 

bOARD FOR THE GENERAL MEETING 

Remuneration 

2009                                         2008

715,850
-
-
-
-

715,850

87,000

7,000

702,001
-
-
-
-

702,001

74,276

7,000

*Remuneration paid to the members of the audit commission is included in the remuneration of the Board of directors 

Note 36 
COMPANIES INCLUDED 
IN THE CONSOLIDATION

The subsidiaries included in the consolidation by the integral consolidation, on 31 December 2009, were as follows: 

Gestinapa - sGPs,sa 

inapa-Portugal, sa 

inapa distribuición 
ibérica, sa

inapa france, sa 

logistipack – carton 
service,sa

Rua Castilho, nº 44-3º
1250-071 lisboa

Rua das cerejeiras, nº 
5, Vale flores
são Pedro de 

Penaferrim
2710 sintra

c/ delco
Polígono   industrial 

ciudad del automóvil
28914 Leganés, 

madrid

91813 Corbeil Essones
Cedex França

14, Impasse aux 
Moines 91410 

dourdon france

REGISTERED 
OFFICE 

GROUP 
% STAKE 

ACTIVITY DIRECT 
SHAREHOLDER 

DATE OF 
INCORPORATION 

DESIGNATION 

100.00

99.75

100.00

100.00

100.00

sGPs

Paper supply 

Paper supply 

Paper supply 

Packaging 

inapa – iPG, sa

Gestinapa -sGPs,sa

Gestinapa- sGPs, sa

inapa – iPG, sa

inapa france, sa

June 1992 

1988

December 1998 

May 1998 

January 2008 
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inapa Belgique 

Inapa Luxembourg  

inapa deutschland, 
Gmbh

Papier Union, Gmbh

Pmf- Print medien 
factoring , Gmbh

inapa Packaging, 
Gmbh

htl Verpackung, 
Gmbh

hennessen & Potthoff, 
Gmbh

inapa Viscom, Gmbh

complott Papier 
Union, Gmbh

inapa – merchants, 
holding, ltd

tavistock Paper 
sales, ltd

inapa suisse

inapa angola 
distribuição de 
Papel,sa

edições inapa, lda

inapa italia spa
(ver Nota 32)

Vaucampslan, 30
1654 Huizingen

Belgica

211, Rue des Romains. l. 
8005 Bertrange

Luxemburgo

Warburgstraβ, 28
20354 Hamburgo

alemanha

Warburgstraβe, 28
20354 Hamburgo

alemanha

Warburgstraβ, 28
20354 Hamburgo

alemanha

Warburgstraβ, 28
20354 Hamburgo

alemanha

Werner-von-siemens 
Str 4-6 21629 Neu 

Wulmstrof
alemanha

tempelsweg 22
tonisvorst

alemanha

Warburgstraβ, 28
20354 Hamburgo

alemanha

industriestrasse
40822 Mettmann

alemanha

torrington house, 811 
high Road

finchley N12 8JW
Reino Unido

1st floor- the Power 
house

Wantage oX12 8Ps 
Reino Unido

Althardstrasse 301
8105 Regensdorf 

suisse

Rua amílcar cabral nº 211 
edifício amílcar cabral 

8º luanda, angola

Rua Castilho, 44-3º
1250-071 lisboa

strada statale Padana 
Superiore 315/317

I – 20090 Vimodrone 
milão - itália

99.94

97.75

100.00

94.90

94.90

94.90

94.90

94.90

100.0

100.0

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Paper supply 

Paper supply 

holding

Paper supply 

factoring

holding

Packaging 

Packaging 

holding

Visual 
communication 

holding

Paper supply 

Paper supply 

Paper supply 

Publishing 

-

inapa-france, sa

inapa Belgique

Gestinapa- sGPs, sa

inapa deutschland, 
Gmbh

Papier Union, Gmbh

Papier Union, Gmbh

inapa Packaging, 
Gmbh

inapaPackaging, 
Gmbh

Papier Union, Gmbh

inapa Viscom, Gmbh

Gestinapa – sGPs 
,sa

inapa- merchants 
holding, ltd

inapa-iPG,sa e Papier 
Union, Gmbh

inapa Portugal,sa

inapa-iPG,sa e 
Gestinapa,sGPs,sa

inapa-france, sa

May 1998 

May 1998 

april 2000

april 2000

september 2005 

2006

January 2006 

January 2006 

January 2008 

January 2008 

1995

February 1998 

Maio 1998

December 2009 

November 2009 

1998

REGISTERED 
OFFICE 

GROUP 
% STAKE 

ACTIVITY DIRECT 
SHAREHOLDER 

DATE OF 
INCORPORATION 

DESIGNATION 
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inapa angola distribuição de Papel, sa 
commenced operations in the year 2009 and 
Edições Inapa, Lda was incorporated in 2009 
and consequently they were consolidated 
using the integral method. 

the subsidiary Papier Union, Gmbh made 
inapa – iPG aware of the relevance of the 
provisions of paragraph 3, Section 264 of the 
German commercial code. 

the related parties considered relevant for 
the purposes of the financial statements were 
the subsidiaries given above, the associated 
companies given in Note 10, the shareholders 
given in Note 18 and the directors. 

all balances and transactions with the 
subsidiaries were eliminated in the consolidation 
process. all balances and transactions with 
associates, which were not consolidated using 
the full consolidation method (Notes 10 and 
37), and other companies where the Inapa 
Group has a stake, are given in Note 35. 

Note 37 
COMPANIES EXCLUDED 
FROM THE CONSOLIDATION 

the stakes given below were not included in 
the consolidation using the full consolidation 
method. the impact of not integrating them 
is not materially relevant, as they have been 
recorded by the equity method, as described 
in Notes 10 and 2.2. megapapier was not 
consolidated by the full consolidation method 
as it is the intention of the Group to liquidate it 
as its value has been evaluated as zero. 

100%

100%

100%

Megapapier - Mafipa 
Netherland BV

inapa logistics

inapa Vertriebsgesellschaft
Gmbh

PO Box 1097 - 3430 BB Nieuwegein 
holland 

Warburgstrasse,28 - 20354 
 hamburg - Germany 

Warburgstrasse,28 - 20354 
 hamburg - Germany 

COMPANY REGISTERED OFFICE DIRECT SHAREHOLDER % STAKE 

 inapa france, sa
 
 
 Papier Union, Gmbh
 
 
 Papier Union, Gmbh
 

Note 38 
TRADE RECEIVAbLES 
SECURITISATION 

the Group implemented a trade receivables 
securitisation operation, divided into two 
phases, one at the end of 2003 and the 
other in 2004, to a total value of 140 
million euros, consisting of 70 million euros 
each, for a renewable period of 7 years. 

this operation had innovative characteristics 
for the Portuguese market as it involved an 
effective end to credit. 

in 2007, the Board of directors reappraised 
the criteria for recognising the securitisation 
operation within the scope of the 
international financial Reporting standards 
(ias/ifRs). despite the effective transfer of 
the relevant part of the risks related to these 
credits, the Board decided to adopt the 
recommendations of the Portuguese securities 
and Exchange Commission (CMVM). 

accordingly, these credits are recorded on the 
balance sheet under the customers heading 
and offset in the heading financial instruments 
associated with financial assets (Note 22). 

the securitisation operation was conducted 
through (i) a special purpose vehicle (sPV) 
headquartered in the Republic of ireland 
that issued titles for financing the operation, 
divided into senior notes to the sum of 140 
million euros and junior notes to the sum 
of 7.628 million Euros, the latter being 
subordinate to the former, and (ii) three 
entities that acquired the customer balances 
of the Group. 

the junior notes attracting interest rates of 
5% were acquired by the Group and are 
recorded under the heading Ready-for-sale 
financial assets (see Note 11). The senior 
notes attract interest at the 1-month euribor 
rate plus a spread of 0.635%. 
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Note 39 
COSTS RELATED 
TO THE SERVICES PROVIDED 
bY THE CURRENT AUDITORS 

In the years ending on 31 December 2009 and 2008, the costs relating to the services 
provided to subsidiary companies by the principal auditors, were as follows: 

services of auditing and legal Review of the accounts 
Tax Consultation Services 
others 

2009                                          2008

480,000
6,300

950
487,250

476,600
6,300

-
482,900

Note 40 
SUbSEQUENT EVENTS 

the following event took place after 
31 December 2009 and warrants 
highlighting: 

The listing of Inapa on the PS120 index 
was announced. 

INFORMATION 
REQUIRED BY 
LEGISLATION 
Under the terms of n° 1 of art°21 of decree 
Law n° 411/91, of 17 October, we hereby 
declare that the consolidated companies do 
not owe any due social security contributions 
to the state. 
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Auditor’s report And 
legAl certificAtion

of the consolidAted 
Accounts

Recycled papers are a growth 
area and which demonstrates  
the commitment of group in 
promoting products environ-
mentally sustainable. 

To give one example, Papier 
Union met in 2009 a 30% 
increase in sales this area.

PACkAgiNg

RECyCLiNg 
ANd PACkAgiNg

128. RELATóRiO E CONTAS ‘09    Auditor´s Report and legal certification of the Consolidated Accounts
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Auditor’s report And 
legAl certificAtion

of the consolidAted 
Accounts

 ‘08

129.
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report of the 
Auditors for 

stAtutory And 
stock exchAnge 

regulAtory
purposes in 

respect of the 
consolidAted 

finAnciAl 
informAtion

 ‘08

iNTROdUCTiON
1.
As required by law, we present the report of the Auditors for statutory and stock exchange 
Regulatory Purposes in respect of the financial information included in the consolidated 
Report of the Board of Directors and in the attached consolidated financial statements of 
Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA, comprising the consolidated balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2009 (which shows total assets of €699,967 thousand and a 
total shareholder’s equity of €152,547 thousand, including a minority interest of €1,033 
thousand and a net profit of €2,165 thousand), the consolidated separate income statement, 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the 
corresponding notes to the accounts.

RESPONSibiLiTiES 
2.
It is the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors: (i) to prepare the consolidated 
Report of the Board of Directors and the consolidated financial statements which present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the company and its subsidiaries, the 
consolidated results and the consolidated comprehensive income of their operations, the 
changes in consolidated equity and their consolidated cash flows; (ii) to prepare the historic 
financial information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU while also meeting the principles of completeness, truthfulness, accuracy, 
clarity, objectivity and lawfulness, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code; (iii) 
to adopt appropriate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain an adequate system 
of internal control; and (v) the disclosure of any relevant matters which have influenced the 
activity, the financial position or results of the company and its subsidiaries. 
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3. 
Our responsibility is to verify the financial 
information included in the financial statements 
referred to above, particularly as to whether it is 
complete, truthful, accurate, clear, objective and 
lawful, as required by the portuguese securities 
market code, for the purpose of expressing an 
independent and professional opinion on that 
financial information, based on our audit.

SCOPE
4. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
the Standards and Technical Recommendations 
approved by the institute of statutory Auditors, 
which require that we plan and perform the 
examination to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. 
Accordingly, our examination included: (i) 
verification that the subsidiaries’ financial 
statements have been properly examined 
and for the cases where such an examination 
was not carried out, verification, on a 
test basis, of the evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements, and assessing the 
reasonableness of the estimates, based on 
the judgements and criteria of Management 
used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements; (ii) verification of the 
consolidation operations and the utilization 
of the equity method; (iii) assessing the 
appropriateness of the accounting principles 
used and their disclosure, as applicable; 
(iv) assessing the applicability of the going 
concern basis of accounting; (v) assessing 
the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements; and (vi) assessing the 
completeness, truthfulness, accuracy, clarity, 
objectivity and lawfulness of the consolidated 
financial information.

5. 
Our audit also covered the verification 
that the consolidated financial information 
included in the consolidated report of the 
Board of Directors is in agreement with the  
financial statements.

6. 
We believe that our examination provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

OPiNiON
7. 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements referred to above, present fairly 
in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA as at December 
31, 2009, the consolidated results and the 
consolidated comprehensive income of their 
operations, the changes in consolidated 
equity, and the consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with 
international financial reporting standards 
as adopted by the EU and duly comply 
with principles of completeness, truthfulness, 
accuracy, clarity, objectivity and lawfulness.

EmPhASiS
8.
Without qualifying our opinion in the pre-
vious paragraph, we draw attention that, 
as mentioned in Note 34 of the notes to 
the accounts, papelaria fernandes – indús-
tria e Comércio, SA has raised in 2007 
against Inapa – Investimentos, Participações 
e Gestão, SA a legal proceedings, related 
to events occurred in previous years.  inapa 
– Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, 
sA considered that they do not have any 
relevant liability with papelaria fernandes 
– Indústria e Comércio, SA as a result of 
the transactions mentioned in the legal 
proceedings raised by this company, there-
fore, no provision had been created in the  
financial statements. 

Lisbon, April 16, 2010

pricewaterhousecoopers & Associados. 
sroc, lda 

Registered in the Comissão do Mercado de 
Valores Mobiliários with no. 9077

represented by:
ricardo filipe de frias pinheiro, r.o.c.
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THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE 

REPORT

New printing technologies, 
advances in media formats and 
new communication concepts 
encourage Inapa, in 2007, to 
enter this business area, the 
performance of which has, 
frankly, been impressive. This 
business sector has experienced 
the greatest growth rate within the 
printing industry, which includes 

printing materials, consumables, 
the sales of printing equipment, 
software and their maintenance. In 
Germany, the Group is one of the 
five biggest players in the market.

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION
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REPORT
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   REPORT AnD 
OPInIOn fROM 

THE AUDIT 
COMITTE Of 

THE bOARD Of 
DIRECTORs Of 

InAPA – 
InvEsTIMEnTOs, 

PARTICIPAçõEs 
E GEsTãO, sA

 ‘09

INTRODUCTION
1.
The Audit Committee of the board of Directors of Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA, in order to fulfil the provisions of clause g) of art. 423-F of the Commercial 
Companies Act, hereby presents its report on its auditing activities and its assessment of the 
Management Report and the individual and consolidated financial statements, relating to the 
fiscal year ending on 31/12/2009, as well as the proposal for the distribution of earnings, 
presented by the Board of Directors.

COMPANy AUDIT
2.
For the fiscal year in question, the Audit Committee monitored the business progress of the 
company and its subsidiaries in Portugal and abroad. Specifically, it

Ensured compliance with the law and the by-laws;

Verified the compliance of the books, accounting records and supporting documents;

Verified the accuracy of the documents for rendering of accounts;

Verified that the adopted accounting policies and valuation criteria lead to a correct 
assessment of assets and earnings.

In particular, the Audit Committee monitored the preparation and analysis of periodical 
financial information published pursuant to law, for which reason, individually and collectively, 
its members held meetings and communicated in manners considered appropriate, with 
both the executive directors and the heads of the departments involved, as well as with the 
Statutory Auditor and the External Auditor.

The Committee also paid special attention to the analysis of the principal risks and the 
respective management and internal monitoring systems.



135.

To this end, and so as to achieve a more 
informed analysis, in the fiscal year of 2009, 
the Audit Committee performed: 

Individualised and specific interviews with 
each of the six Managers of Inapa IPG, so as 
to better learn the details relating to their duties 
and responsibilities in the areas under their 
supervision, as well as the principal aspects 
of risk management, namely, identification, 
impact assessment, performed mechanisms 
and procedures for mitigation and internal 
and external monitoring.

A working visit to the subsidiaries in Germany, 
which have gained significance both in terms 
of the different activities pursued and in terms 
of their weight within the Inapa Group as 
a whole, so as to learn from proximity and 
assess the operational attributes relating to the 
businesses and activities performed, as well 
as their respective organisation, operations  
and management.

Operations which require the specific 
intervention of the Audit Committee were the 
subject of analysis.

The Audit Committee audited the processes 
for the preparation of financial information 
and the examination of accounts, as well 
as the Statutory Auditor. To this end, the 
Committee specifically analysed and 
assessed the rendering of auditing services 
and other services, albeit of limited extent, 
by the organisation to which the Statutory 
Auditor belongs, namely with regards to 
the specific conditions in which the services 
were rendered and the safeguards adopted, 
which it considered appropriate for the 
retention of the abovementioned Auditor.

During the 2009 , besides participating 
in all of the meetings of the Board of 
Directors, within the scope of its duties 
and responsibilities, the Audit Committee 
held 11 (eleven) meetings and carried out 
other inquiries which it felt to be necessary  
and appropriate.

During its auditing activities, from which the 
corresponding records were drafted, the 
Audit Committee did not come across any 
irregularities worthy of note.

ASSESSMENT REGARDING
REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS
3. 
The Audit Committee examined the 
Management Report and the individual and 
consolidated financial statements relating 
to the fiscal year ending on the 31st of 
December, 2009 (which include the balance 
sheet, the income statements, statements of 
cash flow and those regarding alterations to 
capital, as well as the respective notes in 
attachment). The individual statements were 
drafted in accordance with the Official 
Audit Plan (annulled with regards to the 
valuation of Goodwill, pursuant to note 
no. 1 in the respective attachment) and the 
consolidated statements were drafted in 
accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by 
the European Union.
 The Audit Committee examined the Legal 
Certificates for the Accounts and Audit 
Reports regarding the individual and 
consolidated financial information issued by 
the company’s statutory Auditor, documents 
with which it is in agreement.

In view of the above mentioned points 
and the activities it performed, the Audit 
Committee is of the opinion that the 
Management Report and the individual and 
consolidated financial statements, relating to 
the 2009 fiscal year, as well as the proposal 
for the distribution of earnings contained in 
the Management Report, are in accordance 
with applicable laws and regulations, due 
to which they are worthy of approval at the 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

DECLARATION 
OF CONFORMANCE
4. 
In conformance with the provisions of no. 1, 
clause c) of art. 245 of the Securities Code, 
the members of the Audit Committee of the 
board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, sA hereby declare 
that, to the best of their knowledge, the 
information contained in the Management 
Report, in the annual accounts, in the legal 

certification of accounts and in all other 
documents for the rendering of individual 
and consolidated accounts, required by 
law or regulation with regards to the 31st of 
December, 2009, was drafted in accordance 
with applicable accounting standards, thereby 
giving a truthful and appropriate picture of the 
assets and liabilities, the financial situation 
and the earnings of the company and the 
companies included within consolidated 
statements, and that the Management Reports 
faithfully represent the growth of the company’s 
business, the performance and the standing of 
the company and the companies included 
in consolidated statements, including a 
description of the main risks and uncertainties 
affecting the companies.

Lisbon, 16 April 2010

The Audit Committee

Emídio de Jesus Maria
Director and Chairman  
of the Audit Committee

Abílio Ramos Marques
Director and Member 
of the Audit Committee

Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos
Director and Member 
of the Audit Committee
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W illing to become a 
services provider, Inapa develops 
tailor made solutions to their 
customers.

With around 300 trucks that 
serve storage area with more 
than 180,000 square meters 
the Inapa logistic area increase 
value for its clients.

 For existing customers in paper 
merchanting area the new 
concept results in a single point of 
contact from the order of paper, 
to the distribution of the post-print 
material in the agreed dates.

Inapa becomes, therefore, a 
reference in logistic services for 
the printing industry.

LOGISTICS
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Introduction
this corporate governance report was 
compiled in conformance with the provisions of 
regulation no. 1 /2007 of portugal’s comissão 
do Mercado de valores Mobiliários – the 
Securities exchange commission (“cMvM”) 
and with cMvM’s recommendations on the 
corporate governance of Listed companies, 
published in September 2007, which 
documents are available for consultation on 
cMvM’s website, www.cmvm.pt.

to that effect, without prejudice to cMvM’s 
publication of its regulation no. 1/2010 
and in conformance with the provisions of 
cMvM’s instruction of 26 January 2010, 
Inapa - Investimentos, participações e gestão, 
S.a. (“Inapa” or “the company”) elected 
to comply with the corporate governance 
report model set out in the aforementioned 
regulation no. 1 /2007 owing to the fact that 
it was already at a very advanced stage in the 
preparation of this report.
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Chapter  0
 DECLARATION 
OF COMPLIANCE

01.
Disclosure of the location where the documents of corporate governance regulations by which the reporting Company is governed are available for 
public scrutiny and, should that be the case, of the location of any other documents by which it may have voluntarily elected to be governed by.

the documents of the corporate governance regulations by which the company is governed are available for public scrutiny at:

the Company’s Head Office, in Rua Castilho, n.° 44 - 3.° floor, Lisbon, Portugal;

the Company’s corporate website, on www.Inapa.pt; and

the website of comissão do Mercado de valores Mobiliários, on www.cmvm.pt

this report will also be available for consultation at all of the aforementioned locations and may obtained separately or as an addendum 
to the annual report and accounts of the company, of which it is an integral part.

02. 
Disclosure of which of the specific recommendations of CMVM’s Corporate Governance Code have and have not been adopted:

I.1   BOARD OF THE GENERAL MEETINGL

I.1.1. 
the chairman of the general Meeting shall be provided with adequate 
human resources and support logistics services as necessary and as a 
function of the economic situation of the company.

I.1.2. 
the remuneration of the chairman of the general Meeting shall be 
disclosed in the company’s corporate governance report.

RECOMMENDATION / CHAPTER                                                                                                   COMPLIANCE   REMISSION IN THE REPORT

GENERAL MEETING

I.2.  ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS OF THE ASSEMBLY

I.2.1.
the term to deposit or restrict from trading the shares of shareholders at-
tending a meeting of the general assembly of Shareholders in conform-
ance with the bylaws shall not be greater than 5 business days

I.2.2. 
Should a meeting of the general assembly of Shareholders be sus-
pended, the company shall not enforce that shares be restricted from 
trading for the entire period elapsing until the meeting resumes, for which 
purpose the ordinary term required for the original meeting shall equally 
apply to the date of the meeting’s resumption

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

1.3

1.4

1.5
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I.3.  VOTING AND THE EXERCISE OF VOTING RIGHTS

I.3.1. 
companies shall enforce no statutory restrictions on voting by mail

I.3.2. 
the statutory term for lodging votes by mail prior to a meeting shall not 
be greater than three business days

I.3.3. 
In their bylaws, companies shall include provisions to the effect of 
establishing that each share is entitled to one vote

I.4.  QUORUM AND RESOLUTIONS

I.4.1. 
companies shall not set out minimum attendance requirements for a 
meeting’s quorum or for the validity of resolutions that exceed the minima 
set out by Law

I.5.  MINUTES AND INFORMATION ON RESOLUTIONS PASSED AT A MEETING

I.5.1. 
Minutes of meetings of the general assembly of Shareholders shall be 
provided to shareholders on the company’s website within the follow-
ing 5 days, even if they are not deemed to legally constitute privileged 
information, and such sites shall maintain attendance records, agen-
das, and resolutions passed during meetings held for at least the three  
preceding years

I.6.  MEASURES IMPLEMENTED WITH REGARD TO A COMPANY’S CONTROL 

I.6.1. 
Measures taken to prevent the success of public tender offers shall 
abide by the interests of the company and its shareholders

I - GENERAL MEETING

Yes

Yes

Yes

No
(Under the company’s articles of association meetings at 
first notice require a number of shareholders representing 
at least 1/3 of share capital to be in attendance or 
duly represented not only for purposes of the validity of 
resolutions taken in conformance with the provisions of 
Paragraph 2 of Article 383 of the CSC (Companies Act), 
but also for purposes of the validity of any resolutions of the 
general assembly of Shareholders. Such deviation from 
the principle in question is based on an understanding, 
long held by this company, that its resolutions shall be 
based on a minimum number of attending shareholders 
that is representative, especially with a view to defend the 
interests of small individual shareholders)

Yes

Yes
(the company’s articles of association do not pro-
vide for any measures to prevent the success of pub-
lic tender offers)

1.8

1.8

1.6

1.7
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I.6. PROVISIONS ON CONTROL OF THE COMPANY 

I.6.2. 
the companies bylaws which, in conformance with the principles set out 
in the preceding paragraph, contain restrictions on the number of votes 
or voting rights that may be held or exercised by a single shareholder, 
on an individual capacity or jointly with other shareholders, shall also 
specify that at least once every five years the General Meeting shall vote 
on a resolution to retain or discard such statutory provisions – without 
enforcing higher quorum requirements vis-à-vis the legal minima and 
providing that the votes counting for such a resolution shall be counted 
without the aforementioned restriction applying

I.6.3. 
companies shall not adopt defensive measures that are geared to 
automatically cause serious erosion of the asset base of a company 
in the event of a change in its controlling shareholder or a change in 
the composition of its Board of Directors, thereby jeopardizing the free 
transferability of their shares and a free assessment by shareholders of 
the performance of members of their Boards of Directors

II – MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

II.1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

II.1.1.  Structure and Competence

II.1.1.1. 
In its corporate governance report, the board shall evaluate the 
model it adopted, identifying possible constraints to its operation and 
recommending measures to redress such constraints in a manner they 
deem to be capable 

II.1.1.2. 
companies shall implement internal control systems to detect the risks 
tied to the company’s activities to safeguard its assets and for the sake  
of transparency in its corporate governance

II.1.1.3. 
Management and supervisory boards shall operate in conformance 
with regulations which shall be made available on the company’s 
website

I - GENERAL MEETING

Yes
(os estatutos da sociedade não contemplam 
quaisquer medidas com vista a impedir o êxito 
de ofertas públicas de aquisição)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

1.13
1.14
1.15

2.4

2.6
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II.1.GENERAL PROVISIONS 

II.1.2.  Incompatibility and Independence

II.1.2.1. 
The Board of Directors shall include a sufficient number of Non-Executive 
Directors that is capable of guaranteeing its effective capacity to 
supervise, audit, and assess the performance of its executive members

II.1.2.2. 
non-executive Directors shall include an adequate number of independent 
Directors relative to the size of the company and to its shareholding 
structure, and the latter shall under no circumstances account for less than 
¼ of the total number of Directors

II.1.3. Eligibility and Appointment

II.1.3.1.
Depending on the applicable corporate governance model, the 
chairman of the Supervisory Board, audit committee, or Finance com-
mittee shall be an independent Director and shall be endowed with 
adequate authority to perform such duties

II.1.4. Policy on disclosure of irregular practices

II.1.4.1.
the company shall adopt a policy on disclosure of irregular practices 
alleged to have been perpetrated in the company, containing the 
following features. 

1.
Disclosure of the means whereby allegations of irregular practices 
are reported internally, including the people appointed to receive 
such reports;

2.
Disclosure of the way in which such reports are handled, indicating 
whether they are treated confidentially, should the person who 
makes such allegations so wish.

II.1.4.2. 
Disclosure, in broad guidelines, of such policies must be made in its 
corporate governance report

II – MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

2.9

2.9

2.9
2.10

2.22
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II.1.GENERAL PROVISIONS 

II.1.5.Remuneration

II.1.5.1. 
the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors shall be 
structured with a view to align their personal interests with the interests of 
the company. In that context:

(i) 
the remuneration of Directors  with executive duties shall comprise 
a performance-based component, for which purpose it shall rely on 
regular assessments of their performance by an authorized board 
or committee;

(ii) 
the variable component shall be consistent with an objective to 
maximize the company’s long-term performance and shall depend 
on the sustainability of the adopted performance variables;

(iii) 
Should it not directly arise as a result of legal imperatives, the 
remuneration of non-executive members of the Board of Directors 
shall only consist of a fixed sum.

II.1.5.2. 
the remunerations committee and the Board of Directors shall disclose 
to the annual general Meeting a statement on the remuneration policy 
of, respectively, the members of the management and supervisory boards 
and senior management as defined in conformance with Paragraph 3 of 
Article 248-B of the CVM. In this context, shareholders are especially to 
be explicitly informed on the criteria and main parameters utilized in such 
performance assessments to calculate the variable component of remu-
neration packages and whether share allocations, options to buy shares, 
annual performance bonuses, or other components are at stake.

II.1.5.3.
the remunerations committee shall be represented by at least one of its 
members at  annual general Meetings 

II – MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

Yes

Yes

Yes

II.18

143.
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II.1.GENERAL PROVISIONS 

II.1.5. Remuneration

II.1.5.4. 
recommendations on the approval of plans to allocate shares and/or op-
tions to buy shares or schemes based on share price fluctuation to members 
of management and supervisory boards and senior management as defined 
in accordance with Paragraph. 3 of Article 248-B of the CVM shall be 
submitted to the general Meeting. Such recommendations shall be inclusive 
of all necessary information to enable them to adequately assess such plans. 
Such recommendations shall be inclusive of the regulations governing such 
plans or, in the case that such regulations have not yet been drawn up, of 
the conditions that will govern the plans. Similarly, the general Meeting shall 
approve the main features of the retirement benefit plans for members of 
management and supervisory boards and senior management as defined in 
conformance with Paragraph 3 of Art. 248-B of the CVM.

II.1.5.5.
the remuneration of members of management and supervisory boards 
shall be annually disclosed on an individual basis, for which purpose 
such information shall separately disclose the various components paid 
as fixed and variable remuneration, together with remuneration paid by 
other group companies or companies controlled by shareholders who 
hold qualified shares in such companies.

II.2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

II.2.1. 
Within the limits set out in applicable legislation for each management 
and supervisory board, and unless dictated by the small size of the com-
pany, the Board of Directors shall delegate the day-to-day management 
of the company, for which purpose the powers it delegates shall be 
disclosed in the company’s corporate governance report.

II.2.2. 
the Board of Directors shall ensure that the company acts in conform-
ance with its objectives, and shall not delegate its powers on matters 
that specifically concern (i) the company’s strategy and general polices; 
(ii) the group’s corporate structure; and (iii) decisions that should be 
considered strategic due to the sum involved, the risk involved, or their 
special nature.

II – MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

Yes
(the company has not implemented any plans to 
allocate shares and/or options to buy shares or 
schemes based on share price fluctuation. Simi-
larly, the company does not offer any retirement 
benefit plans for members of the management and 
supervisory boards and senior management.)
 

 

Yes

Yes

Yes

3.10

2.20

2.3

2.3
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II.2. . BOARD OF DIRECTORS

II.2.3. 
If the chairman of the Board of Directors serve in an executive 
capacity, the Board of Directors shall implement effective mechanisms 
to coordinate the initiatives of its non-executive members, namely for 
purposes of ensuring that those members can act in an independent and 
informed capacity, and shareholders shall be duly and explicitly advised 
of such mechanisms within the scope of the company’s corporate  
governance report.

II.2.4. 
annually, the Directors’ report shall include a description of the actions 
performed by non-executive Directors, particularly with reference to any 
constraints they may have faced.

II.2.5. 
the Board of Directors shall provide for the rotation of the member 
is in charge of Finance and administration, which rotation shall be 
implemented at least once every two terms of office of the Board.

II.3. MANAGING DIRECTOR, EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, AND EXECUTIVE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS

II.3.1. 
Upon request of other members of statutory bodies, Directors who serve 
in an executive capacity shall provide information requested by such 
members in a timely manner and in a way that adequately addresses 
the request in question

II.3.2. 
the chairman of the executive committee shall provide the chairman 
of the Board of Directors and the chairman of the Supervisory Board 
or of the audit commission, as applicable, the notices of their meetings 
and their minutes.

II.3.3. 
the chairman of the executive Board of Directors shall provide the 
chairman of the general and Supervisory Board and the chairman of 
the Finance committee the notices of their meetings and their minutes

II – MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

Yes
(the chairman of the Board of Directors does not 
serve in an executive capacity)

Yes

Yes
(the member of the Board of Directors in charge of 
Finance and Administration is serving his first term 
of office as a Director) 

Yes

Yes

Not applicable
(the company is managed by a Board of Directors 
and supervised by an audit committee)

2.1

2.1
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II.4.  GENERAL AND SUPERVISORY BOARD, FINANCE COMMITTEE, AUDIT COM-
MITTEE, AND SUPERVISORY BOARD

II.4.1. 
In addition to complying with its supervisory duties, the general and 
Supervisory Board shall provide guidance and shall monitor and assess 
the performance of the executive Board of Directors in their management 
of the company, on an on-going basis. among the matters which shall 
be referred to the general and Supervisory Board the following are 
included: (i) the company’s strategy and general polices; (ii) the group’s 
corporate structure; and (iii) decisions deemed to be strategic in nature 
owing to the sum involved, the risk involved, or their special character.

II.4.2. 
annual reports on the performance of the general and Supervisory 
Board, Finance committee, audit committee, and Supervisory Board 
shall be disclosed on the company’s website, together with annual 
report and accounts.

II.4.3. 
annual reports on the performance of the general and Supervisory 
Board, Finance committee, audit committee, and Supervisory Board 
shall include a description of the supervisory actions they performed, 
with particular reference to any constraints they may have faced.

II.4.4. 
the Finance committee, audit committee, and Supervisory Board, as 
applicable, shall represent the company, for all purposes, in its dealings with 
external auditors, and shall be particularly responsible for recommending 
their appointment and remuneration, ensuring that the company provides 
them with adequate conditions to perform their duties and acting as 
their liaison with the company and the first recipient of their respective  
audit reports.

II.4.5. 
the Finance committee, audit committee, and Supervisory Board, as 
applicable, shall assess the performance of the external auditors on an annual 
basis and shall recommend to the general assembly of Shareholders their 
removal from such offices should there be justified grounds to the effect.

II – MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

Not applicable
(the company is administered by a Board of  
Directors and supervised by an audit committee)

Yes

Yes

Yes
(It is to be noted that the audit committee was 
only appointed on 31 May 2007 at a meeting of 
the general assembly of Shareholders, at which 
meeting the external auditors were equally ap-
pointed, on account of which the audit committee 
was not called upon to either recommend their 
appointment or their remuneration)   

Yes
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II.5.  SPECIAL COMMITTEES

II.5.1.
Unless unwarranted on account of a company’s small size, the Board of 
Directors and the general and Supervisory Board, as applicable, shall 
appoint whichever committees they may deem fit to (i) ensure competent 
and independent assessment of the performance of executive Directors 
and of its own overall performance, as well as of the performance of the 
existing committees; and (ii) ponder on the adopted corporate govern-
ance model and verify its efficacy, with a view to improve it.

 
II.5.2. 
the members of the remunerations committee or equivalent body shall 
be independent relative to the members of the Board of Directors.

II.5.3. 
all committees shall provide minutes of all meetings held.   

III. INFORMATION AND AUDITING

III.1. GENERAL DUTY OF INFORMATION

III.1.1. 
companies shall ensure that they remain in contact with markets at all 
times and in full respect for the equality of all shareholders, preventing 
any form of bias in investor access to information. companies shall 
provide an investor relations office to that effect.

II – ADMINISTRATION AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

Not applicable
(given the size of the company, of its Board of 
Directors, and of the duties performed by its audit 
committee, appointment of any of the indicated 
committees is not warranted)

Yes

Not applicable
(the company has not appointed any special commi-
ttees within the scope of its Board of Directors)

Yes

2.19

3.12
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III.1. GENERAL DUTY OF INFORMATION

III.1.2.
the following information, to be available for perusal on the company’s 
website, shall be provided in english:

a) The firm, its status as a publicly listed company, the address of 
its head offices, together with all ancillary information set out in 
the provisions of Article 171 of the Companies Act;

b) The Company’s Articles of Association;

c) Identification of the members of its statutory bodies and of its 
market relations officer;

d) Identification of its investor relations officer, respective duties, 
and contact details;

e) Financial statements;

f) Semi-annual calendar of corporate events;

g) proposals for discussion and voting at the general assembly 
of Shareholders;

h) notices of meetings of the general assembly of Shareholders.

III. INFORMATION AND AUDITING

Yes

0.3
Should the structure or practices of the company diverge from the recommendations of CMVM or other corporate governance codes 
under which the company is  governed or by which it may have voluntarily decided to abide, the company shall disclosed which 
provisions of each of such codes that it does not conform to and the reasons therefore.

the company analysed in detail its compliance to the recommendations of cMvM on corporate governance matters and reached the 
conclusion that the structure and practices adopted by the company do not diverge from those recommendations (barring recommendation 
I.4.1., above, on which account the reasons for its divergence are duly disclosed in the Table included in Paragraph 0.2 of this Report).

0.4
The statutory body or committee in question shall assess the independence of each of its members at a given point in time and shall 
duly justify to shareholders its findings thereon by means of a declaration to be included in the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Report, either upon their appointment or whenever any supervening circumstance may lead to a loss of their independence.

Declaration of Compliance with Independence Criteria 

3.12
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Chapter  1 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY
OF SHAREHOLDERS

1.1
Board of the General Assembly of 
Shareholders

at present, the Board of the general assembly 
of Shareholders is made up of the following 
members:

Chairman 
Dr. João vieira de almeida

Secretary 
Dr.ª Sofia Barata

1.2
Date of commencement and term 
of their respective terms of office

the members of the Board of the general 

assembly of Shareholders are currently serving a 
three year term running from 2007 to 2009 and 
were appointed by resolution of the shareholders 
at their meeting of 31 May 2007.

1.3
Remuneration of the Chairman of the 
General Assembly of Shareholders

pursuant to a resolution of the remunerations 
Committee dated 21 May 2008, the 
remuneration of the chairman of the general 
assembly of Shareholders was set at 
€5,000.00 (five thousand Euros) payable for 
every meeting chaired.

1.4
Term to deposit or restrict from 
trading the shares of shareholders 
attending a meeting of the General 
Assembly of Shareholders

Paragraph 1 of Article 13 of the Company’s 
articles of association stipulates that 
“Shareholders may exercise their voting 
rights at meetings of the general assembly 
provided they have held their shares in the 
Company at least since the fifth business 
day prior to the date of meeting of the 
general assembly, for which purpose 
any such shareholders shall secure the 
due registration of their holdings in the 
company’s share register under their own 
name at least five business days prior to 
the aforementioned date, in the event their 
holdings consist of registered shares, or, 
should their holdings consist of bearer 
shares, any such shareholders shall duly 
lodge their bearer shares for safekeeping 
in the company’s safe or shall deposit 
them with a financial institution or legally 
accredited securities depositary institution, 
giving due notice of such deposit and 
of the number of shares held to the 
chairman of the general assembly at 
least three business days prior to the date 
of the aforementioned meeting, for which 
purpose such shares shall further remain 
their rightful property until the date of the 
general assembly meeting in question.” 

1.5
Applicable provisions on the restric-
tion from trading of shares in 
the event of a suspension of a 
meeting of the General Assembly 
of Shareholders

In Paragraph 1 of Article 13, Inapa’s Articles 
of association stipulate that “the shares shall 
be restricted from trading only until the close 
of the meeting of the general assembly 
of Shareholders to which such interdiction 
relates; in the event of suspension of 
a meeting of the general assembly of 
Shareholders for longer than 5 business 
days, shareholders who may be willing to 
attend and exercise their voting rights when 
the meeting resumes shall give the chairman 
of the general assembly of Shareholders at 
least three business days prior notice of the 
number of shares they hold on deposit with 
a financial institution or legally accredited 
securities depositary institution no later than 
the fifth business day prior to the date of the 
meeting’s resumption.”

1.6
Number of shares qualifying for  
a vote

Paragraph 5 of Article 13 of Inapa’s Articles 
of association stipulates that “every share 
registered or deposited in conformance with 
the provisions of paragraph 1 of this article 
shall be entitled to one vote”, by which 
means proportionality between voting rights 
and shareholder attendance is guaranteed.

the articles of association do not stipulate 
any restrictions on the counting of voting 
rights above a certain number, when such 
votes are exercised by a single shareholder 
or by shareholders associated with the 
shareholder in question.

to date, the company has not made use 
of its statutory right to issue preference 
shares carrying no voting rights, although 
the provisions of paragraph 2 of its article 
10, the company’s articles of association 
confer it such rights.

the following Directors comply with the 
independence criteria set out in the provisions 
of Paragraph 5 of Article 414 of Portugal’s 
código das Sociedades comerciais (the 
portuguese companies act, “cSc”):

José Manuel Félix Morgado
Jorge armindo carvalho teixeira
arndt Jost Michael Klippgen
emídio de Jesus Maria
pedro Maria cabral norton de Matos

and, should those provisions be deemed to 
apply, the following Directors would not fall 
under the definition of incompatibility set 
out in the provisions of Article 414-A of the 
aforementioned act:

José Manuel Félix Morgado
arndt Jost Michael Klippgen
emídio de Jesus Maria
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1.7
Statutory regulations on the exercise 
of voting rights, including regula-
tions on the validity of resolutions 
based on a minimum number of 
shareholders being in attendance or 
on the representativeness of their 
holdings or on systems based on 
special voting rights having to do 
with equity

the company’s statutory provisions on this 
matter are set out in Paragraphs 2 and 3 of 
article 17 of its articles of association which 
respectively stipulate that:

“The General Assembly shall meet at first 
call whenever a number of shareholders, 
or their representatives, whose holdings 
represent at least one third of share capital 
are in attendance.”

“resolutions passed at a meeting held 
at second call shall be deemed valid 
regardless of the number of shareholders 
in attendance or duly represented and 
whichever the percentage of share capital 
their holdings may represent.”

the company’s articles of association do not 
contain provisions on any systems based on 
special voting rights having to do with equity.

1.8
Statutory regulations on the 
exercise of voting by post

Statutory regulations on the exercise of 
voting by post are set out in the provisions 
of Paragraphs 2, 3, and 4 of Article 13 of 
its articles of association, which respectively 
stipulate that:

“Shareholders shall be entitled to exercise 
their voting rights by post, for which purpose 
they shall notify the chairman of the 
general assembly of Shareholders of their 
intention in writing, with acknowledgement 
of receipt, by no later than three business 
days prior to the date of the meeting of 
the general assembly of Shareholders to 
which such intention relates.”

“votes by post shall count for purposes 
of establishing whether quorum 
requirements for a general assembly 
meeting have been met and the 
chairman of the general assembly shall 
verify their authenticity and conformance 
to regulations as well as ensure that 
such votes are kept strictly confidential 
until voting takes place. any votes sent 
by post shall be deemed automatically 
revoked in the event of the shareholder 
in question, or his or her duly appointed 
representative, personally attending the 
meeting of the general assembly.”

“votes by post shall be counted as “nay” 
votes with regard to proposals for resolutions 
which might be submitted subsequent to the 
date on which such votes were issued.”
 
 

1.9
Provision of a registration form for 
voting by post

Inapa provides its shareholders with 
registration forms specifically designed for 
purposes of voting by post, which form is 
available on its website, http:// www.
Inapa.pt/, under investor relations, chapter 
“general assembly of Shareholders” and 
shall always be forwarded to shareholders 
upon request.

1.10 
Mandatory term between the 
receipt of a vote by post and the 
date of a meeting of the General 
Assembly of Shareholders

In conformance with the provisions of paragraph 
2 of Article 13 of Inapa’s Articles of Association:

“Shareholders may exercise their voting rights 
by post for which purpose they shall notify 
the chairman of the general assembly of 
Shareholders of their intention in writing, with 
acknowledgement of receipt, by not later 
than three business days prior to the date 
of the meeting of the general assembly of 
Shareholders to which such intention relates.”

1.11 
Exercise of voting rights via 
electronic means

to date, it has not been possible to 
reconcile the technical requirements to 
provide systems for voting by electronic 
means with Inapa’s concern that meetings 
of its general assembly of Shareholders are 
to be convened in a venue that provides 
adequate and satisfactory facilities for its 
shareholders, while it also important to 
note that, besides, the shareholders of the 
company have not, to date, conveyed to 
it their possible interest in exercising their 
voting rights via such means.

1.12  
Information on the role played by 
the General Assembly of Share-
holders in setting the remuneration 
policy of the Company and 
on assessing the performance 
of members of the Board of 
Directors

the setting and attributing of the remuneration 
and benefits of members of the Board of Directors 
is governed by a remunerations committee 
comprising three members appointed by the 
general assembly of Shareholders for a term of 
service of three years, for which service they may 
be appointed one or more times. at least one 
of the members of this committee has attended 
every meeting of the general assembly of 
Shareholders of the company.

the general assembly of Shareholders assesses 
the performance of the members of the Board 
of Directors of the company on an annual 
basis upon perusal of the company’s annual 
accounts. the assessment of the performance 
of the members of the Board of Directors 
at the general assembly of Shareholders is 
conducted by means of its approval by a vote 
of confidence in all or some of its administration 
and supervisory boards and their members or the 
dismissal of one or more of those members.

Pursuant to Act no. 28/2009, of 19 July 
2009, coming into force, and to its subsequent 
adoption of regulations (regulation no. 1 
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/2010) and recommendations issued by 
cMvM concerning the corporate governance 
of listed companies, Inapa shall be submitting to 
its shareholders at their next general assembly 
meeting a declaration on the remuneration 
policies applicable to members of its statutory 
bodies which shall contain specific details on:

mechanisms to ensure alignment of the 
personal interests of its Board of Directors 
with the interests of the Company;

criteria to define the variable component 
of their remuneration;

the existence of schemes to allocate shares 
or options to purchase shares to members 
of its administration and supervisory boards;

the possibility of paying the variable com-
ponent of their remuneration, partly or in full, 
only after results reported to all the financial 
years over which they serve on the board 
in question have been assessed;

mechanisms to limit variable remuneration 
should the results achieved during the 
preceding financial year evidence a 
decline with regard to the performance 
of the company or should they lead to 
expectations that such a decline will 
materialise with reference to the financial 
year under way;
 

the company does not offer share allocation 
schemes or options to buy shares or retirement 
plans for the benefit of the members of its 
administration and supervisory boards and 
of senior management that may conform 
to the provisions of Paragraph 3 of Article 
248°-B of the Securities Market Code.

1.13 
Defensive measures that are geared to 
automatically cause serious erosion 
of the asset base of a company 
in the event of a change in its 
controlling shareholder or a change 
in the composition of its Board  
of Directors 

the company has adopted no measures of 
that nature.

1.14 
Disclosure of significant agreements 
into which the Company has 
entered that will come into force, 
be amended, or terminate in the 
event of a change in its controlling 
shareholder, together with the 
effect of any such agreements, 
unless, owing to their nature, 
disclosure of such agreements 
may seriously damage the interests 
of the Company barring the 
circumstance that the Company is 
under the obligation of disclosing 
such information in conformance 
with any other legal imperatives

Inapa is not a party to any agreement that will 
come into force, be amended, or terminate in 
the event of a mere change in the company’s 
controlling shareholder, provided such a 

change does not interfere with Inapa’s ability 
to honour its commitments and that the new 
shareholding structure is in a position to offer 
a guarantee of identical solvency, without 
prejudice to the existence of change of control 
standard provisions in contractual clauses of 
long-term finance contacts entered into by the 
Company and certain financial institutions.

1.15 
Disclosure of agreements between 
the Company and members of the  
Board of Directors and senior mana-
gement, as defined in conformance 
with Paragraph 3 of Article 248-B 
of the Securities Market Code, 
containing provisions on the payment 
of compensation upon resig-nation, 
unfair dismissal, or termination of 
terms of employment subsequent to a 
change in the company’s controlling 
shareholder.
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no agreements between the company 
and members of the Board of Directors 
and/or senior management, as defined in 
conformance with Paragraph 3 of Article 248-
B of the Securities Market code, containing 
provisions on the payment of compensation 
upon resignation, unfair dismissal, or 
termination of terms of employment subsequent 
to a change in the company’s controlling 
shareholder are in force.

Chapter  2
ADMINISTRATION AND 
SUPERVISORY BOARDS

GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1. 
Composition of the statutory bodies 
of the Company..

pursuant to a resolution of the general 
Assembly of Shareholders of 31 May 2007, 
the company adopted the governance model 
set out in the provisions of Sub-paragraph 
b) of Paragraph 1 of Article 278 of the 
companies act as its statutory administration 
and supervisory structure, comprising a 
Board of Directors, an audit committee, and 
a chartered accountant and auditor.

the composition of the aforementioned 
statutory bodies is as follows:

Board of Directors

Chairman
vasco Luis Schulthess de Quevedo 
pessanha 

Vice-Chairman 
Jorge armindo carvalho teixeira  

Directors
José Manuel Félix Morgado  
arndt Jost Michael Klippgen   
emídio de Jesus Maria 
pedro Maria cabral norton de Matos 
abílio ramos Marques   

Executive Committee 

Chairman
José Manuel Félix Morgado              

Directors
arndt Jost Michael Klippgen

Audit Committee 

Chairman
emídio de Jesus Maria 
  
Directors
pedro Maria cabral norton de Matos
abílio ramos Marques

Chartered Accountants and 
External Auditors (CA)
 

Appointed CA 
pricewaterhousecoopers & associados, 
Sroc, Lda., represented by ricardo 
Filipe de Frias pinheiro
 
Substitute CA
José Manuel Henriques Bernardo

Having operated under this corporate 
governance model for the past three financial 
years, the Board believes that the model has 
fully met the requirements of the company, 
both in terms of its management and in terms 
of the monitoring and control of its operations 
by its supervisory bodies.

to date, no constraints arising from its 
application that may indicate the adoption of 
measures to correct the adopted model have 
been identified.

 

2.2
Identification and composition of 
special committees appointed with 
powers of an administrative or 
supervisory nature.

given the small size of its Board of Directors 
and the duties performed by the audit 
committee, the company deems that the 
appointment of any of the indicative special 
committees is not warranted.
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2.3
Organisation or functional charts describing the distribution of duties among the various statutory bodies, committees, 
and/or departments of the Company, including disclosure of the scope of delegation of powers or allocation of 
functional areas and portfolios among members of administration or supervisory bodies, and a listing of matters that 
may not be delegated.

the functional structure of the statutory bodies and respective committees is as follows:

Board of Directors

executive committee

José Félix Morgado 
arndt Klippgen

audit committee

emídio de Jesus Maria | pedro norton de 
Matos | abílio ramos Marques 

 
chartered accountant & auditor

pricewaterhousecooper&associados, 
Sroc, Lda

controller
chief accounting

Officer
Finance 

Department

afonso chaby ana callet

Investor relations
corporate communications 

Legal 
advisor

chief Information
Officer

antónio Domingues antónio alvim carlos JorgeSofia Picoto

In accordance with the provisions of article 
20 of the articles of association, the Board of 
Directors shall be entitled to exercise, in general, 
full powers in managing the affairs of the 
company and shall represent it in court and out 
of court, either as plaintiff or as defendant, as 
well as conduct all necessary acts in the pursuit 
of the business purposes of company, namely 
the following:

Setting up, maintaining, relocating, or closing 
down any of the company’s premises, plants, 
laboratories, and workshops;

Setting up, maintaining, relocating, or 
closing down any of the Company’s offices, 
branches, agencies, or any other type of 
Company premises;

purchasing, selling, and pledging in any 
manner company shares and securities held 
on its own account or any other company 
securities of an identical or similar nature;

purchasing, selling, and pledging in any 
manner shares, rights, or any other type of 
shareholdings of an identical or similar nature 
held on other companies, together with 
public debt securities;

purchasing and selling any assets other 
than fixed assets held by the Company or 
pledging such assets in any manner;

Acquiring fixed assets, as well as selling 
or pledging such assets under any acts or 
contracts, even if for purposes of providing 
tangible security against credit facilities, 
provided that a recommendation for approval 
thereof has been obtained from the audit 
Committee, in any of those instances;

admitting guilt, withdrawing, or settling out 
of court on any legal proceedings as well 
as committing to abide by the findings of 
arbitrage proceedings;

appointing duly mandated representatives in 
accordance with applicable legislation;

performing all and any other duties set out 
in the provisions of its articles of association 
and applicable legislation. 

In conformance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors of 29 June 2007 and the provisions 
of Paragraphs 3 and 4 of Article 407 of the 
companies act, the following powers were 
delegated to the executive committee, 
without prejudice to the Board of Directors, in 
conformance with the provisions of paragraph 
8 of the aforementioned Act, being entitled to 
pass resolutions on the matters it delegated:

Managing the company on a day-to-day 
basis;

Setting out plans for implementation of the 
company’s and group policies, objectives, 
and strategy for approval by the Board of 
Directors;
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Setting out general guidelines concerning the 
company’s internal organisation for approval 
by the Board of Directors;

compiling operational budgets and medium- 
and long-term investment and development 
plans, for approval by the Board of 
Directors;

approving contracts for the procurement 
of goods and services up to a limit of 
500,000.00 euros or less, per category of 
goods or services;

negotiating and contracting short-term bank 
finance agreements to fund the Company, 
subject to terms and conditions that most 
adequately suit the interests of the company.

Negotiating bank finance agreements of 
a term longer than a year and a day to 
fund the company and its subordinated 
companies and the issuing of corporate 
bonds and commercial paper programs, for 
which purpose binding the company under 
any such transactions shall be made expressly 
conditional to a prior resolution of the Board 
of Directors to the effect;

purchasing, selling, and pledging goods 
or assets accounted for as fixed assets of 
the company in accordance with budgets 
approved by the Board of Directors;

purchasing, selling, and pledging goods 
or assets accounted for as fixed assets of 
the company not included in budgets 
approved by the Board of Directors up to 
a value of 1.5% percent of realised share 
capital per item and up to a limit of  5% of 
the aforementioned capital, per annum;

renting or letting out any buildings or 
sectional title properties;

representing the company in court and out 
of court, either as plaintiff or as defendant,   
as well as proposing and filing any legal 
suits, admitting guilt, withdrawing, or settling 
out of court, and committing to abide by the 
findings of arbitrage proceedings;

purchasing, selling, or pledging shares in 
other companies, provided the transactions 
in question are included in the budget or in 
approved action plans not exceeding a limit 
of 5,000,000.00 euros per transaction, 

above which limit prior approval from the 
Board of Directors shall be required;

entering into, amending, and terminating 
terms of employment contracts and exercising 
powers of discipline over the staff;

opening, transacting, and closing bank 
accounts;

appointing duly mandated representatives 
of the company.

In the aforementioned resolution, the Board of 
Directors expressly barred a delegation of the 
following powers:

the powers set out in the provisions of Sub-
paragraphs a) to m) of Article 406 of the 
Companies Act;

resolutions on instructions that are binding 
on subordinated companies;

approval of the plan and Budget of the 
Company and subordinated companies;

approval of investment or disinvestment 
transactions of relevance into and by 
subordinated companies;

resolutions on purchases and sales of ma-
jority or controlling shareholdings or holdings 
subject to special purchase or selling offers 
in accordance with the Securities market 
Code;

resolutions on splits, mergers, or dissolution 
transactions by subordinated or associate 
companies;

In conformance with the provisions of applicable 
legislation and with the aforementioned 
resolution of the Board of Directors of 29 June 
2007, the following powers have specifically 
been granted to the audit committee:

Supervising the administration of the 
Company;

ensuring due compliance with the Law and 
the provisions of the Articles of Association;

verifying due compliance of the accounting 
books, records, and supporting documentation; 

verifying cash balances and stocks of any 
type of goods or assets owned by the 
company or held in lieu of security or in 
trust or under any other entitlement;

Verifying the accuracy of the financial 
statements;

verifying whether the accounting policies 
and valuation criteria adopted by the 
company are conducive to appropriately 
represent its assets and results;

compiling an audit report on its audit and 
supervisory action and issuing an opinion 
on the annual report and accounts and 
proposals of the Board of directors, on an 
annual basis;

convening a meeting of the general 
assembly of Shareholders, should its 
chairman fail to do so, having a duty to 
so act;

Auditing the efficacy of the risk management 
system, the internal control system, and the 
internal audit system;

Being the recipient of reports on irregularities 
which shareholders, employees or the 
Company, or other parties may submit;

auditing the process of preparation and 
disclosure of financial statements;

recommending to the general assembly 
of Shareholders the appointment of a 
Chartered Accountant and Auditor;

Supervising the audit to the financial 
statements of the Company;

Supervising the chartered accountant and 
auditor’s independence, particularly with 
regard to provision of additional services;

Notifying the Office of the Public Prosecutor 
of any contraventions of the Law constituting 
a public crime of which it may have become 
aware;

contracting for the provision of expert 
services in order to assist one or more of its 
members in the performance of their duties.
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2.4
Description of internal control and 
risk management systems imple-
mented by the Company, particularly 
with regard to disclosure of financial 
information.

2.4.1 
Main risks associated with the operations of 
Inapa Group

the strategy adopted by Inapa in the 
conduct of its business is based on a 
management model that aims to operate 
within an adequate cost-to-risk ratio while 
protecting the performance and image of 
the group, based on prudent management 
of the risks inherent in the operations of the 
various affiliate companies of the Group.

the multinational nature of the group, arising 
from the fact that the group’s commercial 
activities are operationally carried out by 
nine affiliate companies set up by Inapa, and 
the weight of paper supply in the group’s 
operations are key factors in the manner in 
which the company organised its internal 
control and risk management systems.

essentially, the key risks associated to 
the paper supply sector to which Inapa 
is exposed arise from (i) fluctuation in the 
price of paper; (ii) short-term imbalances 
between demand and supply; and (iii) 
trends in consumption patterns, taking into 
consideration that paper suppliers operate 
as a conduit between upstream paper 
producers and downstream intermediate 
paper consumers (namely companies and 
paper manufacturing industries, such as 
printers, advertisers, media companies, and 
newspaper and book publishers, among 
others), modern distributors (large-scale 
suppliers and specialised retail chains), and 
end consumers (companies in the office 
segment and individuals).

In this context, the most relevant risks to 
which Inapa is exposed in the conduit of its 
business are associated with its capacity to 
pass changes in the purchase price of paper 
and in operating costs on to customers via its 
selling prices, with emphasis on costs relative 
to logistics, warehousing, and transport costs.

on the other hand, the paper supply business 
is sensitive to changes in the behavioural 
patterns of demand, namely in segments 
such as advertising and the media, together 
with changes in the structure of distribution. 
Balance between supply and demand is 
a function of a number of factors, among 
which trends in installed production capacity 
and the level of overall economic activity 
deserve highlight.

Furthermore, the paper supply business has 
undergone structural changes in recent years 
following a spate of mergers among paper 
suppliers, especially in europe. competitor 
moves may directly or indirectly impact on 
strategic decisions of the company going 
forward and, consequently, on its positioning 
in each market and consequent economic 
and financial returns and asset allocation.

naturally, declines in economic activity 
or reductions in producer and consumer 
confidence indices may cause a slowdown 
or a fall in the demand for paper, namely 
writing and printing paper, which, in turn, 
may adversely impact the operations, 
turnover, earnings, and financial standing of 
the Inapa group.

Moreover, the multinational character of 
the Group’s operations exposes its affiliate 
companies to risks arising from developments 
in the productive capacity of their various 
geographical markets, trends in demand 
for paper from emerging economies, such 
as china and India, and their impact on 
suppliers to those markets, the impact of 
fluctuation in foreign exchange rates on the 
competitiveness of the various markets, and 
a number of regulatory issues with impact 
on world paper trade, are all factors which, 
either in combination or in isolation, may 
directly or indirectly impact the performance 
of the Company, its financial standing,  
and its earnings.

although real, currency risk exposure is 
limited on account of the fact that aggregate 
turnover in currencies other than euro (namely 
Sterling pound and Swiss Franc) accounts for 
only 8% of the total turnover of the Group.

Liquidity and interest rate risk are equally 
relevant from a financial standpoint. The 
interest rates charged on the majority of 

Inapa Group’s financial indebtedness are 
linked to variable market rates, as a result 
of which Inapa is thereby exposed to market 
risk on interest rate changes.

In the conduct of Inapa’s business and as 
a result of its organisational structure, the 
group is exposed to certain operational 
risks, including interruptions or delays in 
providing services to its customers.

In addition, Inapa identifies its capacity 
to retain its customer base and its ability 
to hire and retain the most competent and 
adequately skilled staff to perform each duty 
as risks associated with its operations.

2.4.2 
Internal control and risk management 
systems

In order to mitigate the aforementioned risks, 
the company has put in place a functional 
structure, as depicted in the organisational 
chart included with Paragraph II.3, above, 
and considers that that structure has proven 
adequate in achieving internal control and risk 
management objectives.

In its efforts to ensure effective internal control of 
Inapa’s business and adequate management 
of the risks inherent in the conduct of its 
business, as described above, Inapa group 
companies submit monthly reports compiled 
in accordance with preset procedures and 
parameters, containing information on their 
sales performance and variances in stocks, 
receivables, liabilities, and treasury, related to 
the period in question.

this information is examined by Inapa’s 
Management control, Finance, and accounting 
departments.

Inapa group’s software systems, which are 
under the control of an autonomous manager, 
reconcile and validate the data submitted by 
group companies.

In turn, the activities of the aforementioned 
Departments are controlled by the executive 
committee on an on-going basis and are subject 
to regular scrutiny by the Board of Directors, the 
audit committee, and the chartered accountant 
and auditor in the performance of the duties 
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attributed to them by Law or the company’s 
articles of association.

It is also important to highlight that all 
management information gathered is subject to 
regular scrutiny in conformance with applicable 
legal or regulatory provisions by the external 
auditors, whose full compliance to requirements 
is subject to monitoring by the audit committee 
of the Board of Directors within the scope of  
its own duties.

As concerns financial risks, and although Inapa 
has not been hedging its exposure to adverse 
changes in market interest rates, which may, in 
turn, have an adverse impact on its performance, 
financial standing, and earnings, Inapa 
group’s Finance Department strives to manage 
the impact of changing interest rates on the 
group by monitoring market developments on 
an on-going basis and by being in a position 
to contract the type of financial instruments 
employed to mitigate the impact of interest  
rate volatility.
 
operational risks arising from the conduct 
of Inapa group’s operations are monitored 
by the company on an on-going basis by 
means of the administrative and information 
systems it implemented to the effect, having 
arranged for insurance policies to cover certain  
operational risks.

2.5
Powers of the Board of Directors, 
particularly as concerns the passing of 
resolutions to increase share capital

a detailed description of the statutory 
powers conferred on Board of Directors 
of Inapa is included in paragraph  
II.3, above.

In accordance with the provisions of article 
7 of the company’s articles of association, 
the Board of Directors may increase share 
capital, one or more times, in cash, up to a 
limit of one hundred and fifty million Euros. 
those powers may be exercised within a 
term of five years. When exercising such 
powers, the Board of Directors of Inapa 
shall set out the terms and conditions 
applicable to subscriptions of new shares 
on issue, subject to a recommendation for 
approval thereof being obtained from the 
audit committee.

 

2.6
Disclosure of the existence of 
regulations governing the ope-
ration of the statutory bodies of 

the Company or other regulations 
relative to incompatibilities that 
may have been internally identified, 
the maximum number of positions 
that may be cumulatively held, and 
the location where such regulations 
may be consulted.

on its corporate website, under its 
“Investor relations” menu and “corporate 
governance” menu item, the company 
publishes its regulations governing the 
operation of its approved, ruling statutory 
bodies. at present, its “Board of Directors 
regulations”, approved on 29 June 2007, 
are in force and govern the operation 
of both the Board of Directors, strictly 
speaking, and of the executive and audit 
committees.

rules concerning incompatibility and the 
maximum number of positions that may 
be cumulatively held are not specifically 
regulated by the company.

 

2.7
Rules on the appointment and 
replacement of members of adminis-
tration and supervisory boards.
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the members of the administration and 
supervisory boards are appointed for three-
year terms of service by a simple majority of 
votes of shareholders attending a meeting 
of the general assembly of Shareholders.

In conformity with the provisions of 
Paragraph 2 of Article 18 of its Articles 
of association, “Shareholders who voted 
against the winning proposal on a list of 
appointees to the Board of Directors shall 
be entitled to appoint a Director provided 
that such a minority of shareholders 
represents at least 10% of share capital, 
subject to the appointment in question being 
voted on by the aforementioned minority of 
shareholders at the same meeting, and the 
Director appointed in such circumstances 
shall automatically replace the member 
of the winning list of appointees with the 
fewest votes or, in the event of a tie, the last 
member on the winning list of appointees”.
replacement of the members of the 
administration and supervisory boards is 
undertaken by their respective alternates 
appointed by the general assembly of 
Shareholders.

In the absence of an alternate Director 
appointed by the general assembly of 
Shareholders, the Board of Directors shall 
strive to provide the necessary replacement 
by co-opting a member, and appointments 
of co-opted members shall be ratified at the 
next meeting of the general assembly of 
Shareholders following the meeting at which 
the removal or resignation of the member in 
question is approved or accepted.

 

2.8.
Number of meetings held by the 
administration and supervisory boards 
and by other appointed committees 
endowed with administrative and 
supervisory powers during the course 
of the financial year in question..

During the course of 2009, the Board of 
Directors held 8 meetings, the Executive 
committee held 7 meetings, and the audit 
committee held 11 meetings.

2.9
Identification of the members of the Board of Directors and its Committees, 
identifying which members perform executive and non-executive duties 
and, among the latter, which members comply with the incompatibility 
rules set out in Paragraph 1 of Article 414-A of the Companies Act, 
subject to the exception set out in the provisions of Sub-paragraph b), 
and with the independence criteria set out in Paragraph 5 of Article 414, 
both provisions referenced in the Companies Act.
 
The following Table identifies the members of the Board of Directors of Inapa, together 
with their respective distribution as a function of the executive or non-executive nature of 
their duties: 

vasco Luis Schulthess de Quevedo pessanha
Jorge armindo carvalho teixeira
emídio de Jesus Maria
pedro norton de Matos
abílio ramos Marques

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

José Manuel Félix Morgado
arndt Jost Michael Klippgen

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The following Table identifies which Non-Executive Directors comply with (i) the incompatibility 
rules set out in Paragraph 1 of Article 414-A, subject to the exception set out in the provisions 
of Sub-paragraph b), if applicable, and (ii) the independence criteria set out in paragraph 5 
of Article 414, both provisions referenced to the Companies Act:

Vasco Luis Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha

Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira 

Emídio de Jesus Maria 

Abílio Ramos Marques 

Pedro Norton de Matos

NAME                                                           INCOMPATIBILITIES        INDEPENDENCE   

Incompatible
(serves as a Director in 
5 or more companies)

Incompatible
(serves as a Director in 5  
or more companies)

Not incompatible

Not incompatible

Incompatible
(serves as a Director in 5 
or more  companies)

Non-Independent
(reappointed for more 
than two terms of service)

Independent 

Independent 

Non-Independent
(is a member of top man-
agement in a company 
that holds a qualified in-
terest in Inapa) 

Independent 
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2.10
Academic qualifications and professional experience of the members 
of the Board of Directors, including disclosure of duties performed or 
positions held for at least the last five years, number of shares held in the 
Company, date of first appointment to the Board and date of termination 
of term of service

Executive Directors

José Manuel Félix Morgado

Mr. José Morgado holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business economics and administration 
from Universidade católica portuguesa, having specialized in asset and Liabilities 
Management with InSeaD.

From 1990 to 1993, he was a manager at Samuel Montagu Investment Bank and HSBC 
Investment Bank, in London and Lisbon;

From 1993 to 2005, he was a senior manager at Banco Comercial Português, having 
performed duties as a member of the Management committee of Bcp Investimento, 
among other duties, the cFo of Seguros & pensões, a member of the Board of Directors of 
ocidental vida, ocidental Seguros, Medis - companhia portuguesa de Seguros de Saúde, 
Império Bonança, Império comércio e Indústria, companhia de Seguros de Macau, and 
pensões gere, and the chairman of the Board of Directors of Império vida y Diversos.

From 2005 to 2006, he was a senior manager at eDp, having performed duties, among 
others, as cFo and subsequently, as Managing Director of onI SpgS, S.a., having been 
responsible for the plans to restructure and reposition the company in the portuguese and 
Spanish markets.

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen

Born in Dresden, East Germany, in 1950. In   1973, Mr. Arndt Klippgen obtained a 
Diplom-Kaufmann academic degree from the University of Hamburg.

From 1974 to 1988, he was a General Manager at paper merchantr Richard Klippgen & 
co, reinbeck.

In 1988, he led the merger of Richard Klippgen & Co., Reinbeck with three other  
paper merchants.

From 1988 to 2000, he was a General Manager at Papier Union, GmbH & Co., KG and 
has been the ceo of papier Union, gmbH from 2000 to date.

Non-executive Directors

Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha

Mr. vasco  pessanha holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics from the ISceF Institute of 
Lisbon’s Universidade técnica and has completed the advanced Management program 
from the Harvard Business School.
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From 1970 to 1972, he was a corporate management and organization consultant with 
norMa, Sa (cUF group).

From 1972 to 1973, he was an executive manager at NEOCEL – Impressão e Manufactura, 
Lda. In 1973, he was appointed as a Director of Inapa – Indústria Nacional de Papel, SA.

From 1975 to 1987, he served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa - 
Indústria nacional de papéis, S.a..

From 1987 to 2006, he held the following positions:

chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa - Investimentos, participações e gestão, Sa 
and  of its domestic and foreign subsidiaries;

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio, S.A.;

Director of Solvay Portugal - Produtos Químicos, S.A.;

Director / Manager of the asset management companies of a familial nature listed in 
addendum I to this report.

currently, he holds the positions and performs the duties described in paragraph 2.11 of 
this report.

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira

Mr. Jorge armindo  holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics from the Faculty of economics 
of porto.

From 1976 to 1992, he was an assistant professor of Business economics and International 
Financial Management at Faculty of economics of porto.

From 1982 to 1987, he served as Chief Financial Officer at Amorim Group.

From 1987 to 1997, he served as Vice-Chairman of the Amorim Group and a member of 
the Board of Directors of various companies of that group.

From 1997 to 2000, he served as a non-executive vice-chairman of the amorim group.

From 1998 to 2004, he served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Portucel 
Soporcel group and a number of subsidiaries of that group and as a Director of Inapa 
- Investimentos, participações e gestão, S.a.

During 2005, he served as chairman of the Board of Directors of portucel - empresa de 
celulose e papel de portugal, SgpS, S.a., edifer - SgpS, S.a., portucel tejo - empresa de 
celulose e papel do tejo, S.a., Iberpartners - gestão e reestruturação de empresas, S.a., 
Fundição do alto da Lixa, S.a..

During the course of that year, he also served as a member of the Board of Directors of 
Inapa - Investimentos, participações e gestão, S.a..

currently, he performs the administration duties described in paragraph 2.11 of this report.
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Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos

Mr. pedro norton de Matos holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business economics and 
administration from IScte.

From 1977 to 1980, he was a Sales Agent for Rank Xerox. From 1980 to 1984, he was 
a Sales Agent for Sperry / Unisys. From 1984 to 1986, he was a Sales Manager at 
Inforgal. From 1986 to 1988, he was a Sales Manager at Sperry / Unisys.

From 1988 to 1990, he acted as an Advisor to the Board / Strategy Manager of Rima 
/ nixdorf.

From 1991 to 1995, he served as Managing Director of Unisys portugal.

From   1995   to  2000, he served as the chairman of group Ibérico, having also been 
a former Manager of Unisys’ Southern europe region.

From 2000 to 2005, he chaired the executive committee of oni SpgS and was a former 
chairman of the Board of onitelecom.

currently, he performs the duties described in paragraph 2.11 of this report.

Abílio Ramos Marques

Mr. ramos Marques holds a Bachelor’s degree in Finance from Instituto Superior de 
ciências económicas e Financeiras and has completed the corporate top Management 
program from IeSe (Universidade de navarra).

From 1971 to 1973, he performed duties as a Junior Economist at Intermercado - Gestão 
de empresas, SarL.

From 1973 to 1976, he performed his military service.

From 1976 to 1978, he was Head of Accounts Dept. at Rodoviária Nacional, EP.

From 1978 to 1996, he was a Senior Manager at Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel 
de portugal, S.a., having performed duties as:

Head of Budget Control Dept.;

Head of Finance Dept.;

Head of Accounts Dept.;

Financial Officer.

From 1996 to 2003, he was a Manager at Hidroeléctrica de Cabora Bassa, SARL.

From 2003 to 2005, he served as an Advisor to the Board of Directors of the Portucel 
- empresa de celulose e papel de portugal, SgpS, S.a.

From 2005 to date, he has been a Manager at parpública - participações públicas,  
SgpS, S.a.
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Emídio de Jesus Maria

Having graduated with a  degree in economics from the Instituto Superior de economia of Universidade técnica de Lisboa, 
in 1978, he has been an Accountant since 1980 and a Chartered Accountant and Auditor since 1990 (having voluntarily 
suspended such duties for the time being). 

From 1979 a 1980, he performed duties as a Technical Economist at the Management Information and Control Dept. of 
telefones de Lisboa e porto.

From 1980 a 2003, he performed duties as an Inspector at the Inspectorate-General for Finance:

As technical staff (from 1980 to 1984), he audited a variety of public companies;

As an Inspector-Coordinator, Finance, he was a member of the Audit Department (from 1985 to 1988);

As an Inspector-Manager, Finance (1988 to 1994), he launched and managed the SCCC – Community Control Coordination 
Dept., having also performed the following duties:

i) representing portugal in committees and working groups of the european commission and council, namely its advisory 
Committee on Anti-Fraud Combat Coordination;
ii) chairing cIFg – Inter-ministerial committee for coordination and control of the application of the Feoga-guarantee 
Funding System;

He performed duties as an assistant Inspector-general, Finance, managing the following sectors:

i) Private and co-operative companies (from 1994 to 1997);
ii) Tax Revenues and Tax and Customs Administration (from 1997 to 2003).

From 1990 to 2008, he performed duties as a Chartered Accountant and Auditor and Consultant.

He performed duties as an accountant and auditor, as a member of audit and supervisory bodies of private and public 
companies and providing other related services;

He chaired the Public Sector Technical Committee of OROC-Association of Chartered Accountants and Auditors (from 2003 to 
2007) under which scope he also chaired the Public Sector Committee of FEE - Fédération des Experts Comptables Européens;

He was a member of proposal evaluation committees on public tenders for the award of highway concessionary contracts 
(Public and Private Partnerships);

He acted as an advisor to the Secretariat-General for Treasury and Finance;

He was a member of a consulting team on the “technical assistance to the Domestic Inspectorate for Finance of the Ministry 
of Finance” project in angola, funded by the International Development agency/World Bank, from 2005 to 2006.

other duties and positions held:

Lecturer in Auditing and Inspection at Instituto Superior de Gestão, Lisbon, from 1987 to 1989;

Member of the Audit Committee of the EIB – European Investment Bank (Luxemburg), from 1996 to 2003, during which 
time he chaired the Committee for two years;

Member of the General Council and Executive Committee of CNC – Accounting Standards Committee, from 1995 to 2003;

Member of the executive committee of UcLeFa – coordinating Unit in the combat against tax and customs evasion and 
Fraud, from 1998 to 2003; and

chairman of the Monitoring committee of Fat – Work accidents Funds, from 2001 to 2006.
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SHAREHOLDING INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY HELD BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS [AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2009]

(*) Co-opted as a Director on 9 November 2004, having terminated his service on 25 May 2005 and 
having again been co-opted on 15 February 2007

(**) From 06/07/2000 to 25/05/2005, as a representative of papercel - celulose e papel de 
portugal, SgpS, S.a..

Dr. Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha
Shares held by persons or entities conforming to 
the provisions of Article 447 and of Paragraph 
2 of article 1 of the cMvM regulation no. 
7/2001, as amended by cMvM regulation 
no. 10/2005 (attributable to Directors)

Dr. José Manuel Félix Morgado

Dr. Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen

Dr. Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos

Dr. Emídio de Jesus Maria

Dr. Abílio Ramos Marques 
Shares held by persons or entities conforming to 
the provisions of Article 447 and of Paragraph 
2 of article 1 of the cMvM regulation no. 
7/2001, as amended by cMvM regulation 
no. 10/2005 (attributable to Directors)

NAME                                                                             QUANTITY            VOTING RIGHTS   

1,020,000

980,000

563,631

0

0

0

0

0

49,084,738

1.68%

0.65%

0.38%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

32.72%

DATE OF FIRST APPOINTMENT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND DATE OF 
TERMINATION OF THEIR TERM OF SERVICE

Dr. Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha

Dr. José Manuel Félix Morgado (*)

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen

Dr. Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira (**)

Dr. Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos

Dr. Abílio Ramos Marques 

Dr. Emídio de Jesus Maria

NAME                                                              FIRST APPOINTMENT           TERMINATION OF 
TERM OF SERVICE

29.05.1973

09.11.2004

31.05.2007

06.07.2000

26.06.2006

31.05.2007

09.04.2008

31.12.2009

31.12.2009

31.12.2009

31.12.2009

31.12.2009

31.12.2009

31.12.2009
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2.11
Duties performed or positions held 
by members of the Board of Directors 
in other companies, including disclo-
sure of duties and positions in other  
Group companies.

Vasco Luís Schulthess de Quevedo 
Pessanha

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

no duties or positions.

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

Investimentos prediais da rocha - 
Imprerocha, S.A.;
Mepesa - Sociedade de Investimentos 
Imobiliários, Lda;
Sagritávora - Sociedade agrícola da 
Quinta do Távora, S.A.;
Sociedade agrícola da Quinta dos 
Buxeiros, Lda;
Solvay Portugal, S.A..;
Sociedade agrícola da alvarinheira S.a..

José Manuel Félix Morgado

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

Gestinapa - SGPS, S.A.;
Inapa Portugal - Distribuição de Papel, S.A.;
Inapa Deutschland GmbH;
Papier Union, GmbH (Beirat);
Inapa France, Sas;
Logistipack, S.A.;
Inapa Suisse, S.A.;
Inapa Belgium, S.A.;
Inapa Luxembourg, S.A.;
Inapa españa Distribuición de papel, S.a..

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

Medialivros - Actividades Editoriais, S.A.;
poresin - Investimentos Mobiliários e 
Imobiliários, Lda..

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira 

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

no duties or positions.

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

amorim - entertainment e gaming 
Internacional, Sgps, S.A.;
Amorim Turismo - Serviços e Gestão, S.A.;
Amorim Turismo, Sgps, S.A.;
Amorim Turismo Imobiliária, Sgps, S.A.;
Cht - Casino Hotel de Tróia, S.A.;
Drink In - companhia de Indústria de 
Bebidas e Alimentação, S.A.;
Edifer, Sgps, S.A.;
Estoril Sol, Sgps, S.A.;
Fozpatrimónio, S.A.;
Goldtur - Hotéis e Turismo, S.A.;
grano Salis - Inv. turísticos, Jogo e 
Lazer, S.A.;
Hotel Turismo, SARL;
Iberpartners - gestão e reestruturação 
de Empresas, S.A.;
Imofoz, S.A.;
Mobis - Hotéis de Moçambique, SARL;
Notel - Empreendimentos Turísticos, SARL;
prifalésia - construção e gestão de 
Hotéis, S.A.;
Return - Investimentos Hoteleiros e Jogo, S.A.;
Royspa - Serviços de Consultadoria, Lda;
Sgghm - Sociedade geral de Hotéis 
De Moçambique, S.A.;
Sociedade Figueira Praia, S.A.;
Spigh - Sociedade portuguesa de 
Investimentos e Gestão Hoteleira, S.A.;
Troia Península Investimentos, Sgps, S.A.;
Turyleader, Sgps, S.A.;
 

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH;
Papier Union, GmbH;
PMF – Print Media Factoring, GmbH;
Inapa Packaging, GmbH;
Inapa VisCom, GmbH;
Inapa Logistics, GmbH;
ComPlott – Papier Union, GmbH;
Inapa Suisse, S.a..

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

no duties or positions.

Abílio Ramos Marques

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

no duties or positions.

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

ce- circuito estoril, S.a.

Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

no duties or positions.

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

Gingko, Lda.;
Hábitos Saudáveis, Lda.;
Visão Positiva, Lda.;
Parceria Total, Lda.; 
Have a Nice Day, Lda.;

Other duties or positions 
at other companies

oracle – membro do advisory Board

Emídio de Jesus Maria

Companies of the Inapa Group, 
other than the Company 
(Director/Manager)

no duties or positions.

Other companies 
(Director/Manager)

Santander totta seguros S.a. - Member 
of the audit committee
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2.12
Identification of the members of 
the Audit Committee, including 
disclosure of which members comply 
with the incompatibility rules set out 
in Paragraph 1 of Article 414-A and 
with the independence criterion set 
out in the provisions of Paragraph 5 of 
Article 414, both provisions referenced 
in the Companies Act.

not applicable.

2.13
Academic qualifications and profe-
ssional experience of the members 
of the Audit Committee, including 
disclosure of duties performed or 
positions held for at least the last five 
years, number of shares held in the 
Company, date of first appointment to 
the Committee and date of termination 
of term of service.

not applicable.

2.14
Duties performed and positions held 
by members of the Audit Committee in 
other companies, including disclosure 
of duties performed or positions held 
in other Group companies.

not applicable.

2.15
Identification of the members of the 
General and Supervisory Board and 
of any of its Committees, including 
disclosure of which members comply 
with the incompatibility rules set 
out in Paragraph 1 of Article 414-A, 
including its Sub-paragraph f), and 
with the independence criterion set 
out in the provisions of Paragraph 5 of 
Article 414, both provisions referenced 
in the Companies Act.

not applicable.

2.16
Academic qualifications and profe-
ssional experience of the members of 
the General and Supervisory Board and 
of any of its Committees, including 
disclosure of duties performed or 
positions held for at least the last five 
years, number of shares held in the 
Company, date of first appointment to 
the Committee and date of termination 
of term of service.

not applicable.

negotiated or by means of a transaction 
in the event of removal, and disclosure 
of any other payments linked to early 
termination of terms of service.

the company and its Directors have not 
entered into any agreement on the payment 
of compensation in the event of removal or on 
any other any other payments linked to early 
termination of their terms of service as Directors 
of the company.

With a view to ensure alignment of the interests 
of the company with the personal interests 
of its Directors, the remunerations committee 
has defined a variable remuneration model 

2.17
Duties performed and positions 
held by members of the General and 
Supervisory Board and any of its 
Committees, including disclosure of 
duties performed and positions held in 
other Group companies.

not applicable.

2.18
Description of the remuneration 
policy, namely including the means 
whereby the personal interests of 
Directors are aligned with the interests 
of the Company and their performance 
assessment, together with an indication 
of which Directors serve in an executive 
and in a non-executive capacity and 
including a summary and explanation 
of the Company’s policy on the 
terms and conditions for payment of 
compensation, whether contractually 

applicable to members of the Board of Directors 
that serve in an executive capacity which is 
structured to include an annual component and 
a multi-annual component applicable to their full 
term of service. 

the amount of the variable component is 
calculated as a function of the real value attained 
with reference to strategic variables for Inapa’s 
business and to the respective achievement of 
targets approved by the Board of Directors.

2.19
Disclosure of the composition of 
the Remunerations Committee or 
equivalent body, if applicable, including 
disclosure of which of its members also 
serve in the Board of Directors, together 
with identification of their spouses, 
relatives, and direct descendants to the 
3rd degree, inclusively.

currently, the members of the remunerations 
committee are:
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Dr. João Vieira de Almeida;
Dr. João Plácido Pires; e
Dr. paulo José de ribeiro Moita de Macedo. 

There are no family or affinity relations among the members of the Remunerations Committee 
and/or between any of them and any of the members of the Board of Directors and none are 
direct descendents to the 3rd degree, inclusively, of any of those members, and no member of the 
remunerations committee serves as a member of an administration board of the company. 

2.20
Disclosure of remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors, 
including performance bonuses, during the financial year under analysis.

In 2009, remuneration paid to the Directors of the Company totalled €715,580 
(aggregate remuneration).

on an individual basis, the aforementioned sum was paid to the following Directors:

MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Under prior terms and conditions, the variable component of remuneration is not subject to 
deferral conditions and is calculated as a function of 96,600.

NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

* renounced to the term in 02.02.2009

no rights to share allocations, options to purchase shares, schemes to allocate shares or 
rights to purchase shares options, or any other share-based incentive schemes are awarded 
to members of statutory bodies.

During the course of the financial year 
under analysis, no remuneration was paid 
to members of statutory bodies in the form of 
a share in profits and/or bonus payments or 
as indemnity, and no compensation is due 
to former executive Directors.

the company does not provide comple-
mentary retirement or early retirement 
benefits to Directors and does not grant 
them material non-cash benefits that may be 
deemed to constitute remuneration.

2.21 
Disclosure, on an individual basis, of 
balances payable upon termination 
of duties during the course of their term 
of service when greater than double 
the amount of fixed remuneration, 
regardless of the nature.

there are no applicable provisions or agreements 
under which any balances are payable upon 
termination of duties during the course of the 
term of service of any member of the company’s 
statutory bodies, without prejudice to the provisions 
of the companies act relative to unfair dismissal.

2.22 
Disclosure of the policy adopted by 
the Company on reporting irregular 
practices.

the employees of Inapa group (management 
and staff of the parent company, Directors, 
and management and staff of its affiliate 
companies) are bound to report any irregular 
practices of which they may have become 
aware being perpetrated in Inapa group 
companies at which they are employed to the  
following officials:

to the chairman of the executive committee 
of Inapa, should such irregular practices 
involve the management and staff of the parent 
company, Directors, and the management 
and staff of its affiliate companies, which 
official shall subsequently report it to the 
chairman of the audit committee as soon 
as he or she may deem fit considering the 
prevailing circumstances;

to the chairman of the audit committee of 

Vasco Luis Schulthess de Quevedo Pessanha

Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira 

Emídio de Jesus Maria

Pedro Maria Cabral Norton de Matos

Abílio Ramos Marques

Paulo Jorge dos Santos Fernandes*

José Manuel Félix Morgado

Arndt Michael Jost Klippgen 

NAME                                       FIXED REMUNERATION    VARIABLE REMUNERATION        TOTAL

350,000

35,000

96,600

-

446,600

35,000

96,000

49,000

70,500

16,500

-

2,250

96,000

49,000

70,500

16,500

-

2,250

-

-

-

-

-

-

NAME                                          FIXED REMUNERATION  VARIABLE REMUNERATION      TOTAL
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Inapa, should such irregular practices involve the 
Directors of Inapa itself or of its supervisory board, 
and/or its staff, or should it involve a member 
of the audit committee or the chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the company.

Such allegations shall be submitted in writing 
and their author shall be entitled to demand 
from their recipient a written statement to the 
effect that the information in question shall be 
treated in the strictest confidence.

The reporting official shall be assured that, 
barring allegations of a calumnious nature, any 
information provided within the scope of these 
regulations shall neither be raised as grounds for 
instituting proceedings against him or her nor for 
any unfavourable treatment towards him or her.

Chapter  3 
INFORMATION

3.1
Structure of share capital, including 
disclosure of shares restricted from 
trading, types of shares, rights and 
obligations inherent to ownership 
thereof, and percentage of share 
capital accounted for by each type 
of share.

the share capital of the company is 
represented by one hundred and fifty million 
ordinary shares of one euro each.

THE STRUCTURE OF THE SHARE CAPITAL OF 
INAPA IS BROKEN DOWN AS FOLLOWS:

Parpública - Participações Públicas SGPS,SA

Shares attributable to Millennium BCP (Art. 20 of the CVM)

Banco Comercial Português, SA

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP

Banco Millennium BCP Investimento,SA

Albano R. N. Alves-Distribuião de papel, S.A.

SHAREHOLDER NAME                                                                                      NO. OF SHARES          % DO CAPITAL         % VOTING RIGHTS

49,084,738

27,391,047

10,315,846

16,521,635

553,566

3,083,851

32.72%

18.26%

6.88%

11.01%

0.37%

2.06%

32.72%

18.26%

6.88%

11.01%

0.37%

2.06%

the shares in question are fully held for trading in a regulated market (euronext Lisbon), confer 
identical rights on their respective owners, and no segregation per type of shares applies.

3.2
Disclosure of qualified holdings in the share capital of the issuer calculated 
in conformance to the provisions of Article 20 of Código dos Valores 
Mobiliários (the Securities Market Act).

Parpública - Participações Públicas 
SGPS,SA

Shares attributable to Millennium 
BCP (Art. 20 of the CVM)

Banco Comercial Português, SA

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP

Banco Millennium BCP Investimento,SA

Jorge Augusto Martins Fazendeiro

Own name

Shares held by a person or entity
conforming to the provisions of Article 447

SHAREHOLDER NAME                              NO. OF SHARES  %  DO CAPITAL  %  VOTING RIGHT

49,084,738

27,391,047

10,315,846

16,521,635

553,566

3,083,851

3,033,851

50,000

32.72%

18.26%

6.88%

11.01%

0.37%

2.06%

2.02%

0.03%

32.72%

18.26%

6.88%

11.01%

0.37%

2.06%

2.02%

0.03%

3.3
Disclosure of shareholders entitled to special rights and description of 
such rights.

no shareholders are entitled to special rights.

3.4
Disclosure of possible restrictions to free transfer of ownership of the 
shares, such as consent to sell clauses, or any restrictions on the ownership 
of such shares.

no restrictions to free transfer of ownership of the shares representing the capital of Inapa apply, 
namely no consent to sell clauses or any restrictions on the ownership of such shares apply.
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3.5
Disclosure of shareholder agree-
ments of which the Company may be 
aware of and that may be conducive 
to restrictions on free transfer of 
securities or voting rights.

the company is not aware of any 
shareholder agreements that may be 
conducive to restrictions on free transfer of 
securities or voting rights.

3.6. 
Regulations applicable to amend-
ments to the Company’s bylaws;

Statutory amendments are passed by 
shareholders at meetings of the general 
assembly of Shareholders subject to the 
required majority of votes, in conformance 
with the provisions of the companies act.

3.7 
Control mechanisms provided 
under possible s of stock options 
scheme in the capital of the 
Company to personnel insofar as 
their voting rights is not directly 
exercised by such personnel.

the company does not have any stok option 
scheme to award shares in the capital of the 
company to its personnel.

3.8 
Description of the issuer’s share 
price performance.

Following 2008, when prevailing market con-
ditions were the most adverse of the last few 
decades, 2009 was marked by resumption of 
a significant upturn in most equity markets. The 
main stock market indices grew by 19% to 30%.

Despite maintenance of a severely adverse 
macroeconomic environment, portugal’s stock 
market did not fail to rise in tandem with the 
general upswing in world equity markets, with 
its most representative index – the pSI20 index 
– recording gains of 33%.

However, trading volumes in the portuguese 
stock market reduced to 31.8 thousand 
million Euros, recording a fall of 42% when 
compared to 2008.

In 2009, Inapa shares once again out-
performed the market, both with regard 
to trading volumes and to its share price 
performance.

the volume of company shares traded on the 
Stock Exchange rose to 349.4 million shares, 
up 88% on 2008, equating to a rate of 2.33 
times its share capital. the increase in trade 
volumes has remained on a steady upward 
trend since 2007. From 2006 to 2009, the 
volume of Inapa shares traded on the Stock 
Exchange grew 43 times, which is quite an 
uncommon event that demonstrates increasing 
appetite for Inapa shares among investors, 
bearing also in mind that the company did 
not acquire any of its own shares.

together with the above trends, the fact that 
there were no announcements of new stable 
qualified shareholding interests in conjunction 
with the fact that an increasing number of 
domestic and foreign stock brokers have 
been involved in transactions of Inapa shares 
is a clear indication of growing interest in 
the acquisition of holdings of Inapa shares 
by a growing number of investors that are 
more widely distributed, worldwide.

as concerns the value of transactions, the value 
of trades in Inapa shares grew to 201.4 million 
Euros, increasing by 45% from 2008 to 2009.

The share price closed the year at €0.64, up 
88.2% on December 2008, which compares 
very favorably with a 33% increase in the PSI20 
Index for the same period.

From the perspective of the Board of Directors, 
the above performance cannot fail to be 
associated with four key goals Inapa has been 
pursuing since 2007, as follows:

Steady improvement in Inapa group’s 
operating performance with a consequent 
increase in its economic results and 
earnings;

changes to the company’s corporate 
governance model with a view to comply 
to best practices on such matters;

Quality and accuracy of the economic 
and financial information disclosed to 
shareholders and investors; and

a share price with potential for growth 
grounded on its satisfactory performance 
following the implementation of its Inapa 
2010 plan and on Inapa’s growth 
prospects, going forward.

as a consequence of the substantial increase 
in its share price and trading volumes, and 
after the close of its 2009 financial year, 
Inapa was selected for inclusion in portugal’s 
main stock market index – the pSI20 Index 
– for the first time in its long history as a 

listed company.
this development, which the Board of 
Directors views with pride, reflects the 
market’s acknowledgement of its efforts 
to regularly release market information of 
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quality and, most especially, the fact that has 
been pursuing the right strategies.

Inapa continued to be regularly followed in 
terms of its economic and financial analysis 
by Banco português de Investimento and 
caixa Banco de Investimento, which issued 
a number of analytical reports on Inapa 
during the course of 2009.

as already stated, regular disclosure of 
information, and its quality and accuracy 
are a priority concern for Inapa and, in 
that regard, it released duly and in a timely 
manner annual and semi-annual reports on 
its earnings performance together with other 
relevant information to the market and to all 
market participants, in strict respect by a 
code of equality in the right to information.

adding value to shareholders shall remain 
a priority for the Board of Directors, which, 
together  with the adoption of best practices 
in corporate governance and the release 
of market information, leads the Board 
of Directors of Inapa to believe that those 
practices are susceptible of enhancing the 
performance of Inapa’s share price.

no new shares or other securities entitling their 
owners to rights to subscribe or acquire shares 
or to dividend payments were issued during 
the course of financial year under analysis.

3.9
Description of the dividend distri-
bution policy adopted by the 
Company, namely disclosing 
dividends per share paid over the 
last three financial years.

to Inapa, dividend distribution is an instrument 
relevant to remunerate its shareholders.
 
the practices it had consistently followed in 
the past were suspended in 2001 and the 
company intends to resume those practices 
as soon as macroeconomic constraints, the 
volume of earnings available for distribution, 
and the financial environment under which it 
operates, allow.

Over its last three financial years, Inapa paid 
no dividends to shareholders, having rather 
elected to strengthen its financial position.

3.10
Disclosure of schemes to allocate 
shares or options to buy shares 
adopted or in force during the 
course of the financial year 
under analysis, grounds for such 
schemes, position held by and 
number of recipients, terms and 
conditions for such allocations, 
clauses restricting transfer of 
shares, share price based criteria 
and exercising of option rights, 
applicable term during which 
such options may be exercised, 
characteristics of the shares being 
allocated, existence of incentive 
schemes to purchase shares and/or 
exercise options to buy shares, and 
powers of the Board of Directors 
to execute or amend such schemes.

the company has not approved any scheme 
to allocate shares or options to buy shares.

3.11 
Description of the main features 
of business or transactions entered 
into by the Company and the 
members of its board of directors 
and supervisory board, holders of 
qualified shares, or controlling or 
group shareholders, provided such 
business or transactions is materially 
relevant to either of the parties 
involved, barring any business or 
transactions that are cumulatively 
undertaken under normal market 
conditions for similar transactions 
and that may be part and parcel of 
the Company’s current operations.

no business or transactions were entered 
into by the company and the members of 
its board of directors and supervisory board 
during the financial year under analysis.

Business or transactions entered into by the 
Company and holders of qualified shares – 
as is the case of Banco comercial português 
– and by the company controlling or group 
shareholders were undertaken under normal 
market conditions for similar transactions 
and are a part of the company’s  
current operations.

3.12
Investor Relations Office

Inapa provides investors with an Investor 
Relations Office, which also represents the 
company in its relations with the market.

This Office equally manages relations with 
market and stock market regulators (namely 
cMvM, euronext, Interbolsa, opex), 
financial players (brokers and financial 
brokers, financial institutions), and private 
and institutional investors.

The Investor Relations Office may be 
contacted through the offices of the 
company’s :

Investor Relations Officer:

Dr. António José Nogueira Simão 
Domingues
Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA

Investor Relations Office
Rua Castilho nº 44 3º
1250 – 071 Lisboa

e-mail : 
antónio.domingues@inapa.pt
info@inapa.pt
www.inapa.pt

Tel.  + 351 21 382 30 08
Fax. + 351 21 382 30 16

Inapa has been increasingly implementing 
the use of the technology for purposes of 
releasing relevant information, a practice 
it has been developing and consolidating 
over the last few years.

to that end, the company maintains 
a corporate website on the Internet, in 
portuguese and english, at the following 
address:

www.inapa.pt,

In addition to an area dedicated to 
institutional and corporate information and 
to an area containing general information 
on the activities of the Inapa group and its 
subsidiary and associate companies, the 
website includes areas that are especially 
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dedicated to investor relations and to 
relations with the media.

at its Internet website, the company provides 
interested parties with a wide range of 
information on the company and the group, 
of which the following are highlighted 
as a mere example: its latest Directors’ 
reports together with all other mandatory 
annual, semi-annual, and quarterly financial 
statements, including all information releases 
on relevant developments, and the most 
significant financial performance indicators.

as a complement to the aforementioned 
information, the following websites, 
containing information of a technical 
or purely transactional nature, are also 
available on the Internet:

www.inapa.de
www.papierunion.de;
www.inapa.fr
www.inapa.ch
www.inapa.lu
www.inapa.be
www.idisa.com
www.inapa-tecno.com;
www.papel.online.pt

as an expression of the concern of the Board 
of Directors of the company in ensuring 
that small shareholders have access to 
information, the company introduced a 
Shareholders circle for shareholders who 
own a small interest in the company with 
the objective of ensuring that information 
is made available quickly and in a timely 
manner to small shareholders, putting them 
on a par with other market participants.
 
this initiative is unique in portugal and its 
main goals are:

 Enhancing shareholder status;

addressing information requirements of 
small shareholders;

enhancing proximity, thereby stimulating 
shareholder participation;

Providing direct access to management;

Involving shareholders in company initia-

tives of a corporate, social responsibility, 
training, or charitable nature, or other.

By promoting this initiative, Inapa stands at 
the forefront of best international practices 
in such matters and progresses further in 
its goal to become a benchmark in equity 
markets as well.

Still within the scope of its concerns on 
disclosure of market information, by presenting 
its semi-annual and annual results, quarterly 
earnings reports, and ancillary information of 
relevance the company has kept the markets 
and its participants informed duly and in a 
timely manner on its performance.

In order to ensure that the information in 
question reached all market participants 
and the general public in an easy and timely 
manner, it is important to highlight the role 
played by the media, to which the company 
endeavored to make itself available at all 
times, either through the chairman of the 
executive committee or through the Investor 
Relations Officer.

It is our intention to remain at the forefront 
of the implementation of best international 
practices concerning relations with markets 
and investors, which intention extends to 
best practices in corporate governance.

3.13
Disclosure of annual remuneration 
paid to the Auditor and to other 
individual or corporate entities 
belonging to the same network by 
the Company or by controlling 
shareholders or group companies

the fees paid to external auditors reached 
480 thousand Euros related to the auditing 
services they provided in the performance 
of their statutory duties as the company’s 
chartered accountants and auditors.

the external auditor and/or to other 
individual or corporate entities belonging 
to the same network earned a total of 
340,900 Euros during the period under 
analysis, being the sum of fees paid for 
provision of the aforementioned services plus 

other auditing services provided to foreign 
subsidiaries.

In addition, the external auditors and/or 
individual or corporate entities belonging to 
the same network rendered tax consultancy 
services in the amount of 6,300 Euros and 
other services, in the amount of 950 euros, to 
the company or to companies it controls.
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